# FITCHBURG STATE
# UNIVERSITY

Fitchburg State University

Board of Trustees

Amended on November 6, 2018 at 11:18 AM EST

Date and Time
Tuesday October 30, 2018 at 10:00 AM EDT

Location
Presidents' Hall, Mazzaferro Center, 291 Highland Ave., Fitchburg, MA 01420

Notice of a meeting of the Fitchburg State University Board of Trustees on Tuesday, October 30,
2018 at 10:00 a.m. in Presidents' Hall, Mazzaferro Center, 291 Highland Ave., Fitchburg, MA
01420

Agenda

I. Opening Items 10:00 AM

A. Record Attendance and Guests

B. Call the Meeting to Order Donald Irving
C. Public Comments 3m
D. Approve Minutes from the September 11, Approve Minutes Im

2018 meeting - VOTE (11-18/19)

Approve minutes for Board of Trustees on September 11, 2018

Il. Finance and Administration 10:04 AM
A. Presentation by the auditors Discuss 15m
B. FY2018 Audit - VOTE (12-18/19) Vote 2m
C. Intent to Renovate and Bond Issuance - Vote 5m
Holmes Dining Dish Room Project - VOTE
(13-18/19)
D. Intent to Renovate and Bond Issuance - Vote 5m
Recreation Center Roof Project - VOTE
(14-18/19)
E. Transfer from Reserve Funds - VOTE Vote 3m
(15-18/19)
IlIl. Sabbatical Requests 10:34 AM
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A. Act on President's recommendation for Vote 10m
faculty sabbatical requests - VOTE
(16-18/19)
IV. AUIA International Summer School Partnership 10:44 AM
A. Approve partnership with the AUIA Vote 10 m
International Summer School - VOTE
(17-18/19)
V. Notifications 10:54 AM
A. Personnel Actions (N03-18/19) FYI Im
V1. Chair's Report 10:55 AM
A. Dashboard Discuss 5m
VII. President's Report 11:00 AM
A. Collective Bargaining FYI 5m
B. State Audit FYI 3m
C. Open House update FYI 2m
D. Update on Educational Studies and FYI 5m
Environmental Public Health Programs
E. Falcon Bazaar Ribbon Cutting FYI 2m
F. Homecoming update FYI 2m
G. News Articles FYI 1m
VIII. Dates for consideration 11:20 AM
A. Tentative Dates for idealLab Ribbon FYI 1m

Cutting - Nov. 14 (2-4 p.m.), 15 (1-3p.m.),
20 (9 a.m.-noon)

B. Holiday Show - A Rocapella Holiday at 8:00  FYI 1m
p.m. in Weston Auditorium

C. Holiday Gathering - Thursday, December FYI Im
13 at 3:30 p.m. in the Falcon Hub

D. Winter Commencement Ceremony on FYI Im
Friday, December 21 at 6:30 p.m. in
Weston Auditorium

IX. Closing Items 11:24 AM

A. Adjourn Meeting Vote Im
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Cover Sheet

Approve Minutes from the September 11, 2018 meeting -
VOTE (11-18/19)

Section: I. Opening Items

Item: D. Approve Minutes from the September 11, 2018 meeting -
VOTE (11-18/19)

Purpose: Approve Minutes

Submitted by:

Related Material:  Minutes for Board of Trustees on September 11, 2018
VOTE Minutes.pdf
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# FITCHBURG STATE
P UNIVERSITY

Fitchburg State University
Minutes

Board of Trustees

Date and Time
Tuesday September 11, 2018 at 8:00 AM

Location
Presidents' Hall, Mazzaferro Center, 291 Highland Ave., Fitchburg, MA 01420

Notice of a meeting of the Fitchburg State University Board of Trustees on Tuesday,
September 11, 2018 at 8:00 a.m. in Presidents' Hall, Mazzaferro Center, 291 Highland
Ave., Fitchburg, MA 01420

Trustees Present
A. Clementi, A. Ramos, Jr., C. Stimpson, D. Irving, D. Phillips, D. Tiernan, F. O'Donnell, L.
Barrieau

Trustees Absent
C. Stover, D. Nieto, G. Rodriguez-Parker

Trustees Arrived Late
L. Barrieau

Ex-Officio Members Present
R. Lapidus

Non Voting Members Present
R. Lapidus

Guests Present

A. Cardelle, C. Canney, C. Hendry, G. Doiron, H. Mazzaferro, H. Parkinson, J. Murdoch, L.
Bayless, M. McKenzie, M. Siderwicz, S. Franzen, S. Swartz
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I. Opening Items

A.

Record Attendance and Guests

Call the Meeting to Order

D. Irving called a meeting of the board of trustees of Fitchburg State University to
order on Tuesday Sep 11, 2018 @ 8:06 AM at Presidents' Hall, Mazzaferro Center,
291 Highland Ave., Fitchburg, MA 01420.

. Public Comments

There were none.

. Approve Minutes from the August 21, 2018 Meeting - VOTE (05-18/19)

D. Phillips made a motion to approve minutes from the Board of Trustees on
08-21-18.

A. Ramos, Jr. seconded the motion.

The board VOTED unanimously to approve the motion.

President's Assessment and Goals

A.

D.

President's Goal Performance 2017-2018 Academic Year

The president presented and discussed his prior year’s goal performance
evaluation. There was a discussion. The chairman asked which goals were most
time consuming. President Lapidus responded that it varies and difficult to
answer. While the goals are based on the strategic plan, emphasis of time and
resources are based on priority and need at different points in time. In talking
about the performance goals, the president emphasized that he is lucky to be
surrounded by many smart and dedicated people that work at the university and
do great things to keep the school moving forward in a positive direction. A
question was asked about becoming a member of SARA (State Authorizing
Reciprocity Agreement). It was explained that membership has important
implications for delivering the university’s online programs. The president
reported that Fitchburg State University is the first public 4-year institution to
receive this designation. The assumption is that others are probably applying for
SARA approval as well. There was a discussion.

L. Barrieau arrived late.

. Accept the President's Goal Assessment for AY2017-2018 - VOTE(06-18/19)

D. Phillips made a motion to accept the performance appraisal summary of the
president by the Chairman for AY2017-FY2018 in accordance with the guidelines
set forth by the Commissioner of the Board of Higher Education and recommend
to the Commissioner of the Board of Higher Education the maximum allowable
compensation adjustment.

A. Clementi seconded the motion.

The board VOTED unanimously to approve the motion.

. President's Goals AY2018-2019

The president presented his goals for the upcoming year. The president talked
briefly about the on-going branding exercise listed among his goals. He also
emphasized the financial well-being of the institution and the importance of
continued focus on student success.

Accept the President's Goals for AY2018-2019 - VOTE (07-18/19)
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D. Phillips made a motion to accept the President’s goals for AY2018-2019.
A. Clementi seconded the motion.
The board VOTED unanimously to approve the motion.

I1l. Replacement Check Guidelines

A. Replacement Check Fee - VOTE (08-18/19)
The president explained that a significant number of checks are distributed to
students and go uncashed. This often results in the need to reissue a
replacement check. There are many steps to replacing the check which is time
consuming, so the fee is designed to encourage students to take advantage of
electronic funds processing. The policy waives the fee if they elect to use the
electronic processing option. There was a discussion.
D. Phillips made a motion to institute a $30 fee to reissue a check per approved
guidelines.
C. Stimpson seconded the motion.
The board VOTED unanimously to approve the motion.

IV. Student Economic Insecurities

A. Presentation on student economic insecurities
The president stated that the Board had briefly discussed, at a recent retreat, the
issue of student economic insecurity. To elaborate on the topic, he invited
members of Student Development group to make a presentation on the subject.
Dr. Hank Parkinson, Assistant Dean of Student Development and Housing, Mr.
Shane Franzen, Associate Director, and Heather Mazzaferro, Housing and
Residential Services introduced themselves. They presented and explained a
PowerPoint on Basic Needs Security. (Attached)

H. Parkinson stated that economic insecurity is affecting students across the
country. A survey was sent out to students and the data matches regional and
national data. There was a discussion.

S. Franzen explained the Falcon Bazaar necessity pantry. The pantry includes
food items and hygiene products. As part of this program, H. Mazzaferro
discussed the green bag program. The Student Development office has
distributed green bags to all departments on campus with the hope that staff
members will fill these bags with non-perishable food items that they purchase
while doing their weekly shopping. Once the bags are full, they will be returned
to the pantry and staff will be given an empty bag to refill. It is hoped that the
entire campus will get involved and feel like part of the program.

H. Parkinson discussed the swipe it forward program. Students who are on the
meal plan can donate a meal once per semester to a meal bank. Students can
apply to the program and get meals placed on their One Card. He next explained
the CARE Team (Community Assessment & Risk Evaluation). This group considers
and, when appropriate, acts upon information or behavior(s) of concern exhibited
by a student or group of students. Student Affairs coordinates the group of
professional staff that meet weekly during the academic year to address the
safety, welfare, and academic success of students. The Fitchburg State CARE
Team includes representatives from across the institution, with a focus on
reaching out to students whose behavior has in some way has come to the
attention of others. There was a discussion. The president and the board thanked
the presenters for an informative presentation.
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V. Notifications

A. Personnel Actions (N02-18/19)
The personnel actions were submitted for informational purposes.

VLI. Chair's Report

A. Annual DHE Trustee Conference and Trustee Orientation
D. Irving discussed the DHE's New Trustee Orientation and Training to be held on
Tuesday, January 29, 2019 from 10:00 a.m. - 2 p.m. at MassBay Community
College. In addition, the Annual Trustee Conference will be held on Thursday,
March 28, 2019 from 9 a.m. - 3 p.m. at the Doubletree Hotel in Westborough. He
stated both events are worthwhile and encouraged board members to attend.

VII. President's Report

A. Opening of the university
The president stated that student move in went well. The students from the
athletic teams helped the new students to move in. We are still waiting to see
what the final student enrollment will be, but overall the campus is in good
shape. He explained that the expectation will be a slight decline in enroliment.
The university continues to explore how to more aggressively expand admissions
recruitment and expand its geographic reach outside of Massachusetts. Online
programs will be a part of that strategy. He next also provided information of the
characteristics of the incoming class which continue to increase campus
diversity. The president provided an update on campus building projects. The
idealLab is completed, Edgerly has new a new elevator, the Percival project
continues to go according to plan with new classrooms in the former auditorium.
Half of Russell Towers residence hall has new bathrooms, and next summer the
other two towers will be completed. He also discussed the ongoing collective
bargaining process. The faculty contract (MSCA) is with the DHE, the professional
staff (APA) contract went through the office of Labor Relations and the AFSCME
contract, which is trades workers and administrative support employees, is
currently in mediation. He emphasized, that faculty are not working without a
contract, they have a contract and the language has been updated. What has not
yet occurred is the financial component as money has yet to be appropriated.
When the process is complete, salaries will be retroactive and be made whole.
The president indicated that the Financial Auditors are still working on campus.
He also stated that the university has been contacted by the State Auditors and
they will be conducting an audit beginning early October. President Lapidus
reminded the board to complete the self-assessment survey and to let him know
of any topics they would like discussed at future meetings.

B. Coming events
President Lapidus reminded the board of the Police Academy graduation on Sept.
13 at 3:30 p.m.

C. News Articles
The new articles were presented for informational purposes. A.
Clementi congratulated Dr. Catherine Canney on receiving the Leadership Award
from the Massachusetts National Network of Women Leaders in recognition of her
efforts to support women in higher education.
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VIIl. Closing Items

A. Adjourn Meeting
D. Phillips made a motion to adjourn the meeting.
A. Clementi seconded the motion.
The board VOTED unanimously to approve the motion.
There being no further business to be transacted, and upon motion duly made,
seconded and approved, the meeting was adjourned at 9:28 AM.

Respectfully Submitted,
D. Phillips
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Fitchburg State University
REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION

TO: Board of Trustees

DATE:

October 30, 2018

FROM: The President

SUBJECT: September 11, 2018 Board Meeting Minutes

REQUEST NUMBER:

11-18/19

It is requested that the Fitchburg State University Board of Trustees vote to approve the

minutes from the September 11, 2018 Board Meeting
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Cover Sheet

Presentation by the auditors

Section: Il. Finance and Administration
Item: A. Presentation by the auditors
Purpose: Discuss

Submitted by:
Related Material:

Attachment A University Financial Statements.pdf

Attachment B Auditor Communication Letter - Fitchburg State University.pdf
Attachment G No Management Letter Acknowledgment Letter.pdf
Attachment H University Executive Summary 2018updated.pdf
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Attachment A
Fitchburg State University
Financial Statements
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Fitchburg State University
(a department of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts)

Index

Independent Auditor's Report
Management's Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)
Financial Statements
Statements of Net Position
Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position
Statements of Cash Flows
Notes to Financial Statements
Required Supplementary Information

Schedule of the University's Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability
and Schedule of University Contributions

Notes to the Schedule of the University's Proportionate Share of the Net Pension
Liability and Schedule of University Contributions

Schedule of the University's Propertionate Share of the Net OPEB Liability and
Schedule of University Contributions

Notes to the Schedule of the University's Proportionate Share of the Net OPEB
Liability and Schedule of University Contributions

Supplementary Information
Residence’HallFund and Residence Hall Damage Fund Activity
Supplementary Information and Reports Required by the Uniform Guidance

Independent Auditor's’'Report on Supplementary Information Required
by the Uniform Guidance

Schedule. of Expenditures of Federal Awards
Notes to Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards

Independent Auditor's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and
on Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements
Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards
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CohnReznick LLP COhnRezniCkVD

cohnreznick.com ADVISORY « ASSURANCE - TAX

Independent Auditor's Report

To the Board of Trustees
Fitchburg State University

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the business-type activities and the discretely
presented component unit of Fitchburg State University (the "University"). (a department of the
Commonwealth of Massachusetts), as of and for the years ended June 30, 2018 and 2017, and the related
notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the University's basic financial statements as
listed in the index.

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these“financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted inithe United States of America; this includes the
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor's Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express opinions on'these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted
our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and
the standards applicable to financial audits contained in. Government Auditing Standards, issued by the
Comptroller General of the United«States. Those standards-require that we plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment
of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making
those risk assessments, the'auditor/considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair
presentation of the\financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but notfor the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal
control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used.and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit.evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinions.

Opinions

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
respective financial position of the business-type activities and discretely presented component unit of
Fitchburg State University as of June 30, 2018 and 2017, and the respective changes in financial position
and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the years then ended in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

2
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CohnReznick@

Emphasis of Matters

As discussed in Notes 1 and 29 to the financial statements, in fiscal 2018, the University adopted new
accounting guidance, Governmental Accounting Standards Board ("GASB") Statement No. 75, Accounting
and Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions. Our opinion is not modified
with respect to this matter.

As discussed in Note 1, the financial statements of Fitchburg State University and its discretely presented
component unit are intended to present the respective financial position, the changes in financial position
and, where applicable, cash flows of only that portion of the governmental activities, the business-type
activities, the aggregate discretely presented component units, each major fund, and the aggregate
remaining fund information of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts that is attributable to the transactions
of Fitchburg State University and its discretely presented component unit. They doinot purport to, and do
not, present fairly the financial position of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts as of June 30, 2018 and
2017, the changes in its financial position, or, where applicable, its cash.flows for the yearsthen/ended in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States‘of America. Our opinion is not
modified with respect to this matter.

Other Matters
Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management's
discussion and analysis and the pension and OPEB benefit schedules . on pages 5 to 19 and 92 to 95,
respectively, be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information, although not a
part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who
considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an
appropriate operational, economic, orhistorical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the
required supplementary information.in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the
information and comparing the information for.Consistency with management's responses to our inquiries,
the basic financial statements; and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial
statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited
procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.

Other Supplementary Information

Our audit_wasconducted for,the purpose of forming opinions on the 2018 financial statements that
collectively comprise the University's basic financial statements. The residence hall fund and residence hall
damage fund activity shown on.pages 96 to 98 are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are
not a required part of the 2018 financial statements. The residence hall fund and residence hall damage
fund activity are the responsibility of management and were derived from and relate directly to the
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the 2018 financial statements. The residence hall
fund and residence‘hall damage fund activity information have been subjected to the auditing procedures
applied in the audit of the 2018 financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing
and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare
the 2018 financial statements or to the 2018 financial statements themselves, and other additional
procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In
our opinion, the residence hall fund and residence hall damage fund activity information are fairly stated, in
all material respects, in relation to the 2018 financial statements as a whole.

3
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Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated [REPORT
DATE] on our consideration of Fitchburg State University's internal control over financial reporting and on
our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and
other matters. The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control
over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the
effectiveness of Fitchburg State University's internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That
report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in
considering Fitchburg State University's internal control over financial reporting and compliance.

Boston, Massachusetts
[REPORT DATE]

4
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Fitchburg State University
(a department of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts)

Management's Discussion and Analysis
Unaudited

Introduction

The following discussion and analysis are intended to provide an overview of the financial position and
results of operations of Fitchburg State University (the "University") for the fiscal years ended June 30,
2018, 2017 and 2016. This discussion is provided by the management of the University and should be
read in conjunction with the financial statements and notes thereto. The purpose of this document is to
give some background to the financial statements, and foster an understanding of how.these statements
relate to the mission and activities of the University.

The University, located in North Central Massachusetts, is one of the nine comprehensive public
universities in the Commonwealth of Massachusetts (the "Commonwealth").These institutions, along with
the five-campus University of Massachusetts system and the fifteen community colleges comprise public
higher education in Massachusetts. The University offers more than-30 undergraduate degree programs in
sixteen academic departments, 22 graduate degree programs and several Graduate/Certificates of
Advanced Study. During fall 2017, there were approximately.3,639 full-time.students and thousands of
part-time students enrolled. For fiscal 2018, there was a combined full-time equivalent annual enroliment of
approximately 5,200. Thousands more non-matriculated, students take advantage of professional
development programs through the Division of Graduate and Continuing Education ("DGCE"). The
University awarded approximately 1,243 graduate“and undergraduate degrees in fiscal 2018. The
University is accredited by the New England Commission of Higher Education ("NECHE"), formerly known
as New England Association of Schools and Colleges("NEASC"), and many of the University's programs
are accredited by program-specific accrediting bodies.

Financial Highlights
The University experienced positive results from operations.in fiscal 2018 resulting in an increase in net
position of approximately 2.3%.¢The.following are key:financial highlights for the current period:

» General appropriations from the Commonwealth are approved by the legislature to help fund the
day-to-day operations of the University. The University received appropriations of $29.5 million in
fiscal 2018 as compared with $29.4 million in fiscal 2017 and $29.1 million in fiscal 2016.

» The University undergraduate fees were basically flat this fiscal year. Total mandatory fees per
semester were $4,592, $4,582 and $4,482 in fiscal 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively. Tuition,
which.is.controlled by.the Commonwealth, has not increased since the fall of 2001 and remains at
$485 per semester for in-state students. The Graduate fees per 3 credit class were $957, $957,
and$912in fiscalyears 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively, and the fees for the Accelerated Online
Programs were $933 to $1,251 per 3 credit class in fiscal 2018.

» The Universitysexpended $17.6 million from current funds for capital additions in fiscal 2018.
Projects completed during the year included the renovations of the Landry Arena, Thompson Hall
1st Floor, Percival Hall Phase 1, the Southside Chiller and the Pearl Street Improvement Project.
Projects in process at June 30, 2018 included the final renovations to Theater Building Phase 1, the
Edgerly Replacement Elevator, and the Mathematics Emporium Classroom. The following projects
were also in process at June 30, 2018, upgrades to the Holmes Walk in Coolers and the
Energy/Water Retrofit project, improvements to McKay Phase lll, Percival Hall Phase Il and the
Theater Block.

> Total assets and deferred outflows of resources at the end of fiscal 2018 were $244 million and
exceeded liabilities and deferred inflows of resources of $124 million by $120 million (i.e. net
position).

5
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Fitchburg State University
(a department of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts)

Management's Discussion and Analysis
Unaudited

> Total operating, non-operating, and gift revenue for fiscal 2018 was $105.6 million, while expenses
totaled $102.9 million, resulting in an increase to net position of $2.7 million. The increase in net
position includes a 7.2% increase in student tuition and fee revenues.

» The prior period net position has been decreased as a result of the implementation of
Governmental Accounting Standards Board ("GASB") Statement No. 75. The statement requires
that an allocated portion of the Commonwealth's unfunded post-employment benefits other than
pension be reported on the financial statements of the individual institutions of higher education.
The allocation is based on the actual contributions paid by the<institutions through the group
insurance commission charges of the fringe benefit. The “University's <portion of the
Commonwealth's unfunded post-employment benefits other than _pension (*OPEB")liability is
calculated at $25.1 million at June 30, 2018 and $25.8 millien atJune 30, 2017..Net position and
other financial results have been adjusted accordingly.

» Governmental Accounting Standards Board ("GASB") Statement No. 68 requires that an allocated
portion of the Commonwealth's net pension liability be reported on'the:financial statements of the
individual institutions of higher education. The allocation is based on the actual contributions paid
by the institutions through assessed fringe=benefit charges. ~The" University's portion of the
Commonwealth's net pension liability is calculated at $11.4'million at June 30, 2018. The financial
statements have been adjusted accordingly:

> Unrestricted net position (before benefits'adjustments.of $36.5 million at June 30, 2018) available to
support short-term operations totaled $28.6 million.

Ratio analysis measures certain.elements of an institution's overall financial health. The Massachusetts
Department of Higher Education hastinstituted the use of certain core financial ratios as part of their
performance measures for public universities and colleges in the Commonwealth. Analysis using these
ratios, as well as other commonly accepted ratios, are incorporated throughout this document. These
financial ratios are shown before unfunded benefits adjustments. Net assets benefits adjustments amounts
are $34.8 million in.2018;.$33.5 million in.2017 and $ 6.4 million in 2016.

» Current'Ratio: /An excess of current assets over current liabilities (the current ratio) is a measure
of liquidity-and provides a buffer against future uncertainties. The University's current assets of
$32.5 million are sufficient to'cover current liabilities of $17.9 million. The University's current ratio
at June 30 is 1.8to 1/ for.2018, 1.8 to 1 for 2017, and 1.8 to 1 for 2016.

» Return on.Net'Position Ratio: Net position represents the residual interest in the University's
assets and deferred outflows of resources after liabilities and deferred inflows of resources are
deducted. Comparing the current change in total net position to total net position at the beginning
of the period (return on net position) is an economic measure that determines if the University is
financially better off than in previous years. The University's return on net position at June 30,
2018, 2017 and 2016 was 2.65%, 2.08% and 2.43%, respectively. The increase in 2018 return on
net position ratio is primarily the result of the increase in tuition income from the Accelerated Online
program, increase in grants and contracts received and increase in auxiliary income.

» Primary Reserve Ratio: This ratio indicates how long the University could function using its
expendable reserves without relying on additional net position generated by operations. The
University's primary reserve ratio at June 30, 2018, 2017 and 2016 was 35.36%, 35.05% and
34.41%, respectively.

6
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Fitchburg State University
(a department of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts)

Management's Discussion and Analysis
Unaudited

» Secondary Reserve Ratio: This ratio measures the significance of non-expendable net position in
relation to an institution's operating size. An improving trend shows an improved capital base and
the higher the ratio value, the better the long term financial condition. The University's secondary
reserve ratio at June 30, 2018, 2017 and 2016 was 116.84%, 119.65% and 126.90%, respectively.

» Composite Financial Index: In order to assess and evaluate the total financial health of an
institution, core financial ratios are weighted and combined into a single factor called the Composite
Financial Index ("CFI"). When calculated, a strength factor of three indicates a relatively healthy
institution that can sustain moderate growth with expendable net position exceeding‘debt levels.
The University's CFI at June 30, 2018, 2017 and 2016 was 1.9,1.7 and 1.8, respectively.

Using the Financial Statements

Fitchburg State University reports its activity as a business.type activity using. the full accrual basis of
accounting. The accrual basis of accounting ensures that all amounts owedto the University and all
pending obligations of the University are accounted for in the:appropriate period;.thus giving a clear picture
of the University's financial position. The University is a department of the Commonwealth of
Massachusetts. A summary of the University's financial'statements is.incorporated in the Commonwealth's
Comprehensive Annual Financial Report in its government-wide financial statements.

The University's financial statements include.three major documents: The Statement of Net Position; the
Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changesin Net Position; and the Statement of Cash Flows. These
statements are prepared in accordance with. Governmental Accounting Standards.
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Statement of Net Position

The statement of net position presents the financial position of the University at the end of the year and
includes all assets, liabilities and deferred inflows and outflows of resources of the University, with the
difference reported as net position. Assets, liabilities and deferred inflows and outflows are generally
measured using current values, with a notable exception in capital assets, which are stated at historical
cost less an allowance for depreciation. Net position is one indicator of the financial condition of the
University, while the change in net position from one period to the next is an indicator of whether the
financial condition has improved or worsened. The statements of net position,(condensed, in thousands) at
June 30, 2018, 2017 and 2016, are as follows:

2018 2017 2016
Assets
Current assets $ 32,500 $ 30,337 $ 26,712
Capital assets, net 181,449 173,403 174,998
Other 24,742 28,149 24,170
Total assets 238,691 231,889 225,880
Deferred outflows of resources 5,796 4,901 3,999
Liabilities
Current liabilities 17,950 16,609 15,163
Long-term liabilities 101,038 101,121 70,999
Total liabilities 118,988 117,730 86,162
Deferred inflows of resources 5,544 1,822 2,382
Net position
Net investment in capital assets 118,282 116,097 115,713
Restricted
Nonexpendable 521 506 467
Expendable 9,089 8,096 7,230
Unrestricted
Designated 16,218 13,142 12,271
Undesignated (24,155) (20,602) 5,654
Total net position $ 119,955 $ 117,239 $ 141,335

Current assets consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents (92.0%). Other assets include non-current
restricted cash and cash equivalents, investments in marketable securities and loans receivable. Capital
assets are used to provide services to students, faculty and staff. These assets are not available for
current or future spending. Current liabilities primarily include trade accounts and salaries payable,
accounts payable - construction, the current portion of compensated absences and accrued faculty payroll.
In the normal course of events and based on a consistent past history in this regard, it is anticipated that
obligations due to employees will be funded by state appropriations. Deferred inflows and outflows of
resources represent either the acquisition or use of net assets applicable to future periods and are distinct

8
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from assets and liabilities. Net position in fiscal 2017 has been decreased to reflect the recognition of the
University's unfunded ("OPEB") liability as required by the implementation of GASB Statement No. 75. The
increase in deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources in fiscal year 2018 are a result
of amounts associated with the implementation of GASB No. 75. The overall increase in net position over
the last three years, excluding the impact from the recognition of amounts associated with the
implementation of GASB Statement No. 75, is primarily the result of an influx of grant revenue, tuition and
rental income. These individual elements of revenue and the corresponding increases in net position are
illustrated in the following schedule.

9
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Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position

The following Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position (condensed, in thousands)
presents information showing the University's results of operations for the fiscal years ended June 30,
2018, 2017 and 2016. Changes in net position are reported as soon as the underlying event giving rise to
the change occurs, regardless of the timing of related cash flows. Thus, revenue and expenses are
reported in this statement for some items that will result in cash flows in future periods (e:g. the accrual for
compensated absences).

2018 2017 2016
Operating revenues
Tuition and fees (net) $ 41,820 $ 39,020 $ 36,408
Grants 9,513 8,243 8,426
Sales and service of educational department 1,523 1,316 1,274
Auxiliary 10,675 9,647 9,270
Other operating revenue 779 862 982
Total operating revenue 64,310 59,088 56,360
Operating expenses
Instruction 37,154 36,052 33,729
Research and public service 660 515 481
Academic support 7,158 6,301 6,088
Student services 10,124 9,545 9,646
Scholarships 2,690 1,960 1,809
Institutional support 11,773 10,784 9,975
Operations and maintenance 11,030 11,961 11,223
Depreciation 9,991 10,126 9,088
Auxiliary 10,539 9,625 8,854
Total operating’expenses 101,119 96,869 90,893
Net operating loss (36,809) (37,781) (34,533)
Non-operating.revenue and expenses
State appropriations 39,404 38,873 37,159
Investment income 1,030 1,085 (3)
Interest expense and debt issue costs (1,851) (1,963) (1,419)
State capital appropriations 439 74 73
Capital gifts and grants 503 1,404 1,473
Interagency transfers - - -
Total non-operating revenue 39,525 39,473 37,283
Increase in net position 2,716 1,692 2,750
Net position, beginning of the year 117,239 141,335 138,585
Restatement - (25,788) -
Net position, end of the year $ 119,955 $ 117,239 $ 141,335
10
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State appropriations are reported net of the amount of in state day school tuition collected by the University
on behalf of the Commonwealth. The tuition collected (for in state supported courses taught by state
employees) is then remitted to the Commonwealth as required by Massachusetts General Law. The
following schedule details the Commonwealth appropriations received by the University. Included in
appropriations are the fringe benefit costs for University employees, which are paid by the Commonwealth.
The Commonwealth appropriates general funds to cover the cost of fringe benefits forsstate employees,
but these funds are not appropriated directly to the University. Employees who are paid from local trust
funds, grants or other sources receive the same fringe benefits. Generally, the University reimburses the
Commonwealth for the benefit costs associated with these employees. In 2012 legislation was passed that
allowed the state universities to retain out of state day tuition. The legislation further mandated that the
Commonwealth would fund the fringe benefits for any employee paid fromthis funding'source. The fringe
benefit rate charged by the Commonwealth, exclusive of compensated absences, for fiscal years 2018,
2017 and 2016 was 34.86%, 33.5% and 29.2%, respectively. The current fringe benefitrate includes group
medical insurance (22.06%); retirement (11.78%) and terminal.leave (1.02%):

The following schedule (condensed, in thousands) details the Commonwealth appropriations received by
the University:

2018 2017 2016
Commonwealth general appropriations..$ 29,473 $ 29,405 $ 29,109
Appropriations to cover fringe
benefits provided to employees of
the Commonwealth 10,605 10,185 8,820
40,078 39,590 37,929
Tuition remitted back:to the
Commonwealth (674) (717) (770)
Net appropriations 39,404 38,873 37,159
Additional state capital appropriations 439 74 73
Total appropriations $ 39,843 $ 38,947 $ 37,232
11
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State appropriations are a significant source of funding for the University. According to the Governmental
Accounting Standards Board, appropriations are considered non-operating revenue. As such, the
University appears to experience a loss from operations. However, it should be noted that state
appropriations are used to fund the operating activities of the University.

The following schedule (condensed, in thousands) illustrates the University's incurred losses from
operations for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2018, 2017 and 2016.

2018 2017 2016
Tuition and fees revenue, net $ 41,820 $ 39,020 $ 36,408
Other operating revenue 22,490 20,068 19,952
Total operating revenue 64,310 59,088 56,360
Operating expenses (101,119) (96,869) (90,893)
Operating loss (36,809) (37,781) (34,533)
Total state appropriations 39,404 38,873 37,159
Other revenue (expense), net 121 600 124
Increase in net position $ 2,716 $ 1,692 $ 2,750

Net Operating Revenues Ratio: This ratio indicates whether total operating activities resulted in a surplus
or deficit. A positive ratio indicates that the.institution experienced an operating surplus and is indicative of
efficient and effective, operations. For the fiscal years ended June 30, 2018, 2017 and 2016, the
University's net operating revenues ratio was2.92%, 1.61% and 2.28%, respectively.

12
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The following is a graphic illustration of total revenue (operating, non-operating and capital) by source.
Total revenue for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2018, 2017 and 2016 was $105.6, $100.5, and $95.1
million, respectively:

Total Revenue by Source
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Other Revenue

For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018, general appropriations essentially remained flat with 2017 funding
levels but total appropriations increasedsslightly because of the increase in benefits. Collective bargaining
costs were not funded in fiscal 2018 resulting in an‘increase in the amount of payroll funded from local trust
funds and a corresponding increase in fringe»benefit charges from the state. The lack of collective
bargaining funding further exacerbates the continued reduction in state support and forces the University to
rely more heavily on studentfees to support.operations. Over the last fifteen years, general appropriations
(including fringe benefits) that support the operating costs of the University have decreased to 28.6% from
61.5% in fiscal 2001: In addition to the increasing amount of local payroll, all other operating costs incurred
by the University are funded from other non-state revenue sources. Tuition and fees are reported net of
tuition waivers; exemptions, and scholarship allowances. The amount of tuition charged per semester is
controlled atthesstate level and remains unchanged. The University fee and targeted course fees were
increased in fiscal 2018 resulting in"an overall increase in total tuition and fee revenue of 7.2%. During
fiscal year 2018, 2017 and 2016, in-state tuition, fees and room & board for full time resident students was
$10,347, $10,152 and $9,532 per semester, respectively. In-state tuition and fees for commuting students
in fiscal years 201852017 and 2016 was $5,077, $5,067 and $4,967 per semester, respectively.

Auxiliary revenue represents revenue received from the operations of the University's residence halls.
Auxiliary revenue does not include fees charged for the student housing facility owned and operated by the
FSU Supporting Organization, Inc. (the "Supporting Organization"). The average residence hall occupancy
rate for the year was 92.2% capacity.

Grant revenue is made up of federal, state and private grants. Grant revenue includes PELL, SEOG and
Federal Work Study financial aid programs.

13
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The following is a graphic illustration of total expenditures (operating and non-operating) by function. Total
expenditures for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2018, 2017 and 2016 were $102.9, $98.8 and $92.3
million, respectively:

Total Expenditures by Function
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Expenditures, exclusive of depreciation, increased by 4.8% in FY2018. This increase was primarily due to
increases in benefits mandated by collective bargaining .agreements, scholarships, GASB68, GASB75,
increases in resident halls debt payments to MSCBA and increase in commission from the accelerated
online program. The most significant area of expense remains Instruction, which represents 36.1% of total
operating expenses. Faculty. payroll ($23.8 million) and related benefits ($7.8 million) represent
approximately 85.0% of instructional expenditures. Institutional Support consists of the day-to-day
operational support of:ithe institution, excluding physical plant operations. Scholarships are funded from
Title V entitlement_ programs”such as PELL and SEOG, as well as, from institutional operating funds.
Operations and Maintenance consists of expenditures related to physical plant. Expenditures in this
functional area include general\repair’costs and deferred maintenance costs that are below the
capitalization. threshold of $50,000.: The financial statements include $10.0, $10.1 and $9.1 million in
depreciation expense for 2018,:2017 and 2016, respectively.

Demand Ratios: Demand ratios measure the extent to which each type of expense consumes operating
and non- operating-revenues. The following table displays the amount of operating and non-operating
revenue, exclusive oftcapital grants and appropriations, consumed by the various functional expense
categories:

Expense 2018 2017 2016
Instruction 35.2% 35.9% 36.0%
Institutional Support 11.1% 10.7% 10.6%
Academic Support 6.8% 6.3% 6.5%
Student Services & Scholarships 12.1% 11.4% 12.2%
Operations & Maintenance 10.4% 11.9% 12.0%
Auxiliary 10.0% 9.6% 9.4%
Depreciation 9.5% 10.1% 9.7%
14
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Note: The total sum of all Demand Ratios will be greater (less) than 100%, with the difference representing
the surplus (deficit).

Statement of Cash Flows

The statement of cash flows provides pertinent information about the cash receipts and cash payments
during a certain period of time. The statement provides an additional tool to assess the financial health of
the institution. As required by GASB, the statement is reported using the direct method. The direct method
of cash flow reporting portrays net cash flows from operations as major classes ofreceipts (e.g. tuition and
fees) and disbursements (e.g. cash paid to employees for services).

The following are the University's statements of cash flows (condensedyin thousands).for the fiscal years
ended June 30, 2018, 2017 and 2016:

2018 2017 2016
Cash received from operations $ 63,701 $ 59,413 $ 57,063
Cash expended for operations (77,372) (74,760) (74,289)
Net cash used by operations (13,671) (15,347) (17,226)
Net cash provided by noncapital
financing activities 28,799 28,692 28,510
Net cash used in capital and
related financing activities (17,351) (7,128) (23,918)
Net cash provided by investing
activities 29 2,312 455
Net increase (decrease).in‘cash and
equivalents (2,194) 8,529 (12,179)
Cash and equivalents,beginning of the
year 38,306 29,777 41,956
Cash and-equivalents, end of the year  § 36,112 $ 38,306 $ 29,777

The University's cash and.cash/equivalents decreased by approximately $2.2 million during fiscal 2018,
resulting in the cash'and cash equivalents balance of $36.1 million at fiscal year end. The decrease is
primarily due to the increase in capital expenditure and an increase in debt payments. Non-capital
financing activities;"as defined by GASB, include state appropriations. These appropriations fund the
operating activities‘of the University. Investing activities include interest and dividends received from
portfolio investments, as well as, interest earned on University funds held in various short-term money
management vehicles.

Capital Assets
Capital assets consist of land, land improvements, buildings and building improvements, equipment, library

materials, and construction in progress. As of June 30, 2018, net capital assets increased to $181.4 million
net of current depreciation expense of $10.0 million. During the current fiscal year there were $18.0 million
in additions to capital assets. Major capital initiatives either continuing or undertaken during 2018 include:

> Final renovations to Landry Arena $4 million (to date)

15
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Phase | Percival Hall, $2 million (to date)

Southside Chiller, $1.7 million (to date)

Theater Building, Phase 1, $2.6 million (to date)
Edgerly Elevator Replacement, $1.6 million (to date)
Energy/Water Retrofit project, $6.7 million (to date)

YVVVYVYY

Additional information on Fitchburg State University's capital assets can be found in footnote 5 to the
accompanying financial statements.

Physical Asset Renewal Ratio: The extent to which capital renewal is occurring as compared to physical
usage (depreciation) can be measured by the physical asset renewal ratio. “A ratio .above 1:1 indicates
increasing investment in plant facilities. The University's physical asset renewal ratio for fiscal years ended
June 30, 2018, 2017 and 2016 was 1.8, 0.9 and 2.2, respectively.

Long-term Debt

The University has long term debt obligations issued for various capital projects.” The debt was issued
through several financing agreements with the Massachusetts Development Finance Agency ("MDFA")
(formerly the Massachusetts Health and Educational-Facilities Authority ("MHEFA")), the Massachusetts
State College Building Authority ("MSCBA") and‘a capital'lease through J P Morgan. The interest rate on
the MDFA debt is a floating rate set every 35 days based on market conditions. The interest rate on the
MSCBA debt is based on an increasing coupon rate ranging from 2:00% to 6.54 % over the term of the
debt as set by MSCBA. The interest rate on the capital lease'is fixed at 1.81%. The debt is being repaid by
the University primarily through dedicated student fees ("DSF"). The following table summarizes the
various debt vehicles, interest rates, debt service and debtoutstanding at June 30, 2018 and is inclusive of
any bond premiums or discounts.

Issuing Construction Fiscal Original Funding Effective Debt Debt Maturity
Agency Project Year Issue Source Interest Service Outstanding
Issued Rate Payments
MDFA Recreation Center 1997 $6,000,000 DSF 4.61% $381,934 $2,256,705 2023
MSCBA Holmes Dining 2005 $1,090,000 DSF 3.86% $82,938 $485,000 2025

Hall Renovations

MSCBA Elliot Athletic Field 2005 $4,020,000 DSF 3.86% $298,581 $1,770,000 2025
Improvements

MSCBA Holmes-Dining 2006 $2,060,000 DSF 4.07% $144,440 $1,093,571 2026
Hall Renovations

MSCBA Hammond 2011 $15,935,656 DSF & 3.38% $1,131,858 | $11,078,908 2030
Campus Center operating
Renovations funds

MSCBA Hammond 2012 $7,043,416 DSF & 4.96% $510,050 $5,423,181 2031
Campus Center operating
Renovations funds

MSCBA Hammond 2013 $11,300,906 DSF & 3.27% $745,226 $9,075,216 2032
Campus Center operating
Renovations funds

MSCBA Parking 2013 $2,563,127 DSF & 3.27% $170,788 $2,055,025 2032
Expansion operating

funds

MSCBA Hammond 2014 $12,235,614 DSF & 5.0% $916,500 $10,510,225 2033

Campus Center operating
16
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Issuing Construction Fiscal Original Funding Effective Debt Debt Maturity
Agency Project Year Issue Source Interest Service Outstanding
Issued Rate Payments
Renovations funds
MSCBA Hammond 2015 $10,669,503 DSF & 4.93% $761,850 $9,555,372 2034
Campus Center operating
Renovations funds
MSCBA Landry Arena 2017 $4,166,418 DSF & 3.60% $265,533 $4,062,105 2037
Refurbishment operating
funds
DCAMM CEIP Funds 2016 $5,420,360 DCAMM 3.00% - $5,420,360 2039
JP Morgan | Campus wireless 2017 $1,261,206 DSF & 1.81% $264,966 $894,702 2021
project operating
funds
Total $83,766,206 $5,674,664 | $63,680,370

For the fiscal years ended June 30, 2018, 2017 and 2016, the total debt (current and long term) attributable
to interagency payments, bond premiums and capital lease payments amounted to $63.7, $61.9 and $59.7
million, respectively.

Additional information on Fitchburg State University's long-term debt activity can be found in footnotes 12
and 13 to the accompanying financial statements.

Viability Ratio: The availability of expendable net assets to cover debt (the viability ratio) is a basic
determinant of financial health. Expendable net assets are“those assets not required to be retained in
perpetuity, i.e. those assets available foruse for operations. A ratio of 1:1 or greater would indicate, as of
the balance sheet date, an.institution has sufficient expandable net assets to satisfy debt obligations.
However public institutions can operate effectively on a reduced ratio because of the benefit of state
support which is not captured in the institution's expendable net assets. The University's viability ratio,
which has remained relatively. consistent over time, is .56% for June 30, 2018, .55% for 2017 and .53% for
2016.

Debt Burden: The debt burden ratio‘measures an institution's dependence on borrowed funds by
comparing.thedevel of debt service to total expenditures. In order to effectively manage resources,
including debt, industry standards set the upper threshold for institutional debt burden at 7%. As of June
30, 2018, 2017 and 2016, .the.University's debt burden was 6.0%, 5.7% and 5.9%, respectively.

Looking Forward

Fall 2018 school.year started out on the right note when sports team members were seen assisting
students move in toitheir dorm rooms on campus, some of which were recently refurbished. These resident
students are able to take advantage of not only living communities but also learning communities based on
their academic pursuit. The learning communities currently in operation are those for honors, criminal
justice and STEM programs.

Fitchburg State University has made strides on its strategic goals to strengthen academic programs and to
promote student success by breaking down barriers. With these goals in mind, faculty took two groups of
nursing students to Ghana and San Jose in 2018. On returning from Ghana, a student had this comment to
make, "As | worked in Ghana, there was one thought that stuck with me: Be the change you want to see.
With the growing chaos in the world, be someone that can be a positive influence to bring change. We must
take hold of this opportunity and expand it around the world to help others. This experience has marked my
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life forever." Another student remarked, "This trip helped me realize that | can do anything." Fitchburg
State University is working to change lives and thus the world one student at a time.

The University is creating multiple pathways to ensure student success. The faculty developed a Math Lab,
which opened fall 2018; the first year experience ("FYE") committee developed a general syllabus for all
FYE courses; and the community assessment and risk evaluation ("CARE") team changed its focus
towards a more holistic model that examines academic, behavioral, and environmental factors of students.

Fiscal 2018 saw the successful launch of the accelerated graduate and undergraduate onlinesprogram from
business, nursing and education departments. Because of this, the University has been.ableto seek and
gain approval from the Massachusetts Board of Higher Education to participate in the State Authorization
Reciprocity Agreement ("SARA"). Fitchburg State received the distinction/of being the firstpublic, four-year
institution to be approved in Massachusetts to offer online classes to students inievery state.

In September 2018, the first nine students from the 4+1 unique Fitchburg State University police program
graduated with a bachelor's and a master's degree and certification which has.prepared them to work full-
time in municipal police departments in Massachusetts. They not only did.years of academic study but they
spent the last 17 weeks in a rigorous program of physical training and tactical skills development.

As the University works tirelessly to increase diversity among the student body, its work has not gone
unnoticed. The report card from the University of Southern California's Race and Equity Center places
Fitchburg State University in the top 10 publiciinstitutions=in. the nation for serving black students. The
benchmark they used to determine the University's score included: representation, gender, and completion
equities, and black student to black faculty ratio.

The University continues to investiin capital assets to support the academic programs and to improve the
experience of students on campus. 2018 saw.the completion of a number of renovation projects which
were started in prior years. One.of the most prominent is that of the Idealab which is housed on the second
floor of the Theater Block which is also the home of a game design intern studio. The Idealab will include a
space that is open and easily reconfigured which will allow different disciplines and individuals from the
school and community to meet and discuss varying problems and hopefully arrive at innovation solutions.
This project has'been referenced by Secretary Ash as a model project in which the anchor institution works
with their community. to meet joint needs. With the construction of the Edgerly Elevator project completed,
all campusbuildings now have automated vertical accessibility. We are now near completion of the Capital
Energy ‘Investment Project ("CEIP") in conjunction with Department of Capital Asset Management and
Maintenance ("DCAMM") to increase energy efficiency on campus and reduce our carbon footprint by
upgrading our aging. infrastructure.

Currently, the leadership of the University is working with a collective group from the community of
Fitchburg on the Relmagine North of Main project. This project has received approximately $350,000 in
grant funding from the Health Foundation of Central Massachusetts, Inc. in support of continued
revitalization of downtown Fitchburg. The initiative is also looking at developing a Resident Leadership
Institute, which will increase the campus visibility in the community. Another project of far reaching
consequence that the University has undertaken with the community is that of upgrading the Theater facility
which currently houses our Idealab. A project team is in place to work on the revitalization and financing of
this project. As a community resource, the institution continues to provide leadership and support for
economic, environmental, and social and culture needs of Fitchburg, north central Massachusetts and the
Commonwealth.

18
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Requests for Information

This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the finances of Fitchburg State University
for anyone interested in this information. Questions concerning any of the data provided in this report or
requests for additional financial information should be addressed to Dr. Richard S. Lapidus, President,
Fitchburg State University, 160 Pearl Street, Fitchburg, Massachusetts, 01420.

Complete financial statements for Fitchburg State University Foundation, Inc., the University's Component
Unit, can be obtained from the office of the Vice President for Finance and Administration, Fitchburg State
University, 160 Pearl Street, Fitchburg, Massachusetts, 01420.

19
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Current assets
Cash and equivalents
Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Investments
Accounts receivable, net
Contributions receivable, net
Loans receivable - current portion
Other current assets

Total current assets

Noncurrent assets
Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Investments
Endowment investments
Accounts receivable, net of current portion
Contributions receivable, net
Loans receivable, net of current portion
Capital assets, net
Other noncurrent assets

Total noncurrent assets
Total assets
Deferred outflows of resources
Deferred outflow-OPEB

Deferred outflow:for pensions

Total deferredoutflows of resources

Statements of Net Position
June 30, 2018 and 2017

Assets

Component Unit
Fitchburg State

Component Unit
Fitchburg State

University University

Foundation, Inc. Foundation, Inc.
2018 2018 2017 2017

$ 23,463,140 $ 1,304,617 21,453,223 $ 1,361,159

6,505,321 - 6,591,903 -
- 8,612,256 - 7,121,426
2,163,522 37,160 1,956,116 49,239
- 1065469 - 136,800

1,207 - 100 -
366,499 28,195 335,835 60,429
32,499,689 10,088,697 30,337,177 8,729,053

6,143,787 - 10,260,675 -

15,880,005 - 14,927,981 -
848,920 10,177,248 789,875 9,740,479

89,866 - 85,557 -

- - - 79,385
1,702,589 - 1,927,398 -
181,449,525 6,043,323 173,403,328 6,773,344

76,955 91,381 157,098 85,266
206,191,647 16,311,952 201,551,912 16,678,474
238,691,336 26,400,649 231,889,089 25,407,527

2,291,791 - - -

3,504,138 - 4,901,385 -

5,795,929 - 4,901,385 -
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Statements of Net Position
June 30, 2018 and 2017

Liabilities and Net Position

Component Unit Component Unit
Fitchburg State Fitchburg State
University University
Foundation, Inc. Foundation, Inc.
2018 2018 2017 2017
Current liabilities
Interagency payables - current portion $ 3,487,348 $ - $ 3,334,367 $ -
Long-term debt - current portion - 756,909 - 188,765
Bank lines of credit - 320,000 - 250,000
Capital lease obligations - current portion 249,898 - 245,435 -
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 3,844,430 256,040 2,695,063 258,580
Accounts payable - construction 1,752,153 - 1,447,903 -
Accrued workers' compensation - current
portion 141,432 - 126,662 -
Compensated absences - current portion 3,175,133 - 3,195,296 -
Faculty payroll accrual 3,510,359 - 3,342,746 -
Revenue received in advance 1,417,553 43,475 1,854,294 17,200
Deposits 323,200 - 319,125 -
Other current liabilities 49,067 - 48,371 -
Total current liabilities 17,950,573 1,376,424 16,609,262 714,545
Noncurrent liabilities
Interagency payables, net of current portion 59,298,320 - 57,398,409 -
Accrued workers' compensation, net of
current portion 507,339 - 454,356 -
Compensated absences, net of current 2,166,148 - 1,965,950 -
Long-term debt, net of current portion - 2,801,813 - 3,443,878
Capital lease obligations, net of current'portion 644,804 - 894,702 -
Loan payable - federal financial assistance
program 1,845,365 - 2,037,912 -
Net OPEB liability 25,145,103 - 25,788,376 -
Net pension liability 11,430,648 - 12,580,841 -
Total noncurrent liabilities 101,037,727 2,801,813 101,120,546 3,443,878
Totaldiabilities 118,988,300 4,178,237 117,729,808 4,158,423
Deferred inflows of resources
Service concession.arrangement 1,517,508 - 1,770,425 -
Deferred inflow-OPEB 3,346,876 - - -
Deferred inflow for pensions 679,709 - 51,499 -
Total deferred inflows of resources 5,544,093 - 1,821,924 -
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Net Position

Component Unit
Fitchburg State

Component Unit
Fitchburg State

University University
Foundation, Inc. Foundation, Inc.
2018 2018 2017 2017
Net investment in capital assets $ 118,281,520 $ 2,164,600 $ 116,097,369 $ 2,890,701
Restricted for:
Nonexpendable
Scholarships and fellowships 520,615 5,335,072 506,331 4,945,904
Cultural programs - 3,183,493 - 3,175,098
Centennial endowments - 1,592,974 - 1,592,974
Other - 91,427 - 62,830
Expendable
Scholarships and fellowships 484,519 3,801,743 483,510 3,058,555
Cultural programs - 2,983,612 - 2,467,546
Loans 257,864 - 276,568 -
Capital projects 1,253,969 - 1,574,634 -
Debt service 6,699,132 - 5,759,312 -
Other 393,691 452,763 930 593,093
Unrestricted (7,936,438) 2,616,728 (7,459,912) 2,462,403
Total net position $ 119,954,872 $_ 22,222412 $ 117,238,742 $ 21,249,104

See Notes to Financial Statements.
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Fitchburg State University
(a department of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts)

Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position

Years Ended June 30, 2018 and 2017

Operating revenues
Student tuition and fees
Student fees restricted for repayment of
Interagency payables
Less: Scholarship allowances

Net student tuition and fees

Federal grants and contracts
State and local grants and contracts
Nongovernmental grants and contracts
Sales and services of educational departments
Gifts and contributions
Auxiliary enterprises:

Residential life

Alcohol awareness and other programs
Other operating revenues

Total operating revenues

Operating expenses

Educational and general
Instruction
Research
Public service
Academic support
Student services
Institutional support
Operations and maintenance of plant
Depreciation and amortization
Scholarships and awards

Auxiliary enterprises
Residential life
Alcohol awareness and other programs

Total operating expenses

Operating income (loss)

Component Unit

Component Unit

Powered by BoardOnTrack

Fitchburg State Fitchburg State
University University
Foundation, Inc. Foundation, Inc.
2018 2018 2017 2017
$ 43,632,761 $ - 40,930,851 $ -
5,909,693 - 5,800,350 -
(7,722,510) - (7,711,629) -
41,819,944 - 39,019,672 -
8,312,288 - 7,739,969 -
292,900 98,042 244,862 392,700
907,615 - 258,594 -
1,622,627 489,634 1,316,111 712,485
- 612,927 - 607,418
10,643,816 262,981 9,616,860 523,798
31,530 - 30,340 -
779,130 - 861,409 -
64,309,850 1,463,584 59,087,717 2,236,401
37,154,391 15,063 36,052,168 14,990
104,463 104,142 10,635 -
555,403 45,755 504,007 76,831
7,157,778 16,613 6,301,324 10,590
10,123,698 140,459 9,544,964 154,259
11,772,986 609,036 10,783,998 537,699
11,030,069 891,685 11,961,134 650,681
9,990,725 249,358 10,125,427 252,521
2,690,116 507,301 1,960,021 561,831
10,514,709 78,067 9,606,338 77,663
24,426 - 18,767 -
101,118,764 2,657,479 96,868,783 2,337,065
(36,808,914) (1,193,895) (37,781,066) (100,664)
23
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(a department of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts)

Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position
Years Ended June 30, 2018 and 2017

Component Unit
Fitchburg State

Component Unit
Fitchburg State

University University
Foundation, Inc. Foundation, Inc.
2018 2018 2017 2017
Nonoperating revenues (expenses)
State appropriations $ 39,403,569 $ - $ 38,873,231 $ -
Gifts 100 - - -
Investment income (loss), net of investment
expense 908,222 531,317 990,265 448,194
Investment income (loss) on restricted assets,
net of investment expense 122,149 1,367,217 95,123 1,224,612
Interest expense on Interagency payables and
capital asset related debt (1,851,587) (158,341) (1,900,661) (150,622)
Debt issuance costs - - (63,345) -
Net nonoperating revenues (expenses)
before capital and endowment additions 38,582,453 1,740,193 37,994,613 1,522,184
Income (loss) before capital and endowment
additions 1,773,539 546,298 213,547 1,421,520
State capital appropriations 439,467 - 74,078 -
Capital grants 503,124 - 1,404,215 -
Transfers (to)/from state agencies - - - -
Private gifts for endowment purposes - 427,010 - 245,750
Total capital and endowment additions 942,591 427,010 1,478,293 245,750
Increase (decrease) in net position 2,716,130 973,308 1,691,840 1,667,270
Net position - beginning of year, as previously
stated 117,238,742 21,249,104 141,335,278 19,581,834
Restatement (Note 29) - - (25,788,376) -
Net position - beginning of
year, as restated 117,238,742 21,249,104 115,546,902 19,581,834
Net position - end of the year $ 119,954,872 $ 22,222,412 $ 117,238,742 $ 21,249,104

See Notes to Financial Statements.
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Fitchburg State University
(a department of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts)

Statements of Cash Flows
Years Ended June 30, 2018 and 2017

2018 2017
Cash flows from operating activities
Tuition and fees $ 41,635,962 $ 38,618,973
Research grants and contracts 9,467,228 8,156,683
Payments to suppliers (20,843,013) (18,784,209)
Payments to utilities (4,437,738) (4,492,220)
Payments to employees (46,193,141) (46,008,199)
Payments for benefits (3,130,009) (3,337,866)
Payments for scholarships (2,731,812) (1,992,215)
Loans issued to students (36,291) (144,555)
Collection of loans to students 248,106 207,231
Auxiliary enterprise receipts
Residential life 10,606,391 9,611,462
Alcohol awareness program 31,530 30,340
Receipts from sales and services of educational departments 923,280 1,916,788
Other receipts 788,702 871,174
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities (13,670,805) (15,346,613)
Cash flows from noncapital financing activities
State appropriations 29,473,032 29,404,821
Tuition remitted to State (674,450) (713,312)
Gifts from grants for other than capital purposes 100 -
Net cash provided by‘(used in) noncapital
financing activities 28,798,682 28,691,509
Cash flows from capital and related financing activities
State capital appropriations 439,467 74,078
Loan programs net funds.received 55,596 22,813
Interagency payable proceeds received 5,420,360 4,166,418
Payments for capital assets (17,591,182) (6,206,855)
Principal paid on capital debt (3,324,678) (2,954,918)
Interest paid on capital.debt (2,349,986) (2,166,777)
Debt issuance costs - (63,345)
Net cash provided by (used in) capital and related
financing activities (17,350,423) (7,128,586)
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(a department of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts)

Statements of Cash Flows
Years Ended June 30, 2018 and

2017

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of investments
Proceeds from sale of investments
Earnings on investments

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities

Net increase (decrease) in cash and equivalents

Cash and equivalents, beginning of year

Cash and equivalents, end of year

Reconciliation of operating loss to net cash provided by (used
in) operating activities
Operating loss
Adjustments to reconcile operating loss to net cash
provided by (used in) operating activities
Bad debt expense
Depreciation and amortization
Fringe benefits paid by the Commonwealth of
Massachusetts
Change in net pension liability
Change in net OPEB liability
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Receivables
Other current and noncurrent assets
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Accrued workers' compensation
Compensated absences
Accrued faculty payroll
Revenue received in advance
Other current liabilities
Deposits
Loans to students

Net cash used in operating activities

2018 2017
$ (3,924,835) $ (6,413,281)
3,396,907 8,375,271
556,921 350,705
28,993 2,312,695
(21193,553) 8,529,005
38,305,801 29,776,796
$ 36,112:248°. $ 38,305,801
$.136,808,914) $ (37,781,066)
325,079 349,431
9,990,725 10,125,427
10,604,987 10,185,677
875,264 1,376,838

411,812 -
(532,536) (733,587)
49,479 17,641
1,218,053 2,424
67,753 73,128
180,035 (293,247)
167,613 393,441
(436,741) 806,438
696 966
4,075 67,200
211,815 62,676
$ (13,670,805) $ (15,346,613)
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(a department of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts)

Statements of Cash Flows

Years Ended June 30, 2018 and 2017

Schedule of noncash investing and financing activities
Acquisition of capital assets
Accounts payable thereon:
Beginning of year
End of year
Capital lease obligation
Capital grants from DCAMM
Net interest earned and incurred, capitalized in
construction in progress

Payments for capital assets

Unrealized gain (loss) on investments

Fringe benefits paid by the Commonwealth
of Massachusetts

Capital grants - amortization of deferred inflows of
resources - service concession arrangement

Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalent balances
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Noncurrent assets
Restricted cash and cash equivalents

Total cash and cash equivalents

See Notes to Financial Statements.
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2018 2017
18,036,922 $ 8,530,873
1,447,903 1,526,988
(1,752,153) (1,447,903)
. (1,261,206)
- (1,146,989)
(141,490) 5,092
17,591,182 $ 6,206,855
231,987. $ 322,341
10,604,987 $ 10,185,677
252918  $ 252,918
23.463,140 $ 21,453,223
6,505,321 6,591,903
6,143,787 10,260,675
36,112,248 $ 38,305,801
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(a department of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts)

Notes to Financial Statements
June 30, 2018 and 2017

Note 1 - Summary of significant accounting policies

Organization

Fitchburg State University (the "University") is a public, State-supported comprehensive four-year
University which offers a quality education leading to baccalaureate and master's degrees in many
disciplines. With its campus located in Fitchburg, Massachusetts, the University provides instruction in a
variety of liberal arts, allied health, and business fields of study. The University also offers, through the
Division of Graduate and Continuing Education, credit and non-credit courses. The University is
accredited by the New England Commission of Higher Education ("NECHE") (formerly’known as the
New England Association of Schools and Colleges ("NEASC")).

The University is a department of the Commonwealth of.Massachusetts/ (the "State" or the
"Commonwealth"). The accompanying financial statements reflect only the transactions of the
University and its discretely presented component unit..Accordingly, the.accompanying financial
statements may not necessarily be indicative of the conditions that would have existed if the University
had been operated independently of the State.

Fitchburg State University Foundation, Inc. (the*"Foundation") is.a component unit of Fitchburg State
University. The Foundation is a legally separate, tax-exempt organization under Section 501(c)(3) of the
Internal Revenue Code. It was organized on.June:6; 1978, exclusively for the benefit of Fitchburg State
University, to establish scholarships and:-make.awards to educationally talented and needy students; to
establish a Distinguished Professor award within the faculty of the University; to subsidize inter-
collegiate athletic programs; to subsidize budgets of departments of the University as needed for
particular purposes; to encourage public use and supportof functions and activities which further the
mission of the University; and.to'encourage other activities necessary for, or incidental to, any or all of
the foregoing. The following programs are‘supported under the auspices of the Foundation: Center
Stage, Alumni Association, Women in Today's Society, Amelia V. Gallucci - Cirio endowment and the
University's Booster Clubs. The Boardof the Foundation is self-perpetuating and consists of graduates
and friends of the University. Although the University does not control the timing or amount of receipts
from the Foundation,.the majority of resources, or income thereon that the Foundation holds and
invests are restricted to the activities of the University by the donors. Because these restricted
resources held by the Foundation.can only be used by, or for the benefit of, the University, the
Foundationis considered. a component unit of the University and is discretely presented in the
University's financial statements.

FSU FoundationsSupporting Organization, Inc. (the "Foundation Supporting Organization") was
organized on October 29, 1999 for the exclusive benefit of the Foundation and all of its educational and
charitable activities. The Foundation Supporting Organization is a legally separate, tax-exempt
organization under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code. The Foundation Supporting
Organization's sole program activity, as of June 30, 2018, has been to acquire, hold, operate and lease
real estate and related improvements for the benefit of the Foundation and the University. The financial
information of the Foundation Supporting Organization is consolidated into the financial statements of
the Foundation. The Foundation and Foundation Supporting Organization are collectively referred to
hereinafter as the FSU Foundation.

During fiscal 2018, FSU Foundation distributed scholarships and awards in the amount of $507,301
directly to students and faculty of the University, and incurred an additional $2,308,519 in support of its
mission in other ways. Complete financial statements for FSU Foundation can be obtained from the
Office of the Vice President for Finance and Administration, Fitchburg State University, 160 Pearl
Street, Fitchburg, MA 01420.
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During fiscal 2017, FSU Foundation distributed scholarships and awards in the amount of $561,831
directly to students and faculty of the University, and incurred an additional $1,925,856 in support of its
mission in other ways.

Basis of presentation

The University's financial statements have been prepared using the "economic resources measurement
focus" and the accrual basis of accounting in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America, as prescribed by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board
("GASB"). Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when a liability is incurred,
regardless of the timing of related cash flows. Grants and similar items are recognized as revenue as
soon as all eligibility requirements have been met.

FSU Foundation, as a nonprofit organization, reports under Financial Accounting Standards Board
("FASB") guidance on financial reporting for Not-for-Profit Entities. As such,certain revenue recognition
criteria and presentation features are different from GASB revenue recognition criteria and presentation
features. Other than the reclassification of certain items; no modifications:have been made to FSU
Foundation's consolidated financial information in the University's financial reporting entity for these
differences.

The University's policy for defining operating activities in the statements of revenues, expenses and
changes in net position are those that generally. result from exchange transactions such as the payment
received for services and payment made for the purchase of goods and services. Certain other
transactions are reported as nonoperating activities in accordance with GASB Statement No. 35. These
nonoperating activities include the“University's operating and capital appropriations from the
Commonwealth of Massachusetts, net investmentiincome, gifts, and interest expense.

When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is the University's policy to use
the restricted resources first, then unrestricted resources as they are needed.

GASB Statement No..34 requires thatresources be classified for accounting purposes into the following
three net position.Categories:

o Net investment in capital assets: Capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation and
outstanding principal “balances of debt attributable to the acquisition, construction or
improvementof those assets. Deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources
that are attributable'to the acquisition, construction or improvement of those assets or related
debt are.also included in this component of net position.

e Restricted;

Nonexpendable - Component of net position whose net assets are subject to externally-
imposed stipulations that they be maintained permanently by the University. Such assets
include the University's permanent endowment funds.

Expendable - Component of net position whose use of net assets by the University is
subject to externally-imposed stipulations that can be fulfilled by actions of the University
pursuant to those stipulations or that expire by the passage of time.

e Unrestricted: All other categories of net position. Unrestricted net position may be designated
for specific purposes by action of management or the Board of Trustees.
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In accordance with the requirements of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts, the University's
operations are accounted for in several trust funds. All of these trust funds have been consolidated and
are included in these financial statements.

Use of estimates

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
amounts and disclosures reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Although these
estimates are based on management's knowledge of current events and actions it may undertake in the
future, they may ultimately differ from actual results.

Cash and cash equivalents and investments

The University's cash and cash equivalents are considered to_be cash on hand, cash and cash
equivalents held by the Commonwealth's Treasurer. and Receiver-General, Massachusetts
Development Finance Agency ("MDFA") and Massachusetts State College Building Authority
("MSCBA"), and short-term investments with original maturities of three months'or less from the date of
acquisition.

Investments for the University are reported at fair value. Any investments held with the
Commonwealth's Treasurer and Receiver-General in the Massachusetts Municipal Depository Trust
("MMDT?") are also at fair value. This external investment pool, run by the Treasurer and Receiver-
General, operates in accordance with appropriate lawsand regulations. The reported value of the pool
is the same as the fair value of the pool shares.

Investments include marketable debt and equity securities which are carried at their readily
determinable fair values. Realized and unrealized gains and losses are included in nonoperating
revenues. Gains and losses _on the disposition of investments are determined based on specific
identification of securities sold or the.average cost method. Investment income is recognized when
earned and is generally credited to the trust fund holding the related assets.

Dividends, interest and net gains orlosses on investments are reported in the Statements of Revenues,
Expenses.and Changes in Net Position. Any net earnings not expended are included in net position
categories as follows:

(i) asincreases inrestricted - nonexpendable net position if the terms of the gift require that they
be added to the principal of a permanent endowment fund;

(i) asincreasesin restricted - expendable net position if the terms of the gift or the University's
interpretation of relevant state law impose restrictions on the current use of the income or net
gains. The University has relied upon the Attorney General's interpretation of state law that
unappropriated endowment gains should be classified as restricted - expendable; and

(iii) as increases in unrestricted net position in all other cases.

At June 30, 2018 and 2017, the University had $321,111 and $339,750, respectively, in endowment
income available for authorization for expenditure, which is included in restricted-expendable net
position for scholarships and fellowships.

Massachusetts General Law, Chapter 15 grants authority to the University Board of Trustees to
administer the general business of the University. Inherent in this authority is the authority to invest
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funds of the University. Chapter 15 further grants the Trustees the authority to delegate, to the
President, any said powers or responsibilities. The Board of Trustees of Fitchburg State University has
delegated the authority to make specific investment decisions to the President of the University and the
Finance Committee of the Board of Trustees. The University's endowment investments consist of debt,
marketable equity securities, mutual funds, and other investments which are carried at their fair values.
The primary cash equivalent funds are within the MMDT, the external investment pool for political
subdivisions of the Commonwealth.

The University's authorized spending rule provides that all earnings on endowment investments may be
expended pursuant to the stipulations placed on these endowments. If a donor has not provided
specific instructions, Massachusetts General Law permits the ‘University's Board of Trustees to
authorize for expense the net appreciation (realized and unrealized) of the investments of endowment
funds. Any net appreciation that is spent is required to be spent for the purposes for which the
endowment was established.

FSU Foundation's investments consist of debt, marketable equity securities, mutual funds and other
investments which are carried at their fair values. Unrealized gains and losses are included in revenue.
Restricted investment income and gains are reported as increases inunrestricted net position, unless a
donor or law temporarily (expendable) or permanently (non-expendable) restricts their use. Gains and
losses on the disposition of investments are’ principally determined based on the first-in, first-out
method or specific identification of securities:sold. Investment.income is recognized when earned.
Dividends are recorded on the ex-dividend date.

FSU Foundation maintains cash andequivalentsiandan.investment pool that is available for use by all
funds. Each fund's portion is. reflected in the financial statements under cash and equivalents and
investments. Earnings on cash and investments of the unrestricted net position and temporarily
restricted (expendable) net'position are reflected in the fund in which the assets are recorded.

The FSU Foundation's endowments consist of approximately 110 and 100 individual funds at June 30,
2018 and 2017 srespectively, thatare restricted by donors to function as endowments primarily for the
granting of scholarships and to fund other academic and cultural programs. During fiscal 2018, FSU
Foundation's Board of Directors voted to earmark $25,000 as a board-designated fund entitled The
Fund for'kitehburg State.to function as an endowment fund. The fund is designated for students with
financial needs to be awarded financial aid scholarships. No funds have been designated by the Board
of Directors to function as. endowments as of June 30, 2017. In accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America, net assets associated with endowment funds,
including funds*designated by the Board of Directors to function as endowments, are classified and
reported based.onthe existence or absence of donor-imposed restrictions.

FSU Foundation's Board of Directors has interpreted the Massachusetts Uniform Prudent Management
of Institutional Funds Act ("UPMIFA") as requiring the preservation of the fair value of the original gift as
of the gift date of the donor-restricted endowment funds absent explicit donor stipulations to the
contrary. As a result of this interpretation, FSU Foundation classifies as permanently restricted net
assets (a) the original value of gifts donated to the permanent endowment, (b) the original value of
subsequent gifts to the permanent endowment, and (c) accumulations to the permanent endowment
made in accordance with the direction of the applicable donor gift instrument at the time the
accumulation is added to the fund. The remaining portion of the donor-restricted endowment fund that
is not classified in permanently restricted net assets is classified as temporarily restricted net assets
until those amounts are appropriated for expenditure by FSU Foundation in a manner consistent with
the standard of prudence prescribed by UPMIFA.
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In accordance with UPMIFA, FSU Foundation considers the following factors in making a determination
to appropriate or accumulate restricted endowment funds: (i) the duration and preservation of the fund,
(i) the purposes of FSU Foundation and the donor-restricted endowment fund, (iii) general economic
conditions, (iv) the possible effect of inflation and deflation, (v) the expected total return from income
and the appreciation of investments, (vi) other resources of FSU Foundation, and (vii) the investment
policies of FSU Foundation.

FSU Foundation has adopted investment and spending policies for endowment assets that attempt to
provide a predictable stream of funding while seeking to maintain‘the purchasing/power of the
endowment assets. Endowment assets include those assets of donor-restricted funds that FSU
Foundation must hold in perpetuity or for donor-specified periods as'well as board=designated funds.
Under this policy, as approved by FSU Foundation's Board of:Directors, the endowment assets are
invested in a variety of investments that aim to preserve principal, generate income and provide the
opportunity for conservative growth.

FSU Foundation's performance goals are to provide an average annual total.rate of return, net of fees,
that equals or exceeds its spending rate plus linflation ("CPI") over a rolling five-year period.
Additionally, the endowment assets are invested-in a manner that is’'intended to produce results that
equal or exceed the average return of appropriate capital marketindices weighted by FSU Foundation's
asset allocation target percentages over a rolling five-year period. FSU Foundation's performance goals
are also intended to produce results that.equal or exceed the average return of a universe of similarly
managed funds. FSU Foundation's performance goals‘are:based upon a long-term investment horizon.
Accordingly, actual returns in any given year may.vary from these amounts.

To satisfy its long-term rate-of-return objectives, FSU Foundation relies on a total return strategy in
which investment returns are achieved through both capital appreciation (realized and unrealized) and
current yield (interest and dividends). FSU Foundation targets a diversified asset allocation that places
a greater emphasis on equity-based-investments to achieve its long-term return objectives within
prudent risk constraints.

FSU Foundation.has a spending policy of appropriating for distribution each year a percentage of its
endowment fund's average fair.value over the preceding three years. The amount to be appropriated for
distribution shallnot exceed 5%. In establishing this policy, FSU Foundation considered the long-term
expected return on its’endowment fund assets. Accordingly, over the long-term, FSU Foundation
expects'the current spending policy to be consistent with the FSU Foundation's objective of seeking to
maintain the purchasing power of the endowment fund assets held in perpetuity or for a specified term
as well as to provide additional real growth through investment return.

From time to time, the fair value of assets associated with individual donor-restricted endowment funds
may fall below the level that the donor or Massachusetts General Laws requires FSU Foundation to
retain as a fund of perpetual duration. In accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America, deficiencies of this nature are reported in unrestricted net assets. As of
June 30, 2018 and 2017, there were no deficiencies of this nature.

The University's and FSU Foundation's investment income are presented net of investment expense in
the statements of revenues, expenses and changes in net position. The University's investment
expense amounted to $85,581 and $96,668 for the years ended June 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
FSU Foundation's investment expense amounted to $107,210 and $96,801 for the years ended June
30, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
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Accounts receivable

Accounts receivable are stated at the amount the University expects to collect from outstanding
balances. The University provides for probable uncollectible amounts through a charge to operations
and a credit to a valuation allowance based on its assessment of the current status of individual
accounts. Balances that are still outstanding after the University has used reasonable collection efforts
are written off through a charge to the valuation allowance and a credit to accounts'receivable.

Accounts receivable also include a receivable from the operator of the University's food services
operation in connection with a service concession arrangement between the University and the
operator. The receivable has been recorded at the net present value of the installments to'be received
from the operator using a discount rate determined by management-of the University.

Loans receivable and payable

Loans receivable consist, primarily, of the Federal Perkins.Loan Program ("Perkins") and the Federal
Nursing Student Loan Program ("NSL"). The federal government provides the majority of the funds to
support these programs. Loan payments received from:students made under the Perkins and NSL
programs may be re-loaned after collection. The| portion of the Perkins and NSL Loan Programs
provided by the federal government is refundable to the federal government upon the ending
(liquidation) of the University's participation in'the programs. Theramount due to the federal government
upon liquidation by the University is $1,467,263 and $1,619,081 for Perkins and $378,102 and
$418,831 for NSL at June 30, 2018¢and 2017, respectively..These amounts are included as a
noncurrent liability in the accompanying statements of net position.

The prescribed practices for the Perkins:and NSL programs do not provide for accrual of interest on
student loans receivable or for the provision of an allowance for doubtful loans. Accordingly, interest on
loans is recorded as received and loan balances are reduced subsequent to the determination of their
uncollectability and have been accepted: (assigned) by the Department of Education and the
Department of Health and Human Services. Management closely monitors outstanding balances and
assigns loans to the Department of Education based upon such factors as student payment history,
current status of applicable students, and‘the results of collection efforts.

Capital assets

Capital assets are controlled but not owned by the University. The University is not able to sell or
otherwise pledge its assets;since the assets are all owned by the Commonwealth of Massachusetts.
Capitalassets, whichiinclude land, land improvements, buildings, building improvements, equipment
and other assetsare reported in the statements of net position at cost or fair market value, if donated.
Capital assets are defined by the University as assets with an initial, individual cost of more than
$50,000 in accordance with the Commonwealth's capitalization policy. The University does not hold
collections of historical treasures, works of art, or other items not requiring capitalization or
depreciation.

The costs of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or materially
extend asset lives are not capitalized.

Capital assets, with the exception of land, are depreciated using the straight-line method over estimated
useful lives of 40 years for buildings, 20 years for building and land improvements, 5 years for furniture
and 3 to 10 years for equipment.
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Library materials acquired for the most recent five-year period are capitalized. The cost of library
materials purchased in the current year is added and the cost of purchases made in the earliest year of
the five-year period is deducted from the net position balance.

The land on which the residence halls stand is leased by the MSCBA from the Commonwealth of
Massachusetts at a yearly cost of one dollar. The leases are long-term leases whichrcan be extended
at the end of their terms for additional 10-year periods.

The University, in accordance with a management and services agreement between the MSCBA and
Commonwealth of Massachusetts, is charged a semi-annual revenue assessment which is'based on a
certified occupancy report, the current rent schedule, and the design‘capacity for each of the residence
halls. This revenue assessment is used by MSCBA to pay principal.and interest due‘on its long-term
debt obligations. These obligations may include the costs of periodic renovations and improvements to
the residence halls. The revenue assessment amounts for the years ended.June 30, 2018 and 2017
were $6,827,009 and $6,175,634, respectively, and<are included in the Residential life auxiliary
enterprises in the accompanying statements of revenues, expenses and‘changes in net position. All
facilities and obligations of the MSCBA are included in the financial statements of the MSCBA. It is not
practical to determine the specific asset costor-liability attributable to the University. The leases,
therefore, are accounted for under the operating method for. financial statement purposes.

FSU Foundation's capital assets are recorded. at cost, if purchased or constructed and, if donated, at
fair value at the date of donation. Capital assets, with.the:exception of land, are depreciated using the
straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets of 40 years for buildings, 20 years for
building and land improvements, 7. and-10 years for furniture and fixtures, 5 years for equipment and 3
years for computer softwaresand,equipment. FSU Foundation generally capitalizes all additions and
improvements with an individual cost or, if donated, fair value in excess of $5,000.

Contributions and bequests

FSU Foundation recognizes contributions revenue when the donor makes a promise to give, thatis, in
substance, unconditional: Unconditional promises to give are reported at net realizable value if at the
time the promisesis made collection is expected to be received in one year or less. Unconditional
promises to give that are expecteditobe collected in more than one year are reported at fair value using
present value~techniques. and a discount rate determined by management of FSU Foundation.
Amortization, of discounts_ isirecorded as additional contribution revenue in accordance with donor-
imposed restrictions;.if any,.on the contributions. Conditional promises to give are recognized only
when the conditions on which they depend are substantially met and the promises become
unconditional..Contributions in the form of property and equipment and other assets are recorded at the
fair value on'the"date the donation is received. All contributions are considered to be available for
unrestricted use by FSU Foundation unless specifically restricted by the donor. FSU Foundation
provides for probable uncollectible amounts of unconditional promises to give through a charge to
earnings and a credit to a valuation allowance based on its assessment of the current status of
individual account balances.

Compensated absences

Employees earn the right to be compensated during absences for vacation leave and sick leave.
Accrued vacation is the amount earned by all eligible employees through June 30 each year. Pursuant
to statewide experience on sick pay buy-back agreements applicable to state employees, the University
accrues sick leave to a level representing 20% of amounts earned by those University employees with
ten or more years of State service at the end of the fiscal year. Upon retirement, these employees are
entitled to receive payment for this accrued balance (see also Note 8).
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Student fees

Student tuition and fees are presented net of scholarships applied to students' accounts. Certain other
scholarship amounts are paid directly to, or refunded to, the student and are generally reflected as
expenses.

Revenue received in advance

Deposits and advance payments received for tuition and fees related to‘the University's summer
programs and tuition billed for the following fiscal year are recorded as revenues received in advance.
Funds received in advance from various grants and contracts are also.included in revenues received in
advance.

Agency funds

Agency funds consist of resources held by the University as.custodian or‘fiscal agent of student
organizations, the State Treasurer and others. Transactions are recorded to asset and liability
accounts. There were no material balances at June 30, 2018 and 2017.

Bond premiums
Bond premiums are being amortized on a straight-line basiscover the terms of the related debt
agreements.

Interest expense and capitalization

The University follows the policy of capitalizing interest'expense as a component of the cost of capital
assets constructed for its own use. During 2018 and 2017, total interest costs incurred were accounted
for as follows:

2018 2017
Total interest costs incurred $ 2,290,601 $ 2,216,234
Less: Interest income on unused funds from tax
exempt borrowings (9,299) (6,050)
Bond premium amortization (288,225) (314,615)
1,993,077 1,895,569
Less: Capitalized portion of net interest earned (141,490) 5,092
and incurred
Interest expense $ 1,851,587 $ 1,900,661

Pension plan

For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows
of resources related to pensions, and pension expense, information about the fiduciary net position of
the Massachusetts State Employees' Retirement System ("MSERS") and additions to/deductions from
MSERS's fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by
MSERS. For this purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of employee contributions) are
recognized when due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms. Investments are reported at
fair value.
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OPEB plan

For purposes of measuring the net OPEB liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows
of resources related to post-employment benefits other than pensions, and OPEB expense, information
about the fiduciary net position of the OPEB Trust Fund and additions to/deductions from OPEB Trust
Fund 's fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by the
OPEB Trust Fund. For this purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of employee‘contributions) are
recognized when due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms. Investments are reported at
fair value.

Fringe benefits

The University participates in the Commonwealth's fringe benefit programs; including-health.insurance,
unemployment, pension and workers' compensation benefits::Workers' compensation coverage is
provided by the Commonwealth on a self-insured basis. Health insurance and pension‘costs are billed
through a fringe benefit rate charged to the University. Workers' compensation.and unemployment
insurance costs are assessed separately based on the University's actual experience.

Tax status
The University is a department of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts and is therefore exempt from
federal and state income taxes.

Reclassifications
Certain reclassifications have been made torthe 2017 financial statements to conform to the 2018
presentation.

Recently adopted accounting pronouncements

In June 2015, the GASB issued GASB Statement No. 75, Accounting and Financial Reporting for
Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions. The primary objective of GASB Statement No. 75 is to
improve accounting and financial reporting by state and local governments for postemployment benefits
other than pensions (other:postemployment benefits or "OPEB"). GASB Statement No. 75 requires
governments providing defined benefit OPEB plans to recognize their long-term obligation for OPEB
benefits as aliability for the first time, and to more comprehensively and comparably measure the
annual costs of OPEB benefits. The Statement also enhances accountability and transparency through
revised andnew-note disclosures and required supplementary information. The provisions in GASB
Statement No. 75 are effective for financial statements for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2017
with earlier application encouraged. The University adopted this standard in fiscal year 2018.

In March 2017;the GASB issued GASB Statement No. 85, Omnibus 2017. The objective of GASB
Statement No. 85 is to address practice issues that have been identified during implementation and
application of certain GASB Statements, including GASB Statement No. 75. The applicable provisions
of GASB statement No. 85 have been adopted in fiscal year 2018 with the University's initial adoption of
GASB Statement No. 75.

The impact of implementing GASB Statements No. 75 and 85 on the University's financial statements is
further discussed in Notes 22 and 29.
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Note 2 - Cash and cash equivalents, and investments
Cash and cash equivalents - unrestricted and restricted - include the following at June 30, 2018 and
2017:
2018
Current Current Noncurrent
unrestricted restricted restricted
Cash and money market accounts $ 13,076,865 $ 5,769,441 $ 2,428,922
Cash equivalents held by MDFA * - 293,344 283,274
Cash equivalents held by MSCBA ** - 363,739 3,307,247
Massachusetts Municipal Depository Trust 5,950,122 - 124,344
Massachusetts State Treasurer *** 4,435,208 78,797 -
Petty cash 945 - -

Fitchburg State University - Board of Trustees - Agenda - Tuesday October 30, 2018 at 10:00 AM

Fitchburg State University
(a department of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts)

Notes to Financial Statements
June 30, 2018 and 2017

$ 23,463,140 $ 6,505,321 $ 6,143,787

2017

Current Current Noncurrent

unrestricted restricted restricted
Cash and money market accounts $ 12,356,254 $ 5,288,931 $ 1,950,069
Cash equivalents held by MDFA * - 276,740 293,261
Cash equivalents held by MSCBA ** - 304,586 7,894,943
Massachusetts Municipal Depository Trust 5,857,201 - 122,402

Massachusetts State Treasurer *** 3,238,798 721,646 -

Petty cash 970 - -

*

*%

*kk

$ 21,453,223 $ 6,591,903 $ 10,260,675

This .amount <consists.of ‘cash equivalents which are restricted by the Massachusetts
Development Finance Agency ("MDFA") for the funding of payments to retire the bonds (see
Note 12). The Universitysdoes not have access to these funds except by the authorization of
MDFA.

This amount consists of cash and cash equivalents which are restricted by the Massachusetts
State College Building Authority ("MSCBA") for the funding of certain construction projects at the
University and payments to retire bonds (see Note 12). The University does not have access to
these funds except by authorization of MSCBA. Interest earned on debt service reserve funds is
used on a current basis to offset annual debt service payments.

The University has recorded cash held for the benefit of the University by the State Treasurer in
the amount of $4,435,298 and $3,238,798 at June 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively, for University
funds and $78,797 and $721,646 at June 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively, to pay year-end
liabilities. The latter balance represents amounts paid from State appropriations subsequent to
the fiscal year-end.

Money market funds include the Goldman Sachs Financial Square Government Fund in the aggregate
amount of $93,465 and $63,402 at June 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively. The Goldman Sachs
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Financial Square Government Fund invests in U.S. Government securities and repurchase agreements.
The fund seeks to maximum current income consistent with the preservation of capital and liquidity, and
the maintenance of a stable $1.00 per share net asset value. At June 30, 2018 and 2017, the fund's
investment securities had a weighted average maturity of 32 and 24 days, respectively. The fund had
an average credit quality rating of AAAm at both June 30, 2018 and 2017.

Money market funds include the Northern Institutional U.S. Government Portfolio (formerly known as
the Northern Institutional Government Assets Portfolio) in the aggregate amount of $99,475 and
$231,979 at June 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively. The Northern Institutional Government Assets
Portfolio invests primarily in marketable securities issued or guaranteed:as to principal and interest by
the U.S. Government, or any of its agencies or instrumentalities, andrepurchase agreements backed
by such securities. The fund seeks to maximize current income to the extent consistent with the
preservation of capital and maintenance of liquidity. At June30, 2018 and 2017, the fund's investment
securities had a weighted average maturity of 45 days_and 25 days, respectively. The fund had an
average credit quality rating of AAAm at June 30, 2018 and Aa at June 30, 2017.

Money market funds also include the RWM Cash Management money market account with a balance
of $27,959 and $62,187 at June 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

The Massachusetts Municipal Depository Trust ("MMDT") is not subject to FDIC insurance. According
to the MMDT, the Massachusetts Municipal. Depository Trust/s an investment pool for political
subdivisions in the Commonwealth which was designed-as a legal means to safely invest temporarily
available cash. Its primary purpose is\to provide a safe, liquid, high-yield investment vehicle offering
participation in a diversified portfolio of-high quality debt.instruments. The MMDT is not a bank, savings
institution, or financial institution. The MMDT is aniinstrumentality of the State Treasurer.

The University maintains a:cash and investment pool that is available for use by all trust funds. Each
fund type's portion of this,pool is reflected in the financial statements under the caption, cash and cash
equivalents and investments. The method of allocating interest earned on pooled cash and investments
is to record all interest to.the appropriate fund based on that fund's average monthly balance. Interest
earnings attributable to each trust.fund are included under investment income.

Custodial credit risk

Custodial credit risk for’deposits‘is the risk that in the event of a bank failure, the University's deposits
may not be returned.to it. The University's deposit policy provides for bank balances to be held in
interest=bearing checking accounts and, where account activity and balances warrant it, in money
market accounts. Allbank balances are to be held at financial institutions of high credit quality. At June
30, 2018 and 2017, the University had uninsured cash balances totaling approximately $5,920,900 and
$5,963,600, respectively.

The University does not have a formal policy with respect to the custodial credit risk. Custodial credit
risk is that, in the event of the failure of the counterparty, the University will not be able to recover the
value of investment or collateral securities that are in the possession of an outside party.

Certain investments are covered by the Securities Investor Protection Corporation ("SIPC") up to
$500,000, including $250,000 of cash from sale or for purchase of investments, but not cash held solely
for the purpose of earning interest. SIPC protects securities such as notes, stocks, bonds, debentures,
certificates of deposit and money funds. Certain cash balances are covered by the National Credit
Union Administration's Share Insurance Fund up to $250,000.
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The following University investments at June 30, 2018 and 2017 are held by the counterparty's trust
department or agent but not in the University's name and, therefore, are subject to custodial credit risk
as follows:

2018 2017
U.S. Treasury Notes and Government Securities $ 1,295,626 $ 1,293,367
Corporate Debt Securities 1,929,532 1,944,881
Equity Securities 6,825,505 6,273,275
Mutual Funds 6,678,262 6,206,333
Total 16,728,925 15,717,856
Less insured amounts 1,500,000 1,500,000
Amount subject to Custodial Credit Risk $ 15,228,925 $ 14,217,856

Credit risk

The University is required to comply with the Commonwealth of Massachusetts' deposit and investment
policies which are principally defined in the Massachusetts General Laws, Chapter 29. State Statutes
permit investment in obligations of the U.S{ Treasury, authorized bonds of all states, bankers'
acceptances, certificates of deposit, commercial paper rated.within the three highest classifications
established by Standard & Poor's Corporationiand Moody's Commercial Paper Record and repurchase
agreements secured by any of these obligations. The University has also adopted its own formal
investment policy, the objectives of which are: safety ofprincipal; liquidity for operating needs; return on
investment; and diversification of risk. The University's investment policy generally limits the maturities
of investments to not more than one year. However, the University may invest in securities with
maturities in excess of onewyear if it is'"determined to be in the best interest of the University as
described in the University'siinvestment policy. The University may also appoint a professional fund
manager and invest in equity and bond funds. Eligible investments shall be consistent with those
permitted by State Statutes.

As of June’30, 2018 and 2017, the fair values of the University's deposits held at the Massachusetts
Municipal.Depository Trust were $6,074,466 and $5,979,603, respectively. At June 30, 2018, the
approximate percentage of the University's deposits held at the MMDT and the respective investment
maturities in days were as follows: 71% at 30 days or less; 20% at 31-90 days; 9% at 91-180 days; and
0% at 181 days or more. At June 30, 2018, approximately 100% of the MMDT's cash portfolio had a
First Tier credit'quality rating.

The University's funds held at MDFA are invested in the Short-Term Asset Reserve ("STAR") Fund and
had a fair value of $576,618 and $570,001 at June 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively. The STAR Fund
invests primarily in U.S. Treasury bills, notes, and other obligations guaranteed by the U.S. government
or its agencies or instrumentalities. Additionally, the fund invests in repurchase agreements, bankers'
acceptances, certificates of deposit, commercial paper, notes, and both corporate floating rate and
corporate fixed-rate securities. The STAR Fund maintains a net asset value of $1 per share and had a
fund credit quality rating of AAAm as of both June 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively. At June 30, 2018
and 2017, the fund's investment securities maintain a weighted average maturity of 37 and 41 days,
respectively.
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At June 30, 2018, certain of the University's funds are held at MSCBA. Of the total, $1,599,693 is
deposited in various cash accounts which are fully collateralized by securities in accounts in the name
of MSCBA, and $2,071,293 is invested in various funds as listed below:

Investment maturities (in years)

Fair Less Greater Credit
Investment type value than 1 1-5 6-10 than 10 rating
Federal Home Loan Bank
Discount Notes $ 144,841  $ 144841  $ - $ - $ N/A
Federal Farm Credit 881,963 - 881,963 - - AA+
Massachusetts ST Bonds 1,044,489 80,326 - 964,163 AAA
Total $ 2,071,293 § 225,167  $ 881,963 § - $ 964,163

At June 30, 2017, certain of the University's funds are held at MSCBA. Of the total, $5,937,112 is
deposited in various cash accounts which are fully collateralized by securities:in.accounts in the name
of MSCBA, and $2,262,417 is invested in various funds as listed below:

Investment maturities (in years)

Fair Less Greater Credit
Investment type value than 1 1-5 6-10 than 10 rating
Federal Home Loan Bank
Discount Notes $ 144,841 $ 144,841 $ - $ - $ N/A
Federal Farm Credit 667,799 - 667,799 - - AA+
Massachusetts ST Bonds 1,449,777 485,614 964,163 AAA
Total 3 2,262,417  $ 144,841 $ 1,153,413  § - 3 964,163

The University's investments inmarketable securities.are represented by the following at June 30, 2018

and 2017:
2018 2017
Cost Fair value Cost Fair value

Noncurrent:
U.S. Treasury Notes and
Government Securities $ 1,360,003 $ 1,295,626 $ 1,346,929 $ 1,293,367
Corporate Debt Securities 1,985,769 1,929,532 1,935,769 1,944,881
Equity Securities 5,276,629 6,825,505 5,011,045 6,273,275
Mutual Funds 6,591,075 6,678,262 6,140,651 6,206,333

$ 15,213,476 $ 16,728,925 $ 14,434,394 $ 15,717,856
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The University's investments at fair value are presented in the accompanying statements of net position
as follows:

2018 2017
Investments $ 15,880,005 $ 14,927,981
Endowment investments 848,920 789,875

$ 16,728,925 $ 15,717,856

At June 30, 2018, the University's U.S. Treasury Notes and Government.Securities and corporate debt
securities along with their investment maturities and credit quality ratings are as follows:

Investment maturities (in years)

Fair Less Greater Credit
Investment type value than 1 1-5 6-10 than 10 rating

U.S. Treasury Notes and
Government Securities

1.625% to 3.375% $ 1,295,626 $ 301,472 $ 767,048 $ 227,106 $ - AA+
Corporate Debt Securities

1.875% to 5.625% 366,153 59,984 306,169 - - A
Corporate Debt Securities

3.100% to 6.000% 405,536 - 169,893 235,643 - A-
Corporate Debt Securities

2.800% to 3.300% 366,339 - 180,186 186,153 - A+
Corporate Debt Securities

3.400% to 3.625% 171,926 - 171,926 - - AA
Corporate Debt Securities

1.750% to 3.625% 267,285 - 170,760 96,525 - AA-
Corporate Debt Securities

3.200% to 4.650% 107,232 - - 107,232 - AA+
Corporate Debt Securities

3.125% 49,120 - - 49,120 - AAA
Corporate Debt Securities

1.400% to 5.000% 195,941 60,796 62,023 73,122 - BBB+
Total $ 3,225,158 $ 422,252 $ 1,828,005 $ 974,901 $ -
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At June 30, 2017, the University's U.S. Treasury Notes and Government Securities and corporate debt
securities along with their investment maturities and credit quality ratings are as follows:

Investment maturities (in years)

Fair Less Greater Credit
Investment type value than 1 1-5 6-10 than 10 rating

U.S. Treasury Notes and
Government Securities

1.625% to 3.500% $ 1,293,367 $ 212,642 $ 769,878 $ 310,847 $ - AA+
Corporate Debt Securities

1.875% to 5.625% 497,053 121,218 375,835 - - A
Corporate Debt Securities

3.100% to 6.000% 355,362 61,348 51,753 242,261 - A-
Corporate Debt Securities

2.800% to 3.300% 183,960 - 62,739 121,221 - A+
Corporate Debt Securities

3.400% to 3.625% 178,576 - 126,314 52,262 - AA
Corporate Debt Securities

1.750% to 3.625% 303,356 - 116,245 187,111 - AA-
Corporate Debt Securities

3.200% to 4.650% 111,579 - - 111,579 - AA+
Corporate Debt Securities

3.125% 51,017 - - 51,017 - AAA
Corporate Debt Securities

1.400% to 5.000% 263,978 59,950 127,228 76,800 - BBB+
Total $ 3,238,248 $ 455,158 $ 1,629,992 $ 1,153,098 $

FSU Foundation's cash and cash equivalents consist of the following at June 30, 2018 and 2017:

2018 2017
Cash and other demand deposits $ 471,462 $ 708,072
Money Market Funds 833,155 653,087

$ 1,304,617 $ 1,361,159

Money market funds’include,the’'SSgA US Government Money Market Fund, the Goldman Sachs
Financial’Square ‘Government.Fund, RWM Cash Management and the Fidelity Bank LifeDesign
Business Cash Management Money Market accounts in the amounts of $112,880, $104,726, $146,615
and$468,934 at June 30; 2018.

Money market funds include the SSgA US Government Money Market Fund, the Goldman Sachs
Financial Square_Government Fund, RWM Cash Management and the Fidelity Bank LifeDesign
Business Cash'Management Money Market accounts in the amounts of $51,013, $68,472, $91,288 and
$442,314 at June 30, 2017.

The cash balances are insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation ("FDIC") up to $250,000.
At June 30, 2018 and 2017, FSU Foundation's uninsured cash and equivalent balances, including the
SSgA US Government Money Market Fund, Goldman Sachs Financial Square Government Fund,
RWM Cash Management and Fidelity Bank LifeDesign Business Cash Management Money Market
accounts, amounted to approximately $554,900 and $706,700, respectively.

FSU Foundation's investment policy consists of an asset allocation range of 50% to 70% equity
securities, 30% to 50% fixed income securities and up to 10% in cash and cash equivalents.
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FSU Foundation's investments are represented by the following at June 30:

2018 2017

Fair Fair

Cost value Cost value
Equities $ 5,956,602 $ 9755423 $ 5735924 $ 8,765,351
Preferred stocks 72,335 73,216 95,092 97,245
Mutual funds 4,546,413 5,207,596 4;100,943 4,480,726
Corporate bonds 1,795,019 1,751,921 1,570,558 1,579,007
U.S. government securities 2,056,409 2,001,348 1,954,323 1,939,576

$ 14,426,778 $ 18,789,504 $ 13,456,840 $ 16,861,905

FSU Foundation's investments at fair value are presented in.thesaccompanying.statements of net
position as follows:

2018 2017
Current assets
Investments $ 8,612,256 $ 7,121,426
Noncurrent assets
Endowment investments 10,177,248 9,740,479

$ 18,789,504 $ 16,861,905

At June 30, 2018, net unrealized gains in FSU Foundation's investment portfolio amounted to
$4,362,726. At June 30, 2017, netunrealized gains in FSU Foundation's investment portfolio amounted
to $3,405,065.

At June 30, 2018and 2017, equities include securities in the consumer goods sector which represent
17%, in each year/of the fair value of FSU Foundation's investment portfolio.

At June 30, 2018, equities include securities in the technology sector which represent 10% of the fair
value of FSU Foundation's investment portfolio.

At June 30, 2018 and 2017,:8% of the fair value of FSU Foundation's investment portfolio in each year,
respectively, represents foreign investments.

Investments held by FSU Foundation with an equivalent fair value of $11,338,000 at June 30, 2018
collateralize certain debt agreements (see Notes 14 and 15).
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At June 30, 2018, the fair value of FSU Foundation's investments in debt securities by contractual
maturities is as follows:

Maturity
Within 1-5 6-10 More than
1 year years years 10 years Total
Corporate bonds $ 25,005 $ 1,462,981 $ 263,935 % - $ 1,751,921
U.S. government
securities 242,898 1,494,970 263,480 - 2,001,348
$ 267,903 $ 2,957,951 $ 527,415 $ - $ 3,753,269

At June 30, 2017, the fair value of FSU Foundation's Investments in debt securities by contractual
maturities is as follows:

Maturity
Within 1-5 6-10 More than
1 year years years 10 years Total
Corporate bonds $ 261,280 $ 853,493 $ 464,234 % - $ 1,579,007
U.S. government
securities 400,388 1,187,142 352,046 - 1,939,576
$ 661,668 $ 2,040,635 $ 816,280 $ - $ 3,518,583

The University investments are measured at fair value.on.arecurring basis and have been categorized
based upon the fair value hierarchy in accordance with GASB 72 below. Similarly, the FSU Foundation
follows similar guidance in accordance with/Financial’/Accounting Standards Codification ASC 820-10,
which prioritizes the inputs to.valuation techniques used to measure fair value of investment assets into
three levels also.

Level 1 - Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the
University can access at measurement date.

Level 2 -/ Inputs other than quote prices included within Level 1 that are observable for an asset or
liability, either.directly or indirectly.

Level 3 - Unobservable inputs for an asset or liability.
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The University's investments' fair value measurements are as follows at June 30, 2018:

Quoted prices in

active markets Significant other Significant
for identical observable unobservable
assets inputs inputs

Investments Fair value (Level 1) (Level2) (Level 3)

U.S. Treasury Notes and
Government Securities $ 1,295,626 $ - $ 17,295,626 $ -
Corporate Debt Securities 1,929,532 - 1,929,532 -
Equity Securities 6,825,505 6,825,505 - -
Mutual Funds 6,678,262 6,678,262 - -
$ 16,728,925 $ 13,503,767 $ 3,225,158 $ -

The University's investments' fair value measurements are as follows at June 30, 2017:

Quoted prices in

active markets Significant other Significant
for identical observable unobservable
assets inputs inputs
Investments Fair value (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

U.S. Treasury Notes and
Government Securities $ 1,293,367 $ - $ 1,293,367 $ -
Corporate Debt Securities 1,944,881 - 1,944,881 -
Equity Securities 6,273,275 6,273,275 - -
Mutual Funds 6,206,333 6,206,333 - -
$ 15,717,856 $ 12,479,608 $ 3,238,248 $ -

FSU Foundation's investments' fair value measurements are as follows at June 30, 2018:

Quoted prices in

active markets Significant other Significant
for identical observable unobservable
assets inputs inputs
Investments Fair value (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

U.S. Treasury"Notes and
Government Securities $ 2,001,348 $ - $ 2,001,348 $ -
Preferred Stocks 73,216 - 73,216 -
Corporate Bonds 1,751,921 - 1,751,921 -
Equity Securities 9,755,423 9,755,423 - -
Mutual Funds 5,207,596 5,207,596 - -
$ 18,789,504 $ 14,963,019 $ 3,826,485 $ -
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FSU Foundation's investments' fair value measurements are as follows at June 30, 2017:

Quoted prices in

active markets Significant other Significant
for identical observable unobservable
assets inputs inputs
Investments Fair value (Level 1) (Level2) (Level 3)

U.S. Treasury Notes and
Government Securities $ 1,939,576 $ - $ 1,939,576 $ -
Preferred Stocks 97,245 - 97,245 -
Corporate Bonds 1,579,007 - 1,579,007 -
Equity Securities 8,765,351 8,765,351 - -
Mutual Funds 4,480,726 4,480,726 - -
$ 16,861,905 $ 13,246,077 $ 3,615,828 $ -

Debt and equity securities categorized as Level 1 are valued based on,prices quoted in active markets
for those securities. Debt securities categorized as Level 2 are valued using a matrix pricing technique

that values securities based on their relationship to benchmark quoted prices.

Changes in FSU Foundation's board-designated and donor-restricted endowment net assets by type of

fund for the year ended June 30, 2018 are as follows:

Endowment net assets,

beginning of year

Investment return
Investment income
Appreciation (depreciation),
realized and-unrealized

Total investment return

Contributions

Appropriation of endowment

assets for expenditure

Investment management fees
Reclassification of net assets

Transfers to create:board-desginated
endowment funds

Transfer upon removal of donor restrictions

Endowment net assets,
end of year

Temporarily Permanently
restricted restricted
Unrestricted (Expendable) (Nonexpendable) Total
$ - $ 5,065,644 $ 9,776,806 $ 14,842,450
- 244,587 - 244,587
- 1,195,940 - 1,195,940
- 1,440,527 - 1,440,527
- 13,975 427,010 440,985
- (218,165) - (218,165)
- (77,283) - (77,283)
- (24,060) 500 (23,560)
25,000 - - 25,000
- - (1,350) (1,350)
$ 25,000 $ 6,200,638 $ 10,202,966 $ 16,428,604
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Changes in FSU Foundation's donor-restricted endowment net assets by type of fund for the year

ended June 30, 2017 are as follows:

Temporarily Permanently
restricted restricted
Unrestricted (Expendable) (Nonexpendable) Total

Endowment net assets,
beginning of year $ - $
Investment return
Investment income -
Appreciation (depreciation),
realized and unrealized -

4,130,783 $ 9,5

05,236 $ 13,636,019

Total investment return -

Contributions -
Appropriation of endowment

assets for expenditure -
Investment management fees -
Reclassification of net assets -

Endowment net assets,
end of year $ - $

231,627 - 231,627
1,060,615 2 1,060,615
14292,242 \ 1,292,242
12,140 245,750 257,890
(284,794) - (284,794)
(70,933) - (70,933)
(13,794) 25,820 12,026

$ 9776806 $ 14,842,450

Note 3 - Accounts and contributions‘receivable

The University's accounts receivable include the following at June 30, 2018 and 2017:

Student accounts receivable

Parking and other fines receivable
Commissions receivable

Grants receivable

Compass receivable, including accrued
interest of $11,848 and $7,540 (see Note 11)
FSU Foundation receivable

Miscellaneous other receivables

Less allowance for doubtful accounts
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2018 2017

2,086,686 $ 1,793,529
104,485 89,796
111,269 67,631
298,474 220,567
89,866 85,557
203,534 229,878

- 28,509
2,894,314 2,515,467
(640,926) (473,794)
2,253,388 $ 2,041,673
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FSU Foundation's contributions receivable consist of the following at June 30, 2018 and 2017:

2018 2017
Receivable in less than one year $ 106,585 $ 136,800
Receivable in one to five years 400 80,600
106,985 217,400
Discount on pledges (516) (1,215)

$ 106,469  $ 216,185

Contributions which are to be received in more than one year are reflected net of'a discount determined
at the time of contribution ranging from 1% to 2%.

Note 4 - Loans receivable

Loans receivable include the following at June 30, 2018 and 2017:

2018 2017
Perkins loans receivable $ 1,408,153 $ 1,601,156
Nursing loans receivable 295,643 326,342
Emergency student loans receivable 3,018 3,018

1,706,814 1,930,516
Less allowance for doubtful accounts (3,018) (3,018)

$ 1,703,796 $ 1,927,498

The federal dlaw-authorizing the disbursing of Perkins loans expired on September 30, 2017. As of
October1, 2017, the University is prohibited from issuing new Perkins loans to undergraduate students.
As of October 1, 2016, the University is prohibited from issuing new Perkins loans to graduate students
who received them prior.to October 1, 2015. The Perkins loan program ended any further new loans
being issued after September 30, 2017. The University may remit all federal proceeds and loans at any
time thereafter.to the Department of Education or continue to maintain them for five additional years.
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Note 5 - Capital assets

Capital assets activity of the University for the year ended June 30, 2018 is as follows:

Reclassifications*

Totals and Totals

Capital assets: June 30, 2017 Additions reductions June 30, 2018
Non-depreciable capital assets
Land $ 5,478,125 $ - $ - 5,478,125
Construction in progress 6,184,439 10,459,780 (4,312,293) 12,331,926
Total non-depreciable assets 11,662,564 10,459,780 (4,312,293) 17,810,051
Depreciable capital assets
Land improvements 16,777,625 655,169 146,528 17,579,322
Buildings 80,591,909 - - 80,591,909
Building improvements 146,360,296 5,572,887 3,688,309 155,621,492
Equipment 17,400,275 1,250,937 477,456 19,128,668
Furniture 597,676 - - 597,676
Library materials 493,446 98,149 (89,874) 501,721
Total depreciable assets 262,221,227 7,577,142 4,222,419 274,020,788
Total capital assets 273,883,791 18,036,922 (89,874) 291,830,839
Less: Accumulated depreciation
Land improvements 6,123,733 854,250 - 6,977,983
Buildings 42,266,570 1,153,760 - 43,420,330
Building improvements 36,417,644 7,248,539 - 43,666,183
Equipment 15,074,840 644,302 - 15,719,142
Furniture 597,676 - - 597,676
Library materials - 89,874 (89,874) -
Total accumulated depreciation 100,480,463 9,990,725 (89,874) 110,381,314
Capital assets, net $ 173,403,328 $ 8,046,197 $ - $ 181,449,525

As of June 30, 2018, capital assets of the University with a cost of approximately $54,241,000 were
fully depreciated.and still in service.

*

Construction costs incurred for various capital projects were included in construction in progress
and subsequently transferred to capital asset additions upon completion during the fiscal year
ended June 30, 2018.

The University enters into various contract commitments with contractors, from time to time, for
improvements to its facilities. Remaining contract commitments totaled approximately $3,773,000 and
$4,646,000 at June 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
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Capital assets activity of the University for the year ended June 30, 2017 is as follows:

Reclassifications*

Totals and Totals

Capital assets: June 30, 2016 Additions reductions June 30, 2017
Non-depreciable capital assets
Land $ 5,478,125 $ - $ - $ 5,478,125
Construction in progress 3,483,129 3,921,005 (1,219,695) 6,184,439

Total non-depreciable assets 8,961,254 3,921,005 (1,219,695) 11,662,564
Depreciable capital assets
Land improvements 16,777,625 - - 16,777,625
Buildings 80,591,909 - - 80,591,909
Building improvements 142,152,855 3,179,856 1,027,585 146,360,296
Equipment 15,888,447 1,319,718 192,110 17,400,275
Furniture 597,676 - - 597,676
Library materials 489,364 110,294 (106,212) 493,446

Total depreciable assets 256,497,876 4,609,868 1,113,483 262,221,227

Total capital assets 265,459,130 8,530,873 (106,212) 273,883,791
Less: Accumulated depreciation
Land improvements 5,285,393 838,340 - 6,123,733
Buildings 41,049,115 1,217,455 - 42,266,570
Building improvements 29,274,488 7,143,156 - 36,417,644
Equipment 14,254,576 820,264 - 15,074,840
Furniture 597,676 - - 597,676
Library materials - 106,212 (106,212) -
Total accumulated depreciation 90,461,248 10,125,427 (106,212) 100,480,463
Capital assets, net $ 174,997,882 $ (1,594554) $ - $ 173,403,328

As of June 30, 2017, capital assets of the University with a cost of approximately $52,804,000 were
fully depreciated and still in service.

* Construction costs incurred for various capital projects were included in construction in progress
and subsequently transferred to capital asset additions upon completion during the fiscal year
ended June 30, 2017.

The University has considered the requirements of GASB Statement No. 49, Accounting and Financial
Reporting for Pollution Remediation Obligations, and has noted no implications of this standard to the
University's financial statements for the years ended June 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
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Capital assets activity of FSU Foundation for the year ended June 30, 2018 is as follows:

Reclassifications
Totals and Totals
Capital assets: June 30, 2017 Additions reductions June 30, 2018
Real estate under lease to the University:
Land $ 402,663 $ - $ - $ 402,663
Building 1,557,724 - - 1,557,724
Building improvements 100,452 - - 100,452
2,060,839 - - 2,060,839
Real estate used for student housing:
Land 253,555 - - 253,555
Buildings 434,225 - - 434,225
Building improvements 28,600 - - 28,600
716,380 - - 716,380
Other:
Land 2,333,018 110,172 (726,493) 1,716,697
Land improvements 158,127 - - 158,127
Buildings 1,249,071 266,737 (135,892) 1,379,916
Building improvements 1,109,006 - - 1,109,006
Equipment 759,307 - - 759,307
Furniture and fixtures 60,773 - - 60,773
Library materials 6,570 - - 6,570
5,675,872 376,909 (862,385) 5,190,396
Total capital assets 8,453,091 376,909 (862,385) 7,967,615
Less: Accumulated depreciation
Real estate under lease to the University:
Building 421,883 38,944 - 460,827
Building improvements 51,063 5,022 - 56,085
472,946 43,966 - 516,912
Real estate used for student housing:
Buildings 109,461 10,856 - 120,317
Building improvements 11,202 1,430 - 12,632
120,663 12,286 - 132,949
Other:
Land improvements 75,250 11,145 - 86,395
Buildings 154,866 23,709 - 178,575
Building improvements 157,836 60,261 (4,813) 213,284
Equipment 657,238 93,711 - 750,949
Furniture and fixtures 34,378 4,280 - 38,658
Library materials 6,570 - - 6,570
1,086,138 193,106 (4,813) 1,274,431
Total accumulated depreciation 1,679,747 249,358 (4,813) 1,924,292
Capital assets, net $ 6,773,344 $ 127,551 $ (857,572) $ 6,043,323
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Non-depreciable capital assets of FSU Foundation total $2,372,915 at June 30, 2018, which is
comprised of land.

At June 30, 2018, capital assets of FSU Foundation with a cost of approximately $507,100 were fully
depreciated and still in service.

On November 28, 2017, the Foundation Supporting Organization transferred seven properties,
consisting solely of land, to the Commonwealth of Massachusetts acting®y and through DCAMM on
behalf of Fitchburg State University. On the date the properties were transferred; the seven properties
collectively had a net book value of $678,470. A loss of $678,470 was recorded from the transfers of
the properties and recognized in operations and maintenance~of plant in .ESU' Foundation's
accompanying 2018 statement of revenues, expenses and changes‘in net position.

On April 5, 2018, the Foundation Supporting Organization seld a property consisting of land and a
building to Massachusetts State College Building Authority ("MSCBA") with an original cost of $183,915
and a net book value of $179,102 for a net sales price of $133,196. A loss of $45,906 was recorded
from the sale of the property and recognized in operations and maintenance of plant in FSU
Foundation's accompanying 2018 statement ofrrevenues, expenses-and changes in net position. The
property is being renovated by MSCBA for use by the University for faculty/staff housing.

The Foundation Supporting Organization is planning a major.renovation and expansion of a property
consisting of land and a building that it acquired in fiscal2017. The renovation of the property which,
when completed is expected to cost approximately $25,000,000 and consist of a multi-phased project
providing academic space, student'support services space, retail and community space and a theatre
renovation. The space is expected'to be used by:the University and the Fitchburg and surrounding
communities. Fitchburg State University will be responsible for the costs of the project's development
and construction pursuant«to the terms<of.the license agreement between the University and the
Foundation Supporting Organization.-Funding for the project is expected to come from a variety of
sources including,but not limited to, New Market Tax Credits, Historic Tax Credits, bonds, grants and
philanthropy. The project’is in the very early stages of development and is estimated to require four
years to completion. At some point'during that period, the property will be transferred to a new entity.
The Foundation Supporting Organization will pay for certain legal services incurred in connection with
the project which the Foundation Supporting Organization currently estimates to be approximately
$148,000 for the entire project. For the year ended June 30, 2018, the Foundation Supporting
Organization has incurred $9,342 of legal costs related to the project. Fitchburg State University has
incurred.$3,181,520 of costs which have been capitalized to construction in progress as of June 30,
2018.
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Capital assets activity of FSU Foundation for the year ended June 30, 2017 is as follows:

Reclassifications

Totals and Totals
Capital assets: June 30, 2016 Additions reductions June 30, 2017
Real estate under lease to the University:
Land $ 402,663 $ - $ - $ 402,663
Building 1,557,724 - - 1,557,724
Building improvements 100,452 - - 100,452
2,060,839 - - 2,060,839
Real estate used for student housing:
Land 253,555 - - 253,555
Buildings 434,225 - - 434,225
Building improvements 28,600 - - 28,600
716,380 - - 716,380
Other:
Land 1,913,847 419,171 - 2,333,018
Land improvements 158,127 - - 158,127
Buildings 893,022 641,946 (285,897) 1,249,071
Building improvements 1,109,006 - - 1,109,006
Equipment 758,208 1,099 - 759,307
Furniture and fixtures 60,773 - - 60,773
Library materials 6,570 - - 6,570
4,899,553 1,062,216 (285,897) 5,675,872
Total capital assets 7,676,772 1,062,216 (285,897) 8,453,091
Less: Accumulated depreciation
Real estate under lease to the University:
Building 382,941 38,942 - 421,883
Building improvements 46,040 5,023 - 51,063
428,981 43,965 - 472,946
Buildings 98,605 10,856 - 109,461
Building improvements 9,772 1,430 - 11,202
108,377 12,286 - 120,663
Land improvements 61,410 13,840 - 75,250
Buildings 132,540 22,326 - 154,866
Building improvements 102,384 55,452 - 157,836
Equipment 558,167 99,071 - 657,238
Furniture and fixtures 28,797 5,581 - 34,378
Library materials 6,570 - - 6,570
889,868 196,270 - 1,086,138
Total accumulated depreciation 1,427,226 252,521 - 1,679,747
Capital assets, net $ 6,249,546 $ 809,695 $ (285,897) § 6,773,344

Non-depreciable capital assets of FSU Foundation totaled $2,989,236 at June 30, 2017, which is
comprised of land.
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At June 30, 2017, capital assets of FSU Foundation with a cost of approximately $507,100 were fully

depreciated and still in service.

In fiscal 2017, the Foundation Supporting Organization acquired three properties in close proximity to
the Fitchburg State University campus consistent with its mission and the University's strategic plan
which includes campus expansion. The properties, which each included land andra building, were
acquired for an aggregate cost of $359,467. The Foundation Supporting Organization razed the
buildings on the properties to create green space. As a result of its decision to raze the buildings,
management determined, in accordance with the requirements of accounting guidance, that the
properties were impaired and they were written down to their aggregate fair value of $73,570 resulting
in an impairment charge to operations in the amount of $285,897. The.impairment-charges’(noncash
accounting charges) to operations on the three properties are included in operations.and maintenance
of plantin FSU Foundation's accompanying 2017 statement.of revenues, expenses, and changes in net
position and had no impact on FSU Foundation's fiscal 2017 cash flow orits.ability to generate cash
flow in the future. The fair values of the properties were measured using significant unobservable inputs
(Level 3) pursuant to the accounting guidance on, fair value measurements. The fair values of the

properties were determined based upon the properties' assessment.values at the purchase dates.
Note 6 - Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities.include the following.at June 30, 2018 and 2017:

2018 2017
Accounts payable - trade $ 1,367,592  § 777,936
Salaries and fringe benefits payable 1,758,301 1,022,131
Accrued interest payable 286,962 355,647
Tuition due State 75,539 75,766
Other 356,036 463,583

$ 3844430 § 2,695,063

Note 7 - Accrued workers'"compensation

Independent actuarial'reviews of the outstanding loss reserve requirements for the Commonwealth of
Massachusetts' self-insured workers' compensation program were conducted as of June 30, 2018 and
2017. Based<upon the Commonwealth's analyses, $648,771 and $581,018 of accrued workers'

compensation-has been recorded as a liability at June 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
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Note 8 - Accrued compensated absences

Accrued compensated absences are comprised of the following at June 30, 2018 and 2017:

2018 2017

Vacation time payable $ 2,623,970 $ 2,430,615
Sick time payable 2,717,311 2,730,631
Total $ 5,341,281 $ 5,161,246
Amount representing obligations due to employees

funded through sources other than State appropriations '$ 248,299 $ 224,486
Amount representing obligations due to employees

compensated through State appropriations 5,092,982 4,936,760
Total $ 5,341,281 $ 5,161,246

It is anticipated that the obligation.due to employees funded through State appropriations will be
discharged through future State appropriations and the balance is expected to be liquidated through
trust funds. Had these amounts not been reflected as.obligations of the University, the University's
unrestricted net position (deficiency) balances would be $(2,843,456) and $(2,523,152) at June 30,
2018 and 2017, respectively (see Note 1, Compensated absences).

Note 9 - Faculty payroll accrual

The contract for/full-time faculty begins on September 1 and ends on May 31, of any given academic
year. The Commonwealth of Massachusetts and Fitchburg State University pay all faculty over the 12-
month period. from.September through August. Consequently, on June 30 of each year there is a
balance “‘due’-on. each faculty ‘contract which is to be paid from the subsequent year's State
appropriation. The total amoeuntdue at June 30, 2018 of $3,510,359 will be paid from the University's
fiscal 2019 State appropriations. The total amount due at June 30, 2017 of $3,342,746 was paid from
the University's fiscal 2018 State appropriations.

Note 10 - Revenue.received in advance

Revenue received in advance includes tuition received in advance from students for summer courses
commencing after June 30 and grant funds received in advance.
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Revenue received in advance includes the following at June 30, 2018 and 2017:

2018 2017
Tuition, fees and professional development $ 1,215,856  $ 1,036,336
Grants 103,367 787,961
Other 98,330 29,997

$ 1,417,553 $ 1,854,294

Note 11 - Deferred inflows of resources from service concession arrangement

Deferred inflows of resources from service concession arrangement-at June 30, 2018and 2017 in the
amounts of $1,517,508 and $1,770,425, respectively, consist of the unamortized balances of a service
concession arrangement with Compass Group USA, Inc. ("Compass").to manage and operate the
University's food services operation at the University's diningservices locations as more fully described
in the arrangement. The service concession arrangement commenced on July 1, 1999 for a term of 10
years through June 30, 2009 and has been.amended several times thereafter to modify its terms,
provide for additional payments to the University for investment in improvements in or at the University
as mutually agreed upon by the parties, and.extend the term of the arrangement until June 30, 2024.
The last such amendment to the service concession arrangement was effective May 1, 2014 and
provides for the extension of the arrangement to June 30, 2024 and payments to the University totaling
$2,500,000. These payments shall.be made to the University by Compass in seven installments as
follows: $300,000 in fiscal 2011;.$1,200,000 infiscal 2012; $200,000 in fiscal 2014; $500,000 in fiscal
2015; $200,000 in fiscal 2016;'$50,000 in fiscal 2020; and $50,000 in fiscal 2022. As of June 30, 2018,
the University has received.the first five installments from Compass. In addition, Compass has agreed
to pay the University specified percentages of 4%, 4 2% or 12% of specified sales receipts from the
food services operation as,more fully described in the arrangement. All improvements and equipment
purchased with the payments received from Compass shall remain the property of the University. The
arrangement may.be terminated by either party at any time, without cause, by giving not less than 60
days prior written notice to the other party. The arrangement contains provisions, whereby, in the event
of termination of the arrangement, the University shall be required to repay a portion of any payments
made-to. the University by. Compass. The portion required to be repaid shall be determined in
accordance with amortization schedules prepared by Compass. The amortization schedules assume
that all funds will be received from Compass. The University does not anticipate that the arrangement
will be terminated prior to its expiration date.

The University'has recorded the service concession arrangement as a deferred inflow of resources at
its present value using a 5% discount rate determined by management of the University. In fiscal 2011,
the University recorded an accounts receivable from Compass at the present value of the future
payments to be received from Compass, using a 5% discount rate determined by management of the
University. At June 30, 2018, the accompanying statement of net position includes a remaining
receivable from Compass in the amount of $89,866, which includes accrued interest receivable of
$11,848 (see Note 3). At June 30, 2017, the accompanying statement of net position includes a
remaining receivable from Compass in the amount of $85,557, which includes accrued interest
receivable of $7,540 (see Note 3). The deferred inflow of resources is being amortized to revenue on a
straight-line basis over the term of the arrangement. Amortization in the amounts of $252,918 has been
recognized in capital grants revenue in the accompanying statements of revenues, expenses and
changes in net position for each of the years ended June 30, 2018 and 2017.

56

Powered by BoardOnTrack 68 of 178



Fitchburg State University - Board of Trustees - Agenda - Tuesday October 30, 2018 at 10:00 AM

Note 12 - Interagency payables

The University, in association with the Massachusetts State College Building Authority ("MSCBA"), the Massachusetts Development Finance
Agency ("MDFA"), and the Commonwealth of Massachusetts Division of Capital Asset:Management and Maintenance ("DCAMM"), has
entered into financing and construction agreements for various campus projects:

Fitchburg State University

(a department of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts)

Notes to Financial Statements
June 30, 2018 and 2017

The following table summarizes the University's Interagency payables as ofdune 30, 2018:

MDFA Series J-3
MSCBA Series 2005A
MSCBA Series 2006A
MSCBA Series 2010B
MSCBA Series 2012A
MSCBA Series 2012C
MSCBA Series 2014A
MSCBA Series 2014C
DCAMM CEIP Funds
MSCBA Series 2017A

Total

Effective
Original Interest interest Interagency Unamortized Total interagency
Issue date amount rates (%) Due date rates (%)* payable balance  bond premiums payable

11/22/1996 $ 6,000,000 Floating 7/1/2023 4.61 $ 2,256,705 $ - $ 2,256,705
3/1/2005 5,110,000 3.50-5.00 5/1/2025 3.86 2,255,000 - 2,255,000
3/8/2006 2,060,000 3.50-5.00 5/1/2026 4.07 1,050,000 43,571 1,093,571
12/17/2010 11,078,908 4.89-6.54 5/1/2030 3.38 11,078,908 - 11,078,908
1/4/2012 7,043,416 3.00-5.00 5/1/2031 4.96 4,810,000 613,181 5,423,181
12/20/2012 13,864,033 2.00-5.00 5/1/2032 3.27 10,320,000 810,241 11,130,241
1/7/2014 12,235,614 2.00-5.00 5/1/2033 5.00 9,510,000 1,000,226 10,510,226
12/17/2014 10,669,502 3.00-5.00 5/1/2034 4.93 8,235,000 1,320,371 9,555,371
11/7/2016 5,420,360 3.00 1/1/2039 0.00 5,420,360 - 5,420,360
1/25/2017 4,166,418 3.00-5.00 6/30/2037 3.60 3,835,000 227,105 4,062,105
$ 77,648,251 $ 58,770,973 $ 4,014,695 $ 62,785,668

*Effective Interest Rates are calculated by dividing total interest paid during the year by the average outstanding balance of the Interagency payable.

Powered by BoardOnTrack

57

69 of 178



Fitchburg State University - Board of Trustees - Agenda - Tuesday October 30, 2018 at 10:00 AM

Fitchburg State University

(a department of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts)

Notes to Financial Statements
June 30, 2018 and 2017

The following table summarizes the University's Interagency payables as of June 30, 2017:

MDFA Series J-3
MSCBA Series 2005A
MSCBA Series 2006A
MSCBA Series 2010A
MSCBA Series 2010B
MSCBA Series 2012A
MSCBA Series 2012C
MSCBA Series 2014A
MSCBA Series 2014C
DCAMM CEIP Funds
MSCBA Series 2017A

Total

Original Interest interest Interagency Unamortized Total interagency
Issue date amount rates (%) Due date rates (%)* payable balance ~ bond premiums payable

11/22/1996 $ 6,000,000 Floating 7/1/2023 2.1 $ 2,566,545 $ - $ 2,566,545
3/1/2005 5,110,000 3.50-5.00 5/1/2025 3.03 2,530,000 - 2,530,000
3/8/2006 2,060,000 3.50-5.00 5/1/2026 3.75 1,155,000 49,254 1,204,254
12/17/2010 4,856,749 3.00-5.00 5/1/2018 3.38 717,403 23,942 741,345
12/17/2010 11,078,908 4.89-6.54 5/1/2030 3.38 11,078,908 - 11,078,908
1/4/2012 7,043,416 3.00-5.00 5/1/2031 4.95 5,075,000 658,602 5,733,602
12/20/2012 13,864,033 2.00-5.00 5/1/2032 3.25 10,880,000 866,442 11,746,442
1/7/2014 12,235,614 2.00-5.00 5/1/2033 4.97 9,930,000 1,064,757 10,994,757
12/17/2014 10,669,502 3.00-5.00 5/1/2034 4.86 8,575,000 1,400,597 9,975,597

11/7/2016 5,420,360 3.00 1/1/2039 0.00 - - -
1/25/2017 4,166,418 3.00-5.00 6/30/2037 3.28 3,922,000 239,326 4,161,326
$ 82,505,000 $ 56,429,856 $ 4,302,920 $ 60,732,776

*Effective Interest Rates are calculated by dividing total interest paid during the year by the average outstanding balance of the Interagency payable.
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MDFA Series J-3 bond issuance

On November 22, 1996, the University signed a financing agreement to receive $6,000,000 from a
MDFA (formerly Massachusetts Health and Educational Facilities Authority ("MHEFA")) bond issuance
to be used for the construction of the University's athletic facility. This obligation is being repaid solely
by the University. Construction of the athletic facility was completed in August 2000. MDFA retained
$502,899 of the bond proceeds for a debt service retirement fund.

The University is required to make annual funding payments of principal.on this debt each July 1. The
principal payment due July 1, 2018 of $293,344 was made as scheduled. These payments are made to
a restricted cash account held in escrow in the University's name andirecorded onhe books of the
University. These amounts, along with the remaining balance of the debt service retirement fund, are
held in an escrow account by MDFA. Earnings on this balance ‘are transferred and used by the
University to offset the administrative costs associated with this.debt. In a prioryear, the University
elected to release the annual funding payments from the reserve to redeem portions of the debt
obligation. Accordingly, each year the funding payments are now being released from the debt service
reserve to redeem portions of the outstanding debt obligation./These debt payments are to be repaid by
the University solely from student fees.

Interest on the debt is paid every 35 days at a floating rate of interest subject to market conditions. The
interest rate is determined by MDFA conductingatrue auction of their debt issuance every 35 days, in
which the University's obligation is peoled. with other higher education institutions within the
Commonwealth who have debt funded through MDFA:The most recent auctioned interest rate in effect
at June 30, 2018 and 2017 was 5.943% and 1.737%, respectively. The University is also responsible to
pay for program expenses at an annual rate of 0.926%(2018) and 0.900% (2017) of the outstanding
principal balance, calculated and,payable every 35.days when the rate is auctioned.

MDFA is responsible to determine, subjectito certain criteria, if income earned on unexpended bond
proceeds exceeds the interest cost to.the bondholders. Any excess income earned is held in a rebate
fund by an appointed trustee. Such amounts are held until every fifth year, whereby payment is to be
made as indicated by:the bond indenture-agreement.

MSCBA Series 2005A bond issuance

During March 2005, the University signed a financing agreement to receive $5,110,000 from a MSCBA
bondsissuance. These funds were used for renovations of the athletic fields and dining hall (the
"Projects") at the University.<This obligation will be repaid solely by the University through dedicated
student fees.

The University .is'required to make annual principal payments on this debt each May 1. The final
principal payment.is due on May 1, 2025. Interest on the debt is payable May 1 and November 1 each
year. Interest payments are based on an amortization schedule prepared by MSCBA using an
increasing coupon rate of interest ranging from 3.50% to 5.00% over the term of the debt to maturity.
Funds from the debt service reserve fund are expected to be applied to the final payment on the debt.
Earnings on the balance in the debt service reserve fund are to be used to defray debt service costs.
The effective interest rate at June 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively, reflects interest savings as a result
of bond refundings in prior years.

MSCBA Series 2006A bond issuance

During March 2006, the University signed a financing agreement to receive $2,060,000 from a MSCBA
bond issuance. These funds were used for renovations of the dining hall (the "Project") at the
University. This obligation will be repaid solely by the University through dedicated student fees.
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As of June 30, 2018 and 2017, MSCBA held debt service reserve funds in the amount of $144,841
each year, which are included in the accompanying statements of net position at June 30, 2018 and
2017 as noncurrent restricted cash and cash equivalents.

The University is required to make annual principal payments on this debt each May 1. The final
principal payment is due on May 1, 2026. Interest on the debt is payable May 1 and November 1 each
year. Interest payments are based on an amortization schedule prepared by MSCBA using an
increasing coupon rate of interest ranging from 3.50% to 5.00% over the term, of the debt to maturity.
Funds from the debt service reserve fund are expected to be applied to the final'payment on the debt.
Earnings on the balance in the debt service reserve fund are to be used to defray debt service costs.

MSCBA Series 2010A bond issuance

During December 2010, the University signed a financing.agreement to receive $4,856,749 from a
MSCBA bond issuance. These funds, net of bond issuance.costs and a debt service reserve fund, were
used for renovations to the Hammond Campus Center. This obligation was repaid solely by the
University through dedicated student fees and operating.funds.

During 2018, debt service reserve funds in the-amount of $405,288 were released and applied to the
final payment on the debt. As of June 30, 2018 and 2017, MSCBA held debt service reserve funds in
the amount of $80,326 and $485,614, respectively, which is included in the accompanying statements
of net position at June 30, 2018 and 2017 as noncurrent restricted cash and cash equivalents.

The University was required to make,annual principal payments on this debt each May 1. The final
principal payment was due on May 17:2018. Interest on the debt was payable May 1 and November 1
each year. Interest payments were.based on an.amortization schedule prepared by MSCBA with
interest rates ranging from 3.00%to 5.00% over the term of the debt to maturity. Earnings on the
balance in the debt service reserve fund were used to defray debt service costs. During May 2018, the
University made the final payment on.the 2010A bonds.

MSCBA Series«2010B bond issuance

During December 2010, the University signed a financing agreement to receive $11,078,908 from a
MSCBA bond.issuance. These funds;net of bond issuance costs and a debt service reserve fund, were
used for‘renovations to the Hammond Campus Center. This obligation will be repaid solely by the
University through dedicated student fees and operating funds.

As of June 30, 2018 and 2017, MSCBA held debt service reserve funds in the amount of $964,163
each year, which are included in the accompanying statements of net position at June 30, 2018 and
2017 as noncurrent restricted cash and cash equivalents.

The University is required to make annual principal payments on this debt each May 1 commencing in
fiscal 2019. The final principal payment is due on May 1, 2030. Interest on the debt is payable May 1
and November 1 each year. Interest payments are based on an amortization schedule prepared by
MSCBA with interest rates ranging from 4.89% to 6.54% over the term of the debt to maturity. Funds
from the debt service reserve fund are expected to be applied to the final payment on the debt.
Earnings on the balance in the debt service reserve fund are to be used to defray debt service costs.
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MSCBA Series 2012A bond issuance

During December 2011, the University signed a financing agreement to receive $7,043,416 from a
MSCBA bond issuance. These funds, net of bond issuance costs, were used for renovations to the
Hammond Campus Center. This obligation will be repaid solely by the University through dedicated
student fees and operating funds.

The University is required to make annual principal payments on this debt each May 1. The final
principal payment is due on May 1, 2031. Interest on the debt is payable May 1 and November 1 each
year. Interest payments are based on an amortization schedule prepared by MSCBA with'interest rates
ranging from 3.00% to 5.00% over the term of the debt to maturity.

MSCBA Series 2012C bond issuance

During December 2012, the University signed a financing agreement to receive $13,864,033 from a
MSCBA bond issuance. These funds, net of bond issuance.costs and a debt service reserve fund, were
used for Phase lll of renovations to the Hammond Campus Center_and parking expansion. This
obligation will be repaid solely by the University through dedicated student.fees and operating funds.

As of June 30, 2018 and 2017, MSCBA held debt service reserve funds in the amount of $214,164
each year, which are included in the accompanying statements of net position at June 30, 2018 and
2017 as noncurrent restricted cash and cash equivalents.

The University is required to make annual“principal-payments on this debt each May 1. The final
principal payment is due on May 1, 2032. Interest on the debt is payable May 1 and November 1 each
year. Interest payments are based on-an.amortization schedule prepared by MSCBA with interest rates
ranging from 2.00% to 5.00% over the term of the debt to maturity. Funds from the debt service reserve
fund are expected to be applied.to the finalpaymenton the debt. Earnings on the balance in the debt
service reserve fund are to'be used to defray debt service costs.

MSCBA Series 2014A bond issuance

During January 2014, the University.signed a financing agreement to receive $12,235,614 from a
MSCBA bondfissuance. Thesefunds, net of bond issuance costs and a debt service reserve fund, were
used for Phase IV of renovations to the Hammond Campus Center. This obligation will be repaid solely
by the University.through.dedicated student fees and operating funds.

As of June 30, 2018'and 2017, MSCBA held debt service reserve funds in the amount of $667,799
each year, which.are included in the accompanying statements of net position at June 30, 2018 and
2017 as noncurrentirestricted cash and cash equivalents.

The University is required to make annual principal payments on this debt each May 1. The final
principal payment is due on May 1, 2033. Interest on the debt is payable May 1 and November 1 each
year. Interest payments are based on an amortization schedule prepared by MSCBA with interest rates
ranging from 2.00% to 5.00% over the term of the debt to maturity. Funds from the debt service reserve
fund are expected to be applied to the final payment on the debt. Earnings on the balance in the debt
service reserve fund are to be used to defray debt service costs.

MSCBA Series 2014C bond issuance

During December 2014, the University signed a financing agreement to receive $10,669,503 from a
MSCBA bond issuance. These funds, net of bond issuance costs and a debt service reserve fund, are
being used for Phase V of renovations to the Hammond Campus Center. This obligation will be repaid
solely by the University through dedicated student fees and operating funds. The University also
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executed a management agreement with MSCBA whereby MSCBA provided management services to
the University for the renovations.

As of June 30, 2018 and 2017, amounts held by MSCBA related to the debt issue and the Project are
as follows:

2018 2017
Unexpended debt proceeds $ - $ 7,533
Debt service reserve fund 596,968 596,968

$ 596,968 $ 604,501

The amounts held by MSCBA are included in the accompanying, statements of net position at June 30,
2018 and 2017:

2018 2017
Restricted cash and cash equivalents:
Current $ - $ 7,533
Noncurrent 596,968 596,968

$ 596,968 $ 604,501

During fiscal 2018, the remaining.unexpended MSCBA bond proceeds from Phase V in the amount of
$2,530 were transferred to the. Landry Arena renovation project. During fiscal 2017, unexpended
MSCBA bond proceeds from.priorissuances.in the amount of $972,628 were transferred to Phase V for
renovations of the Hammond Campus Center project. From this amount, unexpended proceeds
amounted to $7,533 at June 30, 2017, which are included in the accompanying 2017 statement of net
position as current restricted cash and.cash equivalents.

The University is,required to'make.-annual principal payments on this debt each May 1. The final
principal‘payment is due-May 1,:2034. Interest on the debt is payable May 1 and November 1 each
year.dnterest payments are-based on an amortization schedule prepared by MSCBA with interest rates
rangingfrom 3.00% t0.5.00% over the term of the debt to maturity. Funds from the debt service reserve
fund are expected to be applied to the final payment on the debt. Earnings on the balance in the debt
service reserve-fund are to be used to defray debt service costs.

DCAMM Clean_ Energy Investment Program

In November 2016, the University entered into a Memorandum of Understanding with DCAMM to
undertake a Comprehensive Energy Performance Contracting Project (the "Project"). The Project's goal
is to upgrade boilers, replace the chiller, lighting, EMS expansion and improvements, HVAC upgrades,
and various energy conservation measures.

The total estimated cost for the Project is $9,270,332, including estimated contingency costs of
$900,000. The cost of the Project is expected to be funded from Clean Energy Investment Program
Funds ("CEIP Funds") in the amount of $5,420,360, capital grants of $3,600,000, and energy incentives
from the contractor in the amount of $249,972. CEIP Funds for the Project are to be repaid over 20
years at 3.00% interest. Annual payments of principal and interest for the Project in the amount of
$364,333 will commence on January 1, 2020. Additionally, the agreement provides for the University to
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fund annual maintenance costs to be paid over the first five years of the Project totaling approximately
$244,500. These maintenance costs are expected to be offset by energy savings as a result of the
Project.

MSCBA Series 2017A bond issuance

During January 2017, the University signed a financing agreement to receive $4,166,418 from a
MSCBA bond issuance. These funds, net of bond issuance costs and a debt service reserve fund, are
being used for renovations to the Landry Arena. This obligation will be repaidisolely by the University
through dedicated student fees and operating funds. The University/also executed a‘management
agreement with MSCBA whereby MSCBA is providing management services to the WUniversity for the
renovations.

As of June 30, 2018 and 2017, amounts held by MSCBA related to the debt issue.and'the Project are
as follows:

2018 2017
Unexpended debt proceeds $ 191,655 $ 3,740,460
Debt service reserve fund 103,073 103,073

$ 294,728 % 3,843,533

The amounts held by MSCBA are included in the accompanying statements of net position at June 30,
2018 and 2017:

2018 2017
Restricted cash and cash equivalents:
Current $ 191,655  $ -
Noncurrent 103,073 3,843,533

$ 294,728 $ 3,843,533

ThedUniversity is required to make annual principal payments on this debt each June 30 commencing in
fiscal 2018. The final principal payment is due June 30, 2037. Interest on the debt is payable June 30
and December 30 each year. Interest payments are based on an amortization schedule prepared by
MSCBA with interest rates ranging from 3.00% to 5.00% over the term of the debt to maturity. Funds
from the debt service reserve fund are expected to be applied to the final payment on the debt.
Earnings on the balance in the debt service reserve fund are to be used to defray debt service costs.
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Aggregate principal and interest payments due to maturity consist of the following:

Amortization of Estimated
Year ending June 30: Principal bond premium Total principal interest (1) Total
2019 $ 3,223,066 $ 264,283 $ 3,487,349 $ 2,235,779 $ 5,723,128
2020 3,568,669 264,283 3,832,952 2,255,014 6,087,966
2021 3,709,660 264,283 3,973,943 2,104,445 6,078,388
2022 3,886,365 264,283 4,150,648 1,931,191 6,081,839
2023 4,059,860 264,283 4,324,143 1,757,930 6,082,073
2024 - 2028 19,949,675 1,308,153 21,257,828 6,262,340 27,520,168
2029 - 2033 16,635,013 1,224,343 17,859,356 2,448,884 20,308,240
2034 - 2038 3,384,941 160,784 3,545,725 306,700 3,852,425
2039 - 2043 353,724 - 353,724 10,612 364,336
Total $ 58,770,973 $ 4,014,695 $ 62,785,668 $ 19,312,895 $ 82,098,563

(1) The interest rate in effect at June 30, 2018 of 5.943% was used to calculate the estimated interest
on the MDFA Series J-3 bond included above.

Other Interagency activity

The oversight of various capital projects on campus is provided by MSCBA. To fund these projects, the
University provides equity contributions;.by advancing funds:.to the MSCBA, which are then held by
MSCBA until used for the payment of the capital project costs. During fiscal 2018, the University
provided an equity contribution of $1,000,000 toward the Southside Chiller Project, of which $290,598
of these funds was subsequently. transferred to the Eitchburg Theatre account at MSCBA for the
Fitchburg Theatre renovations project. During fiseal 2018, Landry Arena funds of $350,000 were
transferred to the Fitchburg Theatre account at MSCBA for the Fitchburg Theatre renovations project.
As of June 30, 2018, amounts held by MSCBA representing the unexpended portion of the University's
contributions totaled $43,257 related-to the Southside Chiller Project, $3,809 related to the Landry
Arena Project, and'$660,931 related to the Fitchburg Theatre Project, of which $172,084 is included in
current restricted cash.and cash equivalents and $535,913 is included in noncurrent restricted cash and
cash equivalents‘in the accompanying 2018 statement of net position. During 2017, the University
provided an equity-contribution of.$800,000 toward the Southside Chiller Project. During 2017, the
University,provided the remaining equity contribution of $972,628 to fund their portion of the renovation
costs’of Phase V of the Hammond Campus Center project, of which $350,000 of these funds was
subsequently transferred to the Landry Arena account at MSCBA for the Landry renovations project. As
of June 30, 2017;.amounts held by MSCBA representing the unexpended portion of the University's
contributions totaled $98,323 related to the Hammond Campus Center project, $832,283 related to the
Southside Chiller project, and $344,308 related to the Landry Arena project, of which $297,053 is
included in current restricted cash and cash equivalents and $977,861 is included in noncurrent
restricted cash and cash equivalents in the accompanying 2017 statement of net position.

Note 13 - Capital lease obligation

During fiscal year 2017, the University entered into a noncancellable capital lease agreement with a
financial institution in the amount of $1,261,206 for an upgrade to its wireless network equipment. The
lease has a term of five years and requires semi-annual payments of $132,483, which commenced on
March 23, 2017 and continues through September 23, 2021. The assets and capital lease obligation
were recorded at the present value of the future minimum lease payments based upon an interest rate
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of 1.81% which was determined to be applicable at the inception of the lease. The capital lease
obligation is secured by the related assets.

The University's wireless network equipment held under capital lease totaled $1,261,206 as of both
June 30, 2018 and 2017. The assets under the capital lease are being depreciated over their estimated
useful lives and the depreciation of these assets is included in depreciation expense..The accumulated
depreciation on the leased assets amounted to $441,422 and $189,181 atJune 30, 2018 and 2017,
respectively. Depreciation expense totaled $252,241 and $189,181 for the years ended June 30, 2018
and 2017, respectively.

Interest expense incurred on the capital lease totaled $19,530 and"$11,414 in fiscal 2018.and 2017,
respectively.

The following is a schedule of future minimum lease payments under this_capital lease at June 30,
2018:

Year ending June 30, Amount
2019 $ 264,966
2020 264,966
2021 264,966
2022 132,483
Total minimum lease payments 927,381
Less amount representing interest (32,679)
Present value of-future minimum lease payments 894,702
Less current portion 249,898
Present.value of:long-term portion $ 644,804
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Note 14 - FSU Foundation long-term debt

FSU Foundation's long-term debt consists of the following at June 30, 2018 and 2017:

2018 2017
First mortgage notes payable $ 3,064,779 $ 3,123,323
Notes payable - bank 514,276 533,121
3,579,055 3,656,444
Less net debt issuance costs (20,333) (23,801)
3,558,722 3,632,643
Less current portion (756,909) (188,765)

$ 2,801,813 $ 3,443,878

The Foundation has a mortgage note payable.in the original amount of $550,000, dated April 16, 2008,
with Fidelity Cooperative Bank. The proceeds of the note were used to acquire certain real estate
properties on the Fitchburg State University campus. The note is secured by a first mortgage interest in
the real estate and related personal property.located thereon, and an assignment of leases and rents.
Furthermore, any and all deposits held by the lender serve as additional collateral for the loan.

The loan agreement has a termof 20 years andprovided for a fixed rate of interest of 5.75% per annum
for the first 10 years of the loan.term. Thereafter, theiinterest rate was to be fixed at the Federal Home
Loan Bank Ten Year Cost.of Funds Rate.in effect as of the first day of the final 10 years of the term of
the loan plus 118 basis'points.“The interest rate was adjusted to 4.27% per annum for the remainder of
the loan term pursuant to the provisions of a Change in Terms Agreement dated October 19, 2016. The
loan required monthly installments ‘of principal and interest of $3,862 through October 16, 2016.
Thereafter, the loan requires monthly installments of principal and interest of $2,454 commencing on
November 16, 2016 .with a final principal payment due in the amount of $210,752 at the loan's maturity
date of April 16, 2028. The note.may be prepaid at any time, in whole or in part, without premium or
penalty:

At June 30, 2018 and 2017,the outstanding principal balance of this mortgage note payable amounted
to $372,278 and $385,211, respectively.

In August 2006, the Foundation Supporting Organization acquired land and a building consisting of
4,179 square feet of office space and 53,429 square feet of warehouse space located in Fitchburg,
Massachusetts near the University campus. The entire property has been leased to DCAMM on behalf
of the University (see Note 23). The University is currently using the property for its print services,
maintenance, and shipping and receiving and financial services.

The acquisition and related costs were funded with the proceeds of an offering of tax-exempt revenue
bonds, Massachusetts Development Finance Agency Revenue Bonds, FSC Foundation Supporting
Organization Issue, Series 2006 (the "bonds"), dated August 1, 2006, in the amount of $1,900,000,
issued by the Massachusetts Development Finance Agency ("MDFA"), pursuant to a Loan and Trust
Agreement. People's United Bank, as successor in interest to Chittenden Trust Company, is the bond
Trustee. MDFA assigned all of its rights, title, and interest in and to the loan and related loan
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documents to the bond Trustee as security for repayment of the bonds. The loan is secured by a first
mortgage interest in the real estate and related personal property located thereon, and an assignment
of leases and rents. Payment and performance of the Foundation Supporting Organization's obligations
under the loan agreement have been guaranteed by the Foundation.

The loan agreement has a term of 20 years and provides for a fixed rate of interest 0f 5.5% per annum
for the first five years of the loan term. Thereafter, the interest rate will be adjusted at five-year intervals
(August 16, 2011, 2016 and 2021) to a fixed rate of interest equal to 80% ‘of the bank's prime rate, but
no greater than 1% or less than 1% of the interest rate in effect for the immediately preceding five-year
adjustment interval. The interest rate was adjusted to 4.5% per annum on August 16,2011 pursuant to
the provisions of the loan agreement. The loan required monthly installments of principal andinterest of
$13,154 through August 16, 2011 and $12,306 until August 16,,2016: The interest rate was adjusted to
3.5% per annum on August 16, 2016 pursuant to the provisions of the loan agreement. Commencing
thereafter, the monthly installments of principal and interest.are $11,739 until.the next five-year interval
adjustment date of August 16, 2021. The loan matures on August 16, 2026. The loan agreement
requires the Foundation Supporting Organization,to maintain a Debt Service Coverage Ratio, as
defined, of not less than 1.10 to 1 to be measured'annually at the end of its fiscal year.

The mortgage note was issued pursuant to the Loan and Trust/Agreement and related loan documents
and is subject to and governed by the terms.and-conditions of those agreements. The loan may be
prepaid in accordance with the terms ofthe Loan and Trust Agreement for prepayment of the bonds as
more fully described in the Loan and Trust Agreement.

The loan documents contain cross default provisions with'the DCAMM lease.

As of June 30, 2018, the outstanding principal balance of the loan of $997,414, less net debt issuance
costs of $20,333, amounted.to $977,081«

As of June 30, 2017, the outstanding principal balance of the mortgage note payable of $1,100,877,
less net debt isstiance costs of $23,801, amounted to $1,077,076.

Workers' Credit Union ("WCW") provided financing to the Foundation Supporting Organization in the
form of a note,.dated February 27, 2009, in the amount of $750,000. The note is secured by a first
mortgage interest in certain.real estate owned by the Foundation Supporting Organization and an
assignment of certain leases and rents. The note is also collateralized by all funds held by the lender.
At June .30, 2018 and 2017, 'the Foundation Supporting Organization has total cash balances of $6,935
and $6,308, respectively, held by the lender which serve as additional collateral for the loan.

The mortgage note has a term of 10 years, expiring on February 27, 2019, and provided for a fixed rate
of interest of 5.74% per annum. The interest rate was adjusted to 4.99% per annum on June 20, 2013
pursuant to the provisions of a loan modification agreement. The note required monthly installments of
principal and interest of $4,714, through June 20, 2013, based on a 20-year principal amortization.
Commencing thereafter, the monthly installments of principal and interest are $4,422, based on a 20-
year principal amortization with a final principal payment due in the amount of $561,619 at the loan's
maturity date of February 27, 2019.

At June 30, 2018 and 2017, the outstanding principal balance of this first mortgage loan amounted to
$576,100 and $599,769, respectively.
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Rollstone Bank & Trust provided financing to the Foundation Supporting Organization in the form of a
note, dated December 22, 2014 in the amount of $240,000. The note is secured by a first mortgage
interest in the real estate property located at 131 Highland Avenue in Fitchburg, Massachusetts and an
assignment of leases and rents on the property. The note has a term of 20 years, maturing on
December 22, 2034, and provides for a fixed rate of interest of 3.25% per annum. The loan requires
monthly installments of principal and interest of $1,367 based on a 20-year principalamortization. The
loan agreement requires the Foundation Supporting Organization to maintain a ratio of Cash Flow (after
distributions), as defined, to the Current Maturity of Long-Term Debt plus interest, as defined, of not
less than 1.0 to 1 for any fiscal year. The loan agreement also contains, among other covenants,
restrictions relating to future borrowings, capital expenditures by lease or purchase, distributions,
making of advances or loans to other parties, making of investments;.and sale,lease or.transfer of
assets, except as provided for and as more fully described insthe loan agreement.

At June 30, 2018 and 2017, the outstanding principal balance of the mortgage.note payable amounted
to $208,551 and $217,912, respectively.

Fidelity Co-Operative Bank provided financing to the Foundation Supporting Organization in the form of
a note, dated June 26, 2013, in the amount of $83;200. The note‘is secured by a first mortgage interest
in the real estate property located at 340°Highland Avenue in Fitchburg, Massachusetts and an
assignment of leases and rents on the property. The mortgage note has a term of 20 years, maturing
on June 26, 2033, and provides for a fixed.rate,of interest of 3:5% per annum for the first five years of
the loan term. Thereafter, the interest rate'will be adjusted at five-year intervals (June 26, 2018, 2023
and 2028) to the Federal Home Loan Bank Boston Classic Advance Five-Year Rate plus 2.75% per
annum. The loan required monthly.installments of principal and interest of $376 until the next five-year
interval adjustment date of June 26, 2018. The interest rate was adjusted to 5.93% per annum on June
26, 2018 pursuant to the provisions of the loan agreement. The July and August, 2018 monthly
installments of principal.and interest remained at $376. On August 27, 2018, the Foundation Supporting
Organization entered into.a Change in Terms Agreement with the lender in which the interest rate on
the note was modified to a fixed rate'of 5.20% per annum until June 26, 2023. At that time, the interest
rate will be adjusted pursuant.to the terms of the original note described above. All other terms,
provisions and conditions of the original note agreement remain in full force and effect. Commencing
with the September, 2018 monthly installment of principal and interest, the monthly instaliments shall be
$450. Thenote providesfor the payment of a prepayment penalty if the loan is paid prior to maturity.
Theamount of the penalty'shall be a specified percentage of the amount prepaid with such percentage
ranging from 5% if paid.before the loan's first anniversary and decreasing by 1% per year to 1% if paid
before the loan's fifth anniversary. The prepayment penalty will reset as defined above at each five-year
anniversary date of themnote. The loan agreement contains, among other covenants, restrictions relating
to future borrowings, making of advances or loans to other parties, sale, lease or transfer of assets, and
the granting of further security interests, except as provided for and as more fully described in the loan
agreement. The loan is cross-defaulted and cross-collateralized with any and all other loans made by
the lender to the Foundation Supporting Organization.

At June 30, 2018 and 2017, the outstanding principal balance of the mortgage note payable amounted
to $74,685 and $76,518, respectively.

In October 2016, Fidelity Co-Operative Bank provided financing to the Foundation Supporting
Organization in the form of a promissory note, dated October 19, 2016, in the amount of $118,000. The
note is secured by a Negative Pledge Agreement on the real estate property located at 198 Pearl Street
in Fitchburg, Massachusetts.
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The promissory note has a term of 10 years, maturing on October 21, 2026, and provides for a fixed
rate of interest of 4.11% per annum. Commencing on November 21, 2016, the loan requires monthly
installments of principal and interest of $726 based on a 20-year principal amortization until the maturity
date, at which time the remaining outstanding principal balance of $71,599 and any accrued interest
thereon is due and payable. The note provides for the prepayment of all or a portion of the amount
owed without penalty. The business loan agreement contains, among other covenants, restrictions
relating to future borrowings, making of advances or loans to other parties; sale, lease or transfer of
assets, and the granting of further security interests, except as provided for and.as more fully described
in the business loan agreement. The loan is cross-defaulted and cross-collateralized with any and all
other loans made by the lender to the Foundation Supporting Organization.

As of June 30, 2018 and 2017, the outstanding principal balance-of the loan amountedto $111,291 and
$115,273, respectively.

In January 2017, Fidelity Co-Operative Bank provided financing to the, Foundation Supporting
Organization in the form of a promissory note, dated January 13, 2017, in the.amount of $220,000. The
note is secured by a Negative Pledge Agreement on the properties located at 9 Clinton Street and 85-
87 Pearl Street in Fitchburg, Massachusetts.

The promissory note has a term of 10 years, maturing on January 13, 2027, and provides for a fixed
rate of interest of 4.76% per annum. Commencing on February 13, 2017, the loan requires monthly
installments of principal and interest of $1,431 based on a 20-year principal amortization until the
maturity date, at which time the remaining outstanding principal balance of $136,868 and any accrued
interest thereon is due and payable. The note provides.forthe payment of a prepayment penalty if the
loan is paid prior to maturity..-The.amount of the penalty shall be a specified percentage of the amount
prepaid with such percentage ranging from 5% if paid before the loan's first anniversary and decreasing
by 1% per year to 1% if paid.before the loan's fifth anniversary. The prepayment penalty will reset as
defined above at each five-year anniversary date of the note. The loan agreement contains, among
other covenants, restrictions relating to future borrowings, making of advances or loans to other parties,
sale, lease or transfer.of‘assets,/and the granting of further security interests, except as provided for
and as more fully.described in the loan agreement. The loan is cross-defaulted and cross collateralized
with any and all other loans made by the lender to the Foundation Supporting Organization.

As ofdune 30, 2018 and 2017, the outstanding principal balance of the loan amounted to $209,819 and
$216,683, respectively.

In November 2016, Hometown Bank provided financing to the Foundation Supporting Organization in
the form of a commercial note, dated November 8, 2016, in the amount of $135,000. The note was
secured by a first mortgage interest and collateral assignment of rents and leases on the real estate
property located at 132 Highland Avenue in Fitchburg, Massachusetts.

The commercial note has a term of 25 years, maturing on November 8, 2041, and provided for a fixed
rate of interest of 4.875% per annum. Commencing on December 8, 2016, the loan required monthly
installments of principal and interest of $779 based on a 25-year principal amortization schedule with a
final payment of all unpaid principal and accrued interest thereon due at maturity.

On April 5, 2018, the Foundation Supporting Organization paid off the loan balance in full and related
interest with the proceeds from the sale of the 132 Highland Avenue Property.

As of June 30, 2017, the outstanding principal balance of the loan amounted to $133,364.
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In November 2016, Enterprise Bank and Trust Company provided financing to the Foundation
Supporting Organization in the form of a promissory note, dated November 4, 2016, in the amount of
$280,000. The note is secured by a first mortgage interest in the property and an assignment of rents
on the property located at 689-717 Main Street in Fitchburg, Massachusetts.

The promissory note has a term of 10 years, maturing on November 4, 2026, and thereafter is payable
on demand. The note provides for a fixed rate of interest of 4.33% per annum for the first ten years of
the loan term. Thereafter, the interest rate will be adjusted at ten-year intervals to the Daily High
Federal Home Loan Bank Boston Classic Advance Ten Year Regular Rate plus 1.95% per annum.
Commencing on January 1, 2017, the loan requires monthly installments of principal and interest of
$1,401 based on a 30-year principal amortization schedule. If the note is prepaid-in whole or in part
during the first 117 months of each fixed rate period for the purpose of refinancing the.note with another
financial institution, the note provides for a prepayment penalty equal to 3% ofany.principal reduction.
Except for the forgoing, the note may be prepaid in whole-or in' part without:penalty. The loan is cross-
defaulted and cross-collateralized with any and all other loans made by the lender to the Foundation
Supporting Organization.

As of June 30, 2018 and 2017, the outstanding principal balance of the loan amounted to $273,003 and
$277,716, respectively.

In September, 2017, Webster First Federal. Credit Union.provided financing to the Foundation
Supporting Organization in the form of a commercial note; dated September 22, 2017, in the amount of
$250,000. The note is secured by a first mortgage interest in the real estate properties located at 66
and 0 Day Street and 721-725 Main Street, Fitchburg,.Massachusetts, and an assignment of leases
and rents on the propertiess, The note has a‘term of 15 years, maturing on October 1, 2032, and
provides for a fixed rate of interest of 3.75% per annum for the first 10 years of the loan term.
Thereafter, the interest rate.will be adjusted to the Federal Home Loan Bank of Boston Five Year
Classic Rate plus 1.5% per annum for.the remaining 5 years of the loan term, but no less than a rate of
3.75% per annum:, Commencing on November 1, 2017, the loan requires monthly installments of
principal and interest of $1,825 based on a15-year principal amortization schedule with a final payment
of all unpaid principal.and accruedinterest thereon due at maturity. The note may be prepaid in whole
or in part at any time without penaity.

As ofdJune 30, 2018, the outstanding principal balance of the loan amounted to $241,638.

The Foundation Supporting Organization has a note payable in the original amount of $680,000, dated
April 26, 2007 ,.with Enterprise Bank and Trust Company. The note is secured by investments with an
equivalent fair value of approximately $2,253,000 and $2,116,000 at June 30, 2018 and 2017,
respectively. In_addition, payment and performance of the Foundation Supporting Organization's
obligations under the loan agreement have been guaranteed by the Foundation.

The promissory note has a term of 30 years, expiring on May 5, 2037, and provides for a fixed rate of
interest of 6% per annum for the first five years of the loan term. Thereafter, the interest rate will be
adjusted at five-year intervals (April 26, 2012, 2017, 2022, 2027 and 2032) to the Federal Home Loan
Bank Boston Classic Advance Five-Year Rate plus 1.15% per annum. The rate was adjusted to 2.62%
per annum on April 26, 2012 pursuant to the provisions of the loan agreement. The loan required
monthly installments of principal and interest of $4,122 through May 7, 2012 and $2,875 until April 26,
2017. The interest rate was adjusted to 3.49% per annum on April 26, 2017 pursuant to the provisions
of the loan agreement. Commencing thereafter, the monthly installments of principal and interest are
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$3,115 until the next five-year interval adjustment date of April 26, 2022. The note may be prepaid at
any time, in whole or in part, without premium or penalty.

At June 30, 2018 and 2017, the outstanding principal balance of this note payable amounted to
$514,276 and $553,121, respectively.

Principal funding payments and estimated interest, due to maturity consist.of the following:

Year ending June 30: Principal Interest (1) Total

2019 $ 756,909 $ 132,025 $ 888,934
2020 187,389 106,696 294,085
2021 194,658 99,428 294,086
2022 202,010 92,076 294,086
2023 209,643 84,412 294,055
2024-2028 1,506,091 275,373 1,781,464
2029-2033 362,757 68,146 430,903
2034-2038 159,598 10,371 169,969

Total $ 3,579,055 $ 868,527 $ 4,447,582

(1) The interest rates in effect at June 30, 2018 on the first mortgage notes payable and the note
payable - bank were used to.calculate the estimated interest on these debt obligations.

Note 15 - FSU Foundation lines.of credit

On August 23, 2017, the Foundation renewed, under substantially the same terms, its existing demand
revolving working capital. line of credit agreement with Workers' Credit Union which permits the
Foundation to barrow up to'$250,000. The line of credit agreement which expired on March 17, 2017
provided for interest at.the Wall:Street-dournal Prime Rate, but in no event less than 6% per annum.
Pursuant to the provisions of the'line of credit agreement, maximum advances under the line are limited
to 70% of the pledged investment collateral unless otherwise approved by the lender. The renewed line
of credit provides for interest at 5.25% through September 1, 2017 and, thereafter, at the Wall Street
Journal Prime Rate (currently 5%) plus 1%. The interest rate charged to the Foundation may not
exceed a rate of 18%..Atdune 30, 2018 and 2017, the effective interest rate was 6% per annum. In
fiscal 2018, the line of credit was drawn down in the amount of $170,000 and advanced to the
Foundation Supporting‘Organization. As of June 30, 2018, the outstanding borrowings payable under
the line of creditamounted to $170,000. There were no draws on the line of credit in fiscal 2017 and no
outstanding liability under the line of credit at June 30, 2017. For the years ended June 30, 2018 and
2017, interest expense incurred on borrowings under this line of credit amounted to $830 and $9,576,
respectively. The interest expense incurred on the borrowings has been reflected as an expense on the
books of the Foundation Supporting Organization.

Borrowings under the line are secured by investments with an equivalent fair value of approximately
$9,085,000 at June 30, 2018. The line is also collateralized by all funds held by the lender. At June 30,
2018, the Foundation has total cash balances of $58,583 held by the lender. The Foundation may
prepay outstanding revolving loans under the agreement in whole or in part without premium or penalty.
The line of credit agreement expires on March 25, 2022.
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On August 18, 2016, the Foundation Supporting Organization entered into a demand unsecured
revolving line of credit agreement with Rollstone Bank and Trust which permits the Foundation
Supporting Organization to borrow up to $250,000. The line of credit provides for interest at the Wall
Street Journal Prime Rate less .25% (effective rates of 4.75% at June 30, 2018 and 4% at June 30,
2017). For the years ended June 30, 2018 and 2017, interest expense incurred on borrowings under
this line of credit amounted to $3,440 and $2,470, respectively. The line of credit agreement expired on
August 18, 2017. The line of credit was extended through November 30,2017, and again through
November 30, 2018, under the same terms and conditions of the previous agreement. On November
30, 2018, the line of credit will be up for renewal. The Foundation Supporting Organization may prepay
outstanding revolving loans under the agreement in whole or in part atiany time without premium or
penalty. The line of credit agreement contains, among other covenants, the maintenance of a debt
service coverage ratio, as defined, of at least 1.00 to 1. In addition, the agreement provides that the line
of credit be brought to a zero balance for 30 consecutive days.annually during.the term of the
agreement. As of June 30, 2018, the Foundation Supporting. Organization-has made payments of
$250,000 and borrowings of $150,000 under the line of credit agreement. The balance outstanding as
of June 30, 2018 is $150,000. As of June 30, 2017, the Foundation Supporting Organization has made
payments of $110,000 and borrowings of $360,000 under the line of credit agreement. The balance
outstanding as of June 30, 2017 was $250,000.

Note 16 - Long-term liabilities

Long-term liability activity of the University forthe year ended June 30, 2018 included the following:

Totals June 30, 2018

Totals Ending Current
June 30, 2017 Additions Reductions balance portion
Interagency payables $ 60,732,776 $ 5,420,360 $ 3,367,468 $ 62,785,668 $ 3,487,348
Total 60,732,776 5,420,360 3,367,468 62,785,668 3,487,348
Other liabilities:
Capital lease obligation 1,140,137 - 245,435 894,702 249,898
Workers' compensation 581,018 194,415 126,662 648,771 141,432
Compensated absences 5,161,246 3,375,331 3,195,296 5,341,281 3,175,133
Loan payable - federal
financial assistance 2,037,912 39,227 231,774 1,845,365
Net pension liability 12,580,841 - 1,150,193 11,430,648
Net OPEB liability 25,788,376 - 643,273 25,145,103
Total other liabilities 47,289,530 3,608,973 5,592,633 45,305,870 3,566,463
Long-term obligations $ 108,022,306 $ 9,029,333 $ 8,960,101 $ 108,091,538 $ 7,053,811
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Long-term liability activity of the University for the year ended June 30, 2017 included the following:

Totals June 30, 2017

Totals Ending Current
June 30, 2016 Additions Reductions balance portion
Interagency payables $ 59,714,524 $ 4,166,418 $ 3,148,166 $ 60,732,776 $ 3,334,367
Total 59,714,524 4,166,418 3,148,166 60,732,776 3,334,367
Other liabilities:
Capital lease obligation - 1,261,206 121,069 1,140,137 245,435
Workers' compensation 507,890 183,848 110,720 581,018 126,662
Compensated absences 5,454,493 3,153,804 3,447,051 5,161,246 3,195,296
Loan payable - federal
financial assistance 2,017,863 35,442 15,393 2,037,912 -
Net pension liability 9,995,092 2,585,749 - 12,580,841 -
Net OPEB liability - 25,788,376 - 25,788,376 -
Total other liabilities 17,975,338 33,008,425 3,694,233 47,289,530 3,567,393
Long-term obligations $ 77,689,862 $ 37,174,843 $ 6,842,399 $ 108,022,306 $ 6,901,760

Long-term liability activity of FSU Foundation for.the year ended June 30, 2018 included the following:

Totals June 30, 2018

Totals Ending Current
June 30, 2017 Additions Reductions balance portion
First mortgage notes
payable $ 3,099,522 $ 250,000 $ 305,076 $ 3,044,446 $ 737,411
Notes payable - bank 533,121 - 18,845 514,276 19,498
Long-term obligations $ 3,632,643 $ 250,000 $ 323,921 $ 3,558,722 $ 756,909

Long-term liability activity.of FSU Foundation for the year ended June 30, 2017 included the following:

Totals June 30, 2017

Totals Ending Current
June 30, 2016 Additions Reductions balance portion
First mortgage notes
payable $ 2,500,722 $ 753,000 $ 154,200 $ 3,099,522 $ 169,798
Notes payable - bank 553,081 - 19,960 533,121 18,967
Long-term obligations $ 3,053,803 $ 753,000 $ 174,160 $ 3,632,643 $ 188,765

Note 17 - Net position

Unrestricted net position is comprised of net position that is not subject to externally imposed
stipulations; however, they may be subject to internal restrictions. For example, unrestricted net position
may be designated for specific purposes by action of management or the Board of Trustees or may
otherwise be limited by contractual agreements with outside parties. Certain unrestricted net position is
internally designated for academic and research programs and initiatives, and graduate and continuing
education programs. Designated unrestricted net position was $16,218,303 and $13,142,215 at June
30, 2018 and 2017, respectively. Undesignated unrestricted net position was $(24,154,741) and

$(20,602,127) at June 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
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At June 30, 2018 and 2017, the net investment in capital assets amount of $118,281,520 and
$116,097,369, respectively, includes the effect of deferring the recognition of revenue from the
installment payments associated with the dining facilities service concession arrangement. At June 30,
2018 and 2017, $1,478,610 and $1,725,044, respectively, of the balance of the deferred inflow of
resources has been included, as a reduction, in the calculation of netinvestment in capital assets. This
amount will be recognized as revenue and increase the net investment in capital assets net position
over the remaining term of the arrangement.

Note 18 - Net position restricted by enabling legislation

Fitchburg State University Foundation, Inc.'s consolidated statements ofinet position as of June 30,
2018 and 2017 reflect a restricted net position of $17,441,084 and $15,896,000, respectively. Of these
amounts, $2,357,931 for each year, are restricted by enabling legislation for the State Matching Funds
Program.

Note 19 - Operating expenses

The University's operating expenses for the years ended June 30,2018 and 2017, on a natural
classification basis, are comprised of the following:

2018 2017

Salaries
Faculty $ 23,802,795 $ 23,376,057
Exempt wages 3,964,775 3,291,824
Non-exempt wages 19,155,607 19,382,008
Benefits 15,443,608 14,919,383
Scholarships 2,731,812 1,992,215
Utilities 4,608,699 4,402,055
Supplies and other services 21,095,664 19,030,383
Depreciation 9,990,725 10,125,427
Bad debt expense 325,079 349,431
Total operating expenses $ 101,118,764 $ 96,868,783

Note 20 - State controlled accounts

Certain significant costs and benefits associated with the operations of the University are appropriated,
expended, controlled, and reported by the Commonwealth through non-University line items in the
Commonwealth's budget. Under generally accepted accounting principles, such transactions must be
recorded in the financial statements of the University. These transactions include payments by the
Commonwealth for the employer's share of funding the Massachusetts State Employees' Retirement
System and for the employer's share of health care premiums.
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The estimated amounts of funding attributable for the Commonwealth's retirement system contribution
and the employer's share of health care premiums for the years ended June 30, 2018, 2017, and 2016
were as follows (see State appropriations under Note 24):

2018 2017 2016
Commonwealth's retirement system
contributions $ 3,893,971 $ 3,280,700, $ 3,144,412
Employers share of health care
premium $ 6,711,016 $ 6,904,977 $ 5,675,058

Note 21 - Retirement plan

Substantially all of the University's full-time employees are covered.by the Massachusetts State
Employees' Retirement System ("MSERS"). MSERS, a public employee retirement system ("PERS"), is
a cost-sharing multi-employer defined benefit plan that is administered by the Massachusetts State
Retirement Board and covers substantially all.non-student employees. The Commonwealth does not
issue separately audited financial statements for the plan. The financial position and results of
operations of the plan are incorporated into the Commonwealth's financial statements, a copy of which
may be obtained from the Office of the State Comptroller, Commonwealth of Massachusetts, One
Ashburton Place, Room 901, Boston, MA" 02108.

MSERS provides retirement, disability, survivor.and death benefits to members and their beneficiaries.
Massachusetts General Laws ("MGL") establishes uniform benefit and contribution requirements for all
contributory PERS. These requirements provide for superannuation retirement allowance benefits up to
a maximum of 80% of amember's highest three-year average annual rate of regular compensation. For
employees hired after April 1, 2012, retirement allowances are calculated on the basis of the last five
years or any five.consecutive years, whichever is greater in terms of compensation. Benefit payments
are based upon a member's age, length-of creditable service, and group creditable service, and group
classification. The authority for amending these provisions rests with the Legislature.

Members become vested after 10 years of creditable service. A superannuation retirement allowance
may-be received uponthe‘completion of 20 years of creditable service or upon reaching the age of 55
with 1Q'years of service. Normal retirement for most employees occurs at age 65; for certain hazardous
duty and'public safety positions, normal retirement is at age 55. Most employees who joined the system
after April 1, 2012 cannot retire prior to age 60.

The MSERS' funding policies have been established by Chapter 32 of the MGL. The Legislature has
the authority to amend these policies. The annuity portion of the MSERS retirement allowance is funded
by employees, who contribute a percentage of their regular compensation. Costs of administering the
plan are funded out of plan assets.
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Member contributions for MSERS vary depending on the most recent date of membership:

Hire date % of compensation
Prior to 1975 5% of regular compensation
1975 to 1983 7% of regular compensation
1984 to June 30, 1996 8% of regular compensation
July 1, 1996 to present 9% of regular compensation
1979 to present An additional 2% of regular.compensation

in excess of $30,000

In addition, members of Group 1 who join the system on or after April 2, 2012 will have their withholding
rate reduced to 6% after achieving 30 years of creditable service.

The University is not required to contribute from its appropriation allocation or ether University funds to
MSERS for employees compensated from State appropriations. For.University employees covered by
MSERS but compensated from a trust fund or other source, the University is required to contribute an
amount determined as a percentage of compensation in accordance with a fringe benefit rate
established by the State. The total amount of current funding by the State related to the University's
employees during 2018, 2017 and 2016 was $3,893,971, $3,280,700 and $3,144,412, respectively. The
total amount of funding by the University related to the.University's employees compensated from a
trust fund or other source during 2018, 2017, and/2016 was $862,928, $696,825, and $655,160,
respectively. Annual covered payroll.was approximately 80%, 81%, and 83% of annual total payroll for
the University in 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively.

At June 30, 2018 and 2017, the University reported a liability of $11,430,648 and $12,580,841,
respectively, for its proportionate share of'the net pension liability. The net pension liability was
measured as of January 1,,2017 and 2016, respectively, and the State's total pension liability used to
calculate the net pension liability;was determined by an actuarial valuation as of those dates. The
University's proportion‘of the net pension'liability was based on an effective contribution methodology
which allocates total contributions amongst the employers in a consistent manner based on an
employer's share of total covered payroll. At June 30, 2018, the University's proportion was 0.0891%
which.was a decrease of 0.0021% from its proportion measured as of June 30, 2017. At June 30, 2017,
the University's proportion was 0.0912%, which was an increase of 0.0034% from its proportion
measured as of June 30, 2016.

For the years ended“June 30, 2018 and 2017, the University recognized pension expense of
$5,321,863 and $5,098,931, respectively.
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At June 30, 2018, the University reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of
resources related to pensions from the following sources:

Deferred Deferred
outflows of inflows of
resources resources

Changes of assumptions $ 1,189,533 $ -

Net difference between projected and actual

earnings on pension plan investments - 136,196

Difference between expected and actual experience 441,955 310,999

Changes in proportion due to internal allocation 970,572 228,439

Changes in proportion from Commonwealth 39,150 4,075

University contributions subsequent to the

measurement date 862,928 -
Total $ 3,504,138 $ 679,709

The $862,928 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to pensions resulting from University
contributions subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension
liability in the year ended June 30, 2019. Other.amounts-reported as deferred outflows of resources and
deferred inflows of resources related'to pensions will be recognized in pension expense as follows:

Year ending June 30:

2019 $ 625,236

2020 1,173,909

2021 509,570

2022 (333,628)

2023 (13,586)

Total $ 1,961,501
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resources related to pensions from the following sources:

Deferred Deferred
outflows of inflows of
resources resources

Changes of assumptions $ 1,395,131 $ -

Net difference between projected and actual

earnings on pension plan investments 844,528 -

Difference between expected and actual experience 597,556 -

Changes in proportion due to internal allocation 1,339,317 45,438

Changes in proportion from Commonwealth 28,028 6,061

University contributions subsequent to the

measurement date 696,825 -
Total $ 4,901,385 $ 51,499

The total pension liability for the June 30, 2017 measurement date was determined by an actuarial
valuation as of January 1, 2017 rolled forward to June 30, 2017. This valuation used the following
assumptions:

1.

7.5% investment rate of return, (b) 3.5% interestrate credited to the annuity savings fund and
(c) 3.0% cost of living increase per yearon the first $13,000 per year (3% cost of living
increase for the year ended June 30, 2016).

Salary increases are based.on analyses of past experience but range from 4.0% to 9.0%
dependingon group and length of service.

Chapter 79 of the Acts 2014 established an early retirement incentive (ERI) program for certain
employees‘of the highway.division of the Massachusetts Department of Transportation whose
positions have been eliminated due to automation of toll collections. Most members retiring
under the ERI{programhad a date retirement of October 28, 2016. 112 members took the ERI
and retired during FY2017. As a result, the total pension liability of MSERS increased by
approximately $10 million as of June 30, 2017.

Chapter™76 of the Acts of 2011 created a one-time election for eligible members of the
Optional Retirement Plan ("ORP") to transfer to the Massachusetts State Employee's
Retirement System ("MSERS") and purchase service for the period while members of the
ORP. As a result, the total pension liability of MSERS has increased by approximately $400
million as of June 30, 2016.

Mortality rates were as follows:

(i) Pre-retirement - reflects RP-2014 Blue Collar Employees table projected generationally
with Scale MP-2016 and set forward 1 year for females (RP-2000 Employees table
projected generationally with Scale BB and a base year of 2009 (gender distinct) for the
year ended June 30, 2016).
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(i) Post-retirement - reflects RP-2014 Blue Collar Healthy Annuitant table projected
generationally with Scale MP-2016 set forward 1 year for females (RP-2000 Healthy
Annuitant table projected generationally with Scale BB and a base year of 2009 (gender
distinct) for the year ended June 30, 2016).

(i) Disability - the mortality rate is assumed to be in accordance with the RP-2000 Healthy
Annuitant table projected generationally with Scale BB and a base year of 2015 (gender
distinct) (unchanged from the year ended June 30, 2016).

These changes resulted in an increase of approximately $304 million in the total pension liability
as of June 30, 2017.

6. Experience studies were performed as follows:

(i) Dated February 27, 2014 and encompass'the period January.1, 2006 to December 31,
2011.

Investment assets of MSERS are with the Pension Reserves Investment Trust ("PRIT") Fund. The long-
term expected rate of return on pension plan, investments was determined using a building-block
method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future rates of return are developed for each major
asset class. These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting
the expected future rates of return by the.target asset allocation percentage. Best estimates of
geometric rates of return for each major asset class included in the PRIT Fund's target asset allocation
as of June 30, 2017 and 2016 are'summarized in the following table:

Long-term expected real

Target allocation rate of return

Asset class 2017 2016 2017 2016
Global equity 40.00% 40.00% 5.00% 6.90%
Portfolio completion strategies 13.00% 4.00% 3.60% 3.60%
Core fixed income 12:00% 13.00% 1.10% 1.60%
Private equity 11.00% 10.00% 6.60% 8.70%
Value added fixed-income 10.00% 10.00% 3.80% 4.80%
Realestate 10.00% 10.00% 3.60% 4.60%
Timber/natural resources 4.00% 4.00% 3.20% 5.40%
Hedge funds 0.00% 9.00% 3.60% 4.00%
Total 100.00% 100.00%

The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability for the measurement years ended June 30,
2017 and 2016 was 7.5% for both years. The projection of cash flows used to determine the discount
rate assumed that plan member contributions will be made at the current contribution rates and the
University's contributions will be made at rates equal to the difference between actuarially determined
contribution rates and the member rates. Based on those assumptions, the net position was projected
to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of current plan members. Therefore, the
long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied to all periods of projected
benefit payments to determine the total pension liability.

The following presents the University's proportionate share of the net pension liability calculated using
the discount rate of 7.5%, for both the measurement years ended June 30, 2017 and 2016, as well as
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what the University's proportionate share of the net pension liability would be if it were calculated using
a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower (6.5%) or 1-percentage-point higher (8.5%) than the
current rate:

Measurement year ended 1% decrease Discount rate 1% increase
June 30, 2017 $ 15,568,067 $ 11,430,648 $ 8,097,858
June 30, 2016 16,394,785 12,580,841 9,348,376

Detailed information about the pension plan's fiduciary net position.is available in the Commonwealth's
financial statements.

Note 22 - Fringe benefits for current employees and post-employment obligations+ pension and
non-pension

The University participates in the Commonwealth's Fringe Benefit programs;including active employee
and post - employment health insurance, unemployment, pension, and workers' compensation benefits.
Health insurance and pension costs for active employees and retirees are paid through a fringe benefit
rate charged to the University by the Commonwealth.

On-behalf payments of fringe benefitsdfor benefited employees.on the Commonwealth's payroll are
recognized as revenues and expenses in the University's financial statements in each of the fiscal
years presented.

Post-employment other than pensions

In addition to providing pension:benefits, under Chapter 32A of the Massachusetts General Laws, the
Commonwealth is required«to provide Certain health care and life insurance benefits for retired
employees of the Commonwealth. Substantially all of the Commonwealth's employees may become
eligible for these benefits if:they reach retirement age while working for the Commonwealth. Eligible
retirees are required to contribute a specified percentage of the health care/benefit costs, which are
comparable to contributions required from employees.

The Commonwealth administers a single employer defined Postemployment Benefits Other Than
Pensions ("OPEB") Plan. Benefits are managed by the Group Insurance Commission ("GIC") and
investments are managed by the Pension Reserves Investment Management (PRIM) Board. The State
Retirement Benefits Trust Fund ("SRBT") is set up solely to pay for OPEB benefits and the cost to
administer those benefits. Management of the SRBT is vested with a board of trustees, which consists
of 7 members. GIC administers benefit payments, while the Trustees are responsible for investment
decisions. The SRBT is reported as an OPEB Trust Fund and does not issue a stand-alone audited
financial report. The financial position and results of operations of the plan are incorporated in the
Commonwealth's financial statements, a copy of which may be obtained from the Office of the State
Comptroller, Commonwealth of Massachusetts, One Ashburton Place, Room 901, Boston, MA 02108.

During the fiscal years ended on June 30, 2018 and 2017, the GIC provided health insurance for its
members through indemnity, PPO, and HMO plans. The GIC also administered carve-outs for the
pharmacy benefit and mental health and substance abuse benefits for certain of its health plans. In
addition to health insurance, the GIC sponsors life insurance, long-term disability insurance (for active
employees only), dental and vision coverage for employees not covered by collective bargaining, a
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retiree discount vision plan and retiree dental plan, and finally, a pre-tax health care spending account
and dependent care assistance program (for active employees only).

Employer and employee contribution rates are set in Massachusetts General Law. The Commonwealth
recognizes its share of the costs on an actuarial basis. As of June 30, 2017 and 2016 and as of the
valuation date (January 1, 2017), Commonwealth participants contributed 0% to 20%.of premium costs,
depending on the date of hire and whether the participant is active, retiree; or survivor status.

At June 30, 2018 and 2017, the University reported a liability of $25,145,103 and$25,788,376,
respectively, for its proportionate share of the net OPEB liability. The net OPEB liability was measured
as of January 1, 2017, and the Commonwealth's total OPEB liabilitysused to calculate the.net OPEB
liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of that date. The'University's proportion of the net
OPEB liability was based on an effective contribution methodology which, allocates total actual
contributions amongst the employers in a consistent manner based on an.employer's share of total
covered payroll. At June 30, 2018, the University's proportion.was 0.1272% which was an increase of
0.0091% from its proportion measured as of June 30, 2017.

The amount of funding by the University relatedto-benefits otherthan OPEB for the years ended June
30, 2018, 2017 and 2016 were $15,031,796, $14,961,048,/.and $11,720,616, respectively, which
equaled the required contributions each year charged to it through'the Commonwealth's fringe benefit
recovery program. The total amount of.current funding by the State related to the OPEB portion of
fringe benefits for the University's employees during 2018;2017 and 2016 was $2,713,264, $2,429,837
and $2,189,437, respectively. The total.amount of funding by the University related to the OPEB portion
of fringe benefits for the University's employees compensated from a trust fund or other source during
2018, 2017, and 2016 was $653,339, $559,677, and $502,044, respectively.

For the year ended June 30,.2018, the University recognized OPEB expense of $4,338,091.

At June 30, 2018y the University reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of
resources related to OPEB from.the following sources:

Deferred Deferred
outflows of inflows of
resources resources

Changes of assumptions $ - $ 3,240,378

Net differences between projected and actual

investment.earnings on OPEB plan investments - 40,654

Difference between expected and actual experience - 65,844

Changes in proportion due to internal allocation 1,584,845 -

Changes in proportion from Commonwealth 53,607 -

University contributions subsequent to the

measurement date 653,339 -
Total $ 2,291,791 $ 3,346,876

The $653,339 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to pensions resulting from University
contributions subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net OPEB
liability in the year ended June 30, 2019. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and
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deferred inflows of resources as a result of the University's requirement to contribute to the Plan will be
recognized in expense as follows:

Year ending June 30:

2019 $  (357,520)
2020 (357,520)
2021 (357,520)
2022 (357,520)
2023 (278,344)
Total $ (1,708,424)

The total OPEB liability for the June 30, 2016 measurement date-was determined by an actuarial
valuation as of January 1, 2017 rolled back to June 30,.2016. The total OPEBliability for the June 30,
2017 measurement date was determined by an actuarial.valuation as of dJanuary 1, 2017 rolled forward
to June 30, 2017. This valuation used the following assumptions:

1. The following annual healthcare cost.trend rates: (1) 8.5%; decreasing by 0.5% each year to
an ultimate rate of 5.0% in 2024 for medical, (2) 5.0% for EGWP and (3) 5.0% for
administration costs.

2. The mortality rate was in aceordance with RP 2014 Blue Collar Mortality Table projected with
scale MP-2016 form the;central year, with females set forward one year.

3. Participation rates:

(i)  100% of all retirees who currently have health care coverage will continue with the same
coverage, except that retirees under age 65 with POS/PPO coverage switch to Indemnity
at age 65 andthose over age 65 with POS/PPO coverage switch to HMO.

(i) _All.eurrent retirees, other than those indicated on the census data as not being eligible by
Medicare, have Medicare coverage upon attainment of age 65, as do their spouses. All
future retirees are assumed to have Medicare coverage upon attainment of age 65.

(i) 80% of currentand future contingent eligible participants will elect health care benefits at
age 65, or current age if later.

Actives, upon.retirement, take coverage, and are assumed to have the following coverage:

Retirement Age

Under 65 Age 65 +
Indemnity 40.0% 85.0%
POS/PPO 50.0% 0.0%
HMO 10.0% 15.0%

Investment assets of the Plan are with the Pension Reserves Investment Trust ("PRIT") Fund. The
long-term expected rate of return on OPEB plan investments was determined using a building-block

82

Powered by BoardOnTrack 94 of 178



Fitchburg State University - Board of Trustees - Agenda - Tuesday October 30, 2018 at 10:00 AM

Fitchburg State University
(a department of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts)

Notes to Financial Statements
June 30, 2018 and 2017

method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future rates of return are developed for each major
asset class. These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting
the expected future rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage. Best estimates of
geometric rates of return for each major asset class included in the PRIT Fund's target asset allocation
as of June 30, 2017 and 2016 are summarized in the following table:

Long-term expected real

Asset class Target allocation 2017 2016
Global equity 40.00% 5.00% 6.90%
Portfolio completion strategies 13.00% 3.60% 3.60%
Core fixed income 12.00% 1.10% 1.60%
Private equity 11.00% 6.60% 8.70%
Value added fixed income 10.00% 3.80% 4.80%
Real estate 10.00% 3.60% 4.60%
Timber/natural resources 4.00% 3.20% 5.40%
Hedge funds 0.00% 3.60% 4.00%
Total 100.00%

The discount rates used to measure the ORPEBIliability as of June 30, 2017 and 2016 were 3.63% and
2.88%, respectively. These rates were based on a blend of the Bond Buyer Index rates of 3.58% and
2.85%, respectively as of the measurement dates:June 30, 2017 and 2016 and the expected rates of
return. The plan's fiduciary net'position was not'projected to be available to make all projected future
benefit payments for current plan members. The projected "depletion date" when projected benefits are
not covered by projected.assets.is 2023 Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on plan
investments of 7.50%‘per.annum was ‘not applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to
determine the total OPEB,liability as/of June 30, 2017 and 2016.

The following presents.the University's‘proportionate share of the net OPEB liability calculated using
the discount.rate'as well as whatthe University's proportionate share of the net OPEB liability would be
if it were calculated using a discountrate that is 1-percentage-point lower or 1-percentage-point higher
than the current rate:

Measurement year.ended 1% decrease Discount rate 1% increase
June 30,2017 (a) $ 30,555,066 $ 25,145,103 $ 20,987,812
June 30,2016 (b) 31,662,809 25,788,376 21,315,035

(a) The discount rates as of June 30, 2017 are as follows: 3.63% (current); 2.63% (1% decrease)
and 4.63% (1% increase).

(b) The discount rates as of June 30, 2016 are as follows: 2.88% (current); 1.88% (1% decrease)
and 3.88% (1% increase).
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The following presents the University's proportionate share of the net OPEB liability calculated using
the current healthcare cost trend rate as well as what the University's proportionate share of the net
OPERB liability would be if it were calculated using a healthcare cost trend rate that is 1-percentage-point
lower or 1-percentage-point higher than the current rate:

Healthcare cost

Measurement year ended 1% decrease (b) trend rates (a) 1% increase (c)
June 30, 2017 $ 20,684,035 $ 25,145,103 $ 31,153,210
June 30, 2016 21,121,844 25,788,376 32,054,505

(a) The current healthcare cost trend rates are as follows:9.0% (June 30, 2017) and 8.5% (June
30, 2016) for medical and 5.0% for both fiscal years 2017-and 2016 Employer Group Waiver
Plan and administration costs.

(b) The healthcare cost trend rates after a 1% decrease-are as follows: 8:0% (June 30, 2017) and
7.5% (June 30, 2016) for medical and 4.0% for both fiscal years 2017 and 2016 Employer
Group Waiver Plan and administration costs.

(c) The healthcare cost trend rates aftera 1% increase are as follows: 10.0% (June 30, 2017) and
9.5% (June 30, 2016) for medical.and.6.0% for both fiscal years 2017 and 2016 Employer
Group Waiver Plan and administration costs:

Detailed information about the?OPEB plan's changes in‘net OPEB liability, fiduciary net position, and
employees covered by benefitterms separately identified by a) Inactive employees currently receiving
benefit payments, b) Inactive.employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefit payments, and c)
Active employees is availableiin the Commonwealth's financial statements.

Note 23 - Lease and license agreements

As disclosed in:Note 14, the Foundation Supporting Organization entered into a long-term operating
lease agreement with DCAMM on behalf of the University. The lease commenced on August 16, 2006
and expired'on August 16; 2016. The lease provided for base rent of $165,000 per year, payable in
monthly installments of $13,750, for the entire lease term. The University was also responsible for the
payment of normal operating, maintenance and repair costs associated with its use of the property. The
lease continued inweffect, after its expiration, under the same terms and conditions until March 9, 2017
when the Foundation-Supporting Organization signed a new 10-year lease with the same terms and
conditions as the previous agreement. The new lease agreement became effective as of August 16,
2016. For the years ended June 30, 2018 and 2017, rental income amounted to $165,000 in each year.
The rental income is reflected in revenue from sales and services of educational departments in the
accompanying statements of revenues, expenses and changes in net position. The corresponding rent
expense of the University is reflected in operations and maintenance of plant.
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The following is a schedule of future minimum rental income under the operating lease agreement at
June 30, 2018:

Year ending June 30, Amount
2019 $ 165,000
2020 165,000
2021 165,000
2022 165,000
2023 165,000
Later years 515,625

$ 1,340,625

On August 6, 2008, the Foundation Supporting Organization enterediinto a 10-year operating lease
agreement with an unrelated third party for 2,350 square feet of office space located in Fitchburg,
Massachusetts. The lease commenced on November 1, 2008 and shall'expire on October 31, 2018.
The space is being used by Fitchburg State University as office.and classroom space for its Center for
Professional Studies. The lease provided for a base annual'rent of $17,625 for each of the first three
years of the lease term, payable in monthly installments of $1,469. Beginning with the fourth year of the
lease there will be a 7.5% increase at the commencement of each three-year period of the lease term,
including the continuous period of any.extensions thereof. On November 1, 2011, the base annual rent
increased to $18,947 for the nextthree-year period of the lease term payable in monthly installments of
$1,579. On July 1, 2014, the Foundation Supporting Organization entered into an amended operating
lease agreement with the unrelated third party adding 20 parking spaces for use in conjunction with the
above mentioned office space and extending the lease term through June 30, 2019. The amended
lease provides for a base annual rent.of $28,495 for each of the first three years of the lease term,
payable biannually. in installments of $14,247. On July 1, 2017, the annual rent on the lease shall
increase by 7.5% to $30,632 (biannual installments of $15,316). The Foundation Supporting
Organization ‘may” extend thedinitial term of the lease, under the same terms and conditions, for
successiveperiods.of one year provided it is not then in default of the lease terms and it gives proper
notice. The Foundation Supporting Organization may cancel the lease at any time with the payment of
two months' base rent as a. termination charge. The Foundation Supporting Organization is also
responsible for the payment of normal operating, maintenance and repair costs associated with the use
of the property. For the years ended June 30, 2018 and 2017, rent expense amounted to $30,632 and
$28,495, respectively.

The future minimum rental payments under this operating lease agreement at June 30, 2018 are
$30,632 for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2019.

On February 1, 2013, the Foundation Supporting Organization entered into a 10-year operating lease
agreement with the above noted unrelated third party for an additional 1,424 square feet of office space
located in Fitchburg, Massachusetts. The lease commenced on February 1, 2013 and shall expire on
January 31, 2023. The space is being used by Fitchburg State University for additional office and
classroom space. The lease provides for a base annual rent of $5,696 payable in monthly installments
of $475. Effective July 1, 2017, the lease agreement was amended to extend the term of the lease until
June 30, 2023 and modify the lease payment provisions to be in biannual installments of $2,848. The
Foundation Supporting Organization may extend the initial term of the lease, under the same terms and
conditions, for successive periods of one year, provided it is not then in default of the lease terms and it
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gives proper notice. The Foundation Supporting Organization may cancel the lease at any time after
February 1, 2014 with the payment of two months base rent as a termination charge. The Foundation
Supporting Organization is also responsible for the payment of normal operating, maintenance and
repair costs associated with the use of the property. For the years ended June 30, 2018 and 2017, rent
expense amounted to $5,696 in each year.

The following is a schedule of future minimum rental payments under this operating lease agreement at
June 30, 2018:

Year ending June 30, Amount
2019 $ 5,696
2020 5,696
2021 5,696
2022 5,696
2023 5,696

$ 28,480

On June 25, 2015, the Foundation Supporting Organization entered into an operating lease agreement
with an unrelated third party for a building eontaining residential'suites designed for use as a dormitory
for college students. The lease commenced on August 1; 2015 and expired on May 31, 2016. The
lease provided for annual rent of $220,000 to be paid in two installments of $110,000 each on August 1,
2015 and January 1, 2016. In July 2016, the Foundation Supporting Organization extended the initial
term of the lease under the same terms and conditions for the period August 1, 2016 through May 31,
2017. Subject to availability, the Foundation Supporting Organization may extend the term of the lease,
under the same terms and conditions for the periods June 1, 2017 through July 31, 2017 and August 1,
2017 through May 31, 2018. The Foundation Supporting Organization did not renew the lease for an
additional term after.the expiration ‘'on May 31, 2017. Instead, the building was purchased by the
Massachusetts State College Building Authority ("MSCBA") and is being used by and billed directly to
Fitchburg State University by MSCBA as a part of its semi-annual residence hall revenue assessments.
For the year ended June 30, 2017, rent expense amounted to $220,000.

The<Foundation Supporting Organization and the University are parties to License Agreements
whereby the Foundation Supporting Organization granted to the University irrevocable and exclusive
licenses to occupy, manage, maintain and operate certain property owned by the Foundation
Supporting Organization. The License Agreements provide for initial terms of one year and automatic
annual renewals thereafter. The License Agreements provide for annual license fees payable, in
arrears, in four equal quarterly installments. All costs to operate and maintain the property, including
any capital improvements made thereto, shall be borne by the University. The License Agreements may
be terminated by either party upon the expiration of the initial term of the agreements and any
subsequent renewal term with the giving of proper notice. In addition, the University may terminate the
agreements at any time with the giving of proper notice. For the years ended June 30, 2018 and 2017,
license fee income for the Foundation Supporting Organization amounted to $193,272 and $252,849,
respectively. The license fee income is reflected in revenue from sales and services of educational
departments in the accompanying statements of revenue, expenses and changes in net position. The
corresponding license fee expense of the University is reflected in operations and maintenance of plant.
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Note 24 - Management Accounting and Reporting System

Section 15C of Chapter 15A of the Massachusetts General Laws requires Commonwealth Colleges and
Universities to report activity of campus based funds to the Comptroller of the Commonwealth on the
Commonwealth's Statewide Accounting System, Massachusetts Management Accounting and
Reporting System ("MMARS") on the statutory basis of accounting. The statutory basis of accounting is
a modified accrual basis of accounting and differs from the information included in these financial
statements. The amounts reported on MMARS meet the guidelines of the Comptroller's Guide for
Higher Education Audited Financial Statements.

State appropriations
The University's State appropriations are comprised of the following for the years'ended June 30, 2018
and 2017:

2018 2017
Gross State appropriations $ 29,912,499 $ 29,478,899
Add: Fringe benefits for benefited employees on the
Commonwealth payroll 10,604,987 10,185,677
Less: Day school tuition remitted to the Commonwealth
and included in tuition and fee revenue (674,450) (717,267)
Net State appropriations $ 39,843,036 $ 38,947,309

$39,403,569 and $38,873,231 represent appropriations for maintenance and payroll and other
noncapital appropriations during 2018 and 2017, respectively, and $439,467 and $74,078 represent
appropriations for capital improvements for 2018 and 2017, respectively. These amounts are presented
separately in theraccompanying statements of revenues, expenses and changes in net position.

Day school tuition receipts and transfers have been recorded in an agency fund during the year and
had no material balance outstanding at June 30, 2018 and 2017.

Note 25- Risk management

The University is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, and destruction of
assets; errors’'and omissions; and natural disasters for which the Commonwealth is self-insured. In
addition, the-University maintains commercial insurance coverage for certain of those risks.
Management believes such coverage is sufficient to preclude any significant uninsured losses for the
covered risks. The separate insurance policies maintained by the University consist of Director and
Officer's liability, automobile liability, and a foreign package policy. There were no significant reductions
in insurance coverage from coverage in the prior year. The costs of settled claims have not exceeded
policy coverage in any of the past three years.

The University also participates in the Commonwealth's self-insured programs for employee workers'
compensation, health care and other insurance. The Commonwealth assesses the costs of workers'
compensation and unemployment insurance to the University based on the University's actual
experience (see Note 7). The Commonwealth manages workers' compensation as part of its general
operations. No separate fund for workers' compensation is provided for in Massachusetts General,
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Notes to Financial Statements
June 30, 2018 and 2017

Laws. The Commonwealth assesses the costs of health care insurance to the University through a
fringe benefit rate and the liability for such coverage is borne by the Commonwealth. The
Commonwealth's Group Insurance Commission manages health insurance and other benefits for the
Commonwealth's active and retired employees (see Note 22).

Massachusetts General Laws limit the risk assumed by the Commonwealth for claimsof personal injury
or property damages to $100,000 per occurrence, in most circumstances.

Note 26 - Commitments and contingencies

Pending or threatened lawsuits against governmental agencies+arise.in the ordinary .course of
operations. In the opinion of the University's administration, the ultimate resolution of any legal actions
at this date will not result in a material loss to the University since most of any obligation is expected to
be paid from state appropriated funds.

The University receives significant financial assistance from federal and'state'agencies in the form of
grants. Expenditure of funds under these programs require.compliance with the grant agreements and
are subject to audit by representatives of these federal and state agencies. Any disallowed
expenditures resulting from such audits become a liability.of the University. In the opinion of
management, such liabilities, if any, are not expected to materially affect the financial condition of the
University.

The University participates in the Massachusetts College Savings Prepaid Tuition Program. This
program allows participants to pay‘in-advance (against a bond) for future tuition at the cost of tuition at
the time of the bond purchase,.increased by<changes in the Consumer Price Index plus 2%. The
University is obligated to accept as,payment of tuition the amount determined by this program without
regard to the standard tuition rate in effect.at the time of the individual's enrollment at the University.
The effect of this program cannot be determined as it is contingent on future tuition increases and the
bond purchasers who attend the University.

The University can perform capitalsprojects that are funded and controlled by another State agency.
These projects would be paidfrom funds appropriated and under the control of DCAMM. The Projects
generally consist of renovations and improvements and have been recorded in the respective accounts.

The collective bargaining agreements between the Board of Higher Education and three Employee
Unions which impact the University expired in the prior year. As of [REPORT DATE], agreements have
been negotiated by the parties for two of the three Employee Unions and those agreements are being
presented to the Union memberships for ratification. Negotiations between the parties for the remaining
Employee Union is ongoing and the University believes that agreement will be reached in the near
term. Once the parties reach new agreements, the agreements are subject to approval by the
Massachusetts Legislature and ratification by the Governor of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts.
Accordingly, management cannot determine at this time, the impact, if any, that the results of the
negotiations will have on the University's financial statements.

Note 27 - McKay Agreement

The University has an agreement with the City of Fitchburg, whereby the City can use the McKay
building to provide elementary education to local residents on a year to year basis. The University
receives quarterly payments from the City to reimburse the University for its share of payroll and related
operating expenses (the "McKay School expenditures"). Reimbursements received for the years ended
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June 30, 2018 and 2017 were $860,487 and $819,487, respectively. These reimbursements are
included in the Sales and Services of Educational Departments revenue amount and the McKay School
expenditures are included in the appropriate categories under Operating Expenses in the
accompanying statements of revenues, expenses and changes in net position.

Note 28 - Civic Center

In August 2006, the University and the City of Fitchburg entered into a Memorandum of Understanding
in which the University would assume responsibility for the operations, . management and'maintenance
of the George R. Wallace, Jr. Civic Center and the Alice G. Wallace Planetarium (collectively, the "Civic
Center"). The Civic Center includes two skating rinks and' the_adjoining.-planetarium. The
Commonwealth of Massachusetts acting by and through DCAMM on behalf of the University entered
into a lease agreement for the Civic Center with the City of Fitchburg and the Board of Trustees of the
Civic Center. The lease commenced on October 1, 2007 and is for a term_of'99 years. The lease
provided for an initial nominal rent payment and is otherwise a net lease. Pursuant to the terms of the
lease, the University has complete authority, at its sole discretion, to do all.such acts and deeds as it
deems reasonably necessary to manage, maintain ‘and operate the Civic Center for the permitted uses
specified in the lease agreement. The University is responsible foripayment, from net revenues
generated by its operation of the Civic Center, of all costs*associated with the maintenance and
operation of the Civic Center, and certain _other-payments as ‘specified in the lease agreement.
DCAMM, at the instruction of the University and with 60 days.prior written notice, may terminate the
lease in the event that the University, initssole discretion; determines that continuation of the lease is
not in the interest of the University.

During fiscal 2007, the University commenced initial management, maintenance and operations
activities at the Civic Center in anticipation of the lease agreement being executed. The Commonwealth
of Massachusetts Legislature appropriated an aggregate amount of $2,500,000 for repairs and
upgrades to the Civic Center. During fiscal 2008, the University made repairs and upgrades to the Civic
Center for an aggregate cost of $2,477,381. The University engaged the services of a professional
management company, Facilities Management Corporation ("FMC"), to assist with management,
maintenance and operations_activities. of the ice-skating rink program at the Civic Center. The initial
management contract expired.on'December 31, 2008.

On February 1, 2009, the Commonwealth of Massachusetts acting by and through its Division of
Capital/Asset Management.and Maintenance on behalf of the University entered into a sublease
agreement with FMC for.a term of 25 years commencing on the date of the agreement. The sublease
agreement is.avnet,lease and, accordingly, FMC is responsible for all costs associated with the
operations, management, and maintenance of the sublease premises as well as repairs and required
capital improvements. The sublease premises consist of the facilities and related equipment associated
with the operation of a public ice-skating rink program. The planetarium is not part of the sublease
premises and it is not currently operational. FMC is also responsible for certain other payments for and
on behalf of the University related to obligations in existence at the date the University initially assumed
management of the Civic Center. During the term of the sublease agreement, FMC is required to pay
the University monthly percentage rent based upon the actual gross revenues from its operations, as
defined. During each of the first 10 years of the sublease term, no percentage rent is required.

Thereafter, for each of the years 11 through 25, percentage rent at the rate of 1% of actual gross
revenues shall be due and payable on a monthly basis. However, in no event shall the aggregate
amount of percentage rent paid by FMC during the sublease term be less than $107,155.
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The University, officials of the City of Fitchburg, and the Board of Trustees of the Civic Center believe
that their collective efforts will return the Civic Center to a vibrant place where the citizenries of the City
of Fitchburg and its surrounding cities and towns can enjoy athletic, educational and cultural activities.

Note 29 - Restatement

In fiscal 2018, the University adopted the new accounting guidance of Governmental Accounting
Standards Board ("GASB") Statement No. 75, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Postemployment
Benefits Other Than Pensions. The net position, as of July 1, 2016, has»been decreased by
$25,788,376 for the effect of retroactive application of the new standard. Information torestate deferred
inflows and outflows as of July 1, 2016 is not available. The followingfinancial statement line items for
fiscal year 2017 were affected by the adoption of the new standard:

2017 (As
Previously 2017 (As
Reported) Restated) Effect of Change
Statement of Net Position:
OPEB Liability $ - $ 25,788,376 $ 25,788,376
Unrestricted net position 18,328,464 (7,459,912) (25,788,376)
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Fitchburg State University
(a department of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts)

Schedule of the University's Proportionate Share
of the Net Pension Liability and Schedule of University Contributions
Year Ended June 30, 2018

2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
University's proportion of the net pension liability (asset) 0.0891% 0.0912% 0.0878% 0.0684% 0.0695%
University's proportionate share of the net pension liability (asset) $ 11,430,648 $ 12,580,841 $ 9,995,092 $ 5,078,817 $ 6,192,668
University's covered payroll $ 37,747,018 $ 37408274 $ 37,167,634 $ 35,389,121 $ 33,794,553
University's proportionate share of the net pension liability (asset)
as a percentage of its covered payroll 30.28% 33.63% 26.89% 14.35% 18.32%
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total
pension liability 67.21% 63.48% 67.87% 76.32% 70.31%
* The amounts presented for each fiscal year were determined as of 6/30.

2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
Contractually required contribution $ ' 4,756,899 $ 3,977,525  $ 3,799,572  $ 3,946,690 $ 2,912,032
Contributions in relation to the contractually required contribution $ 0 (4,756,899) . $ . (3,977,525) $ (3,799,572) $§ (3,946,690) $ (2,912,032)
Contribution deficiency (excess) $ - $ - $ - $ - $ -
University's covered payroll $ 37,747,018 $ 37408274 $ 37,167,634 $ 35,389,121 $ 33,794,553
Contributions as a percentage of covered payroll 12.60% 10.63% 10.22% 11.15% 8.62%

See Independent Auditor's Report on Page 2 and Notes to Required Supplementary Information.
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Note 1 - Changes in Pension Plan Benefit Terms and Assumptions
FY2017 Changes in Actuarial Assumptions

Changes in benefit terms

Chapter 79 of the Acts 2014 established an early retirement incentive (ERI) program for certain
employees of the highway division of the Massachusetts Department of Transportation whose positions
have been eliminated due to the automation of toll collections. Most members retiring.under the ERI
program had a date retirement of October 28, 2016. 112 members took the ERI and retired during
FY2017. As a result, the total pension liability of MSERS increased by.approximately $10 million as of
June 30, 2017.

Changes in assumptions

The mortality assumptions changed as follows:

e Pre-retirement - was changed to RP-2014'Blue Collar Employees table projected generationally
with Scale MP-2016 set forward 1 year for females from RP-2000 Employees table projected
generationally with scale BB and a baseyear of 2009 (gender distinct).

e Post-retirement — was changed to RP-2014-Blue Collar Healthy Annuitant table projected
generationally with Scale MP-2016 set forward 1 year for females from RP-2000 Healthy
Annuitant table projected generationally with.Scale BB and a base year of 2009 (gender
distinct).

o Disabled members -is assumed to be in accordance with the RP-2000 Healthy Annuitant Table
projected generationally with~Scale BB and a base year of 2015 (gender distinct), and is
unchanged'from the prior valuation.

FY2016 Changes in Actuarial Assumptions

Changes in_benefit terms

Chapter' 176 of the Acts of 2011 created a one-time election for eligible members of the Optional
Retirement Plan("ORP") to transfer to the Massachusetts State Employee's Retirement System
("MSERS") and.purchase service for the period while members of the ORP. As a result, the total
pension liability of MSERS has increased by approximately $400 million as of June 30, 2016.

Note 2 - Other information

This schedule is intended to present 10 years of data. Additional years will be presented when
available.
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Fitchburg State University

(a department of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts)

Schedule of the University's Proportionate Share

of the Net OPEB Liability and Schedule of University Contributions

June 30, 2018

University's proportion of the net OPEB liability (asset)

University's proportionate share of the total OPEB liability (asset)
Less: University's proportionate share of Plan fiduciary net position
University's proportionate share of the net OPEB liability (asset)

University's covered payroll

University's proportionate share of the net OPEB liability (asset)

as a percentage of its covered payroll

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total

OPERB liability

* The amounts presented for each fiscal year were determined as of 6/30.

Contractually required contribution

Contributions in relation to the contractually required contribution

Contribution deficiency (excess)

University's covered payroll

Contributions as a percentage of covered payroll
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2018 2017
0.1272% 0.1181%
$ 26,412,099 $ 26,811,065
1,266,996 1,022,689
$ 25,145,103 $ 25,788,376
$ 37,747,018 $ 37,408,274
66.61% 68.94%
4.80% 3.81%
2018 2017
$ 3,366,603 $ 2,989,514
$ (3,366,603) $ (2,989,514)
$ - $ -
$ 37,747,018 $ 37,408,274

8.92% 7.99%

See Independent Auditor's Report on Page 2 and Notes to Required Supplementary Information.
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Notes to Required Supplementary Information
Year Ended June 30, 2018

Note 1 - Changes in OPEB plan benefit terms and assumptions

There are no changes in plan benefit terms and assumptions since the actuarial valuation as of January
1, 2017 is the initial actuarial valuation performed for the plan.

Note 2 - Other information

This schedule is intended to present 10 years of data. Additional years will be presented when
available.

Detained information about the OPEB plan's changes in net OPEB liability and changes in‘the plan's
fiduciary net position are not available to the University and;-accordingly, are/not.presented in the
schedule. This information is available in the Commonwealth of Massachusetts' financial statements.
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Fitchburg State University
(a department of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts)

Residence Hall Fund and Residence Hall Damage Fund Activity
June 30, 2018
The University's Residence Hall Fund and Residence Hall Damage Fund non-classified Statements of Net

Position at June 30, 2018 are as follows:

Statements of Net Position

Residence Residence Hall
Hall Fund Damage Fund
Assets
Cash $ 1,466,614 $ 132,193
Cash held by State Treasurer 184,839 -
Investments 1,026,393 82,159
Prepaid expenses 5,037 -
Accounts receivable, net 77,264 45,862
Total assets 2,760,147 260,214
Liabilities
Accounts payable 81,049 -
Deposits 323,200 -
Salaries payable 64,561 -
Compensated absences 83,879 -
Deferred rental income 2,050 -
Total liabilities 554,739 -
Net position $ 2,205,408 $ 260,214
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Fitchburg State University
(a department of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts)

Residence Hall Fund and Residence Hall Damage Fund Activity
June 30, 2018

The University's Residence Hall Fund and Residence Hall Damage Fund Statements of Revenues,
Expenses and Changes in Net Position (presented in accordance with the Commonwealth of
Massachusetts' Expenditure Classification plan) for the year ended June 30, 2018 are as follows:

Residence Residence Hall
Hall Fund Damage Fund
Revenues
Student fees $ 10,360,099 $ -
Interest 42,622 2,127
Investment income (loss) 32,932 1,882
Commissions 48,282 -
Rentals 69,649 -
Room damage assessments = 48,766
Miscellaneous 37,457 -
Total revenues 10,591,041 52,775
Expenses
Regular employee compensation 1,190,047 -
Regular employee related expenses 15,340 -
Special employee/contract services 176,921 -
Pension and insurance 430,711 -
Facility operating supplies and related expenses 78,150 -
Administrative expenses 11,869 -
Energy and space rental 1,146,012 -
Operational services 19,458 -
Equipment purchases 45,061 17,974
Equipment lease - purchase, lease, rent, repair 6,132 -
Purchased client services & programs 200 -
Construction and improvements 479,844 -
Benefit program 32,194 -
Loans and special payments 6,827,009 -
Other - bad debt expense (recovery) 18,842 389
Information technology expenses 18,556 -
Total expenses 10,496,346 18,363
Transfers (in)/out
Interdepartmental rental income (73,249) -
Printing 647 -
Total transfers (72,602) -
Total expenses and transfers 10,423,744 18,363
Increase (decrease) in net position 167,297 34,412
Net position - beginning of year 2,038,111 225,802
Net position - end of year $ 2,205,408 $ 260,214
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Residence Hall Fund and Residence Hall Damage Fund Activity
June 30, 2018

The above Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position do not include an allocation of
the current year charge for workers' compensation as estimated by the Commonwealth's actuarial review. It
is not practical to allocate any such amount to any specific trust fund.
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CohnReznick LLP COhnRezniCk@

cohnreznick.com ADVISORY « ASSURANCE - TAX

Independent Auditor's Report on Supplementary Information
Required by the Uniform Guidance

To the Board of Trustees
Fitchburg State University

We have audited the financial statements of the business-type activities and the discretely presented
component unit of Fitchburg State University (a department of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts) as of
and for the year ended June 30, 2018, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively
comprise Fitchburg State University's basic financial statements, and our report thereon dated [REPORT
DATE], which included emphasis of matter paragraphs and which appears on page 3, expressed
unmodified opinions on those financial statements. Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming
opinions on the 2018 financial statements as a whole. The accompanying schedule of/expenditures of
federal awards is presented for purposes of additional analysis as required by Title 2'U.S. Code of Federal
Regulations (CFR) Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit
Requirements for Federal Awards ("Uniform Guidance"), and isinot a required part of the 2018 financial
statements. Such information is the responsibility of managementand was derived from and relates directly
to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the,2018 financial statements. The
information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the 2018 financial
statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing-and reconciling such information directly
to the underlying accounting and other records used.to prepare the 2018 financial statements or to the
2018 financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing
standards generally accepted in the United States.of America..In our opinion, the schedule of expenditures
of federal awards is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the 2018 financial statements as a
whole.

Boston, Massachusetts
[REPORT DATE]
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Fitchburg State University
(a department of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts)

Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards
Year Ended June 30, 2018

Federal CFDA Passed through Federal
Federal Grantor/ Program or Cluster Title Number to Subrecipients Expenditures
National Endowment for the Humanities
Direct Programs
Promotion of the Humanities -
Office of Digital Humanities 45.169 - $ 1,003
Subtotal Direct Programs 1,003
Total National Endowment for the
Humanities $ 1,003
U.S. Department of Education
Direct Programs
English Language Acquisition State Grants
(TESEL: Transforming English and Schools
for English Learners) 84.365Z - $ 33,736
TRIO Cluster:
TRIO - Student Support Services 84.042 - 252,890
TRIO - Upward Bound 84.047 - 369,125
TRIO - Upward Bound Math & Science 84.047 - 119,996
Total TRIO Cluster 742,011
Student Financial Assistance Cluster:
Federal Supplemental Educational
Opportunity Grants 84.007 - 245,710
Federal Work-Study Program 84.033 - 209,728
Federal Perkins Loan Program 84.038 - 1,619,081
Federal Pell Grant Program 84.063 - 7,080,099
Federal Direct Student Loans 84.268 - 26,787,551
Nursing Student Loans 93.364 - 449,618
Total Student Financial Assistance
Cluster 36,391,787
Subtotal Direct Programs 37,167,534
Total U.S. Department of Education $ 37,167,534
Total Federal Expenditures $ 37,168,537

See Independent Auditor's Report on Supplementary Information on Page 100 and Notes to Schedule
of Expenditures of Federal Awards.
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Fitchburg State University
(a department of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts)

Notes to Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards
Year Ended June 30, 2018

Note 1 - Basis of presentation

The accompanying Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards ("SEFA" or "Schedule") includes the
federal award activity of Fitchburg State University (the "University"), under programs of the federal
government for the year ended June 30, 2018. The information in this Schedule is presented in
accordance with the requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform
Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for.Federal Awards ("Uniform
Guidance"). Because the Schedule presents only a selected portion of the'operations of the University,
itis not intended to and does not present the financial position, changes'in net position, or cash flows of
the University.

Note 2 - Summary of significant accounting policies

Expenditures reported on the Schedule are reported on the accrual basis of accounting. Such
expenditures are recognized following, as applicable; the cost principles contained in the Uniform
Guidance, wherein certain types of expenditures are notallowable or are limited as to reimbursement.
Fitchburg State University has not elected to use the 10-percent de'minimis indirect cost rate allowed
under the Uniform Guidance.

Note 3 - Matching costs

Matching costs, i.e., the nonfederal 'share. of certain. program costs, are not included in the
accompanying Schedule.

Note 4 - Relationship to federal financial reports

The regulations and guidelines governing the preparation of federal financial reports vary by federal
agency and among programs administered by.the same agency. Accordingly, the amounts reported in
the federal financial reports do not necessarily agree with the amounts reported in the accompanying
Schedule.

Note 5 - Federal Direct'Student.Loans ("FDL")

The Schedule includes/FDL ("CFDA 84.268") which are made directly by the U.S. Department of
Education toindividual'students.

Note 6 - Federal Perkins Loan Program

The Federal Perkins Loan Program ("CFDA 84.038") is administered by Fitchburg State University.
Fiscal year 2018-activity included loan funds disbursed of $0. The outstanding liability to the federal
government under this loan program at June 30, 2018 totaled $1,467,263.

Note 7 - Nursing Student Loans

The Nursing Student Loan Program ("CFDA 93.364") is administered by Fitchburg State University.
Fiscal year 2018 activity included loan funds disbursed of $30,767. The outstanding liability to the
federal government under this loan program at June 30, 2018 totaled $378,102.

102

Powered by BoardOnTrack

114 of 178



Fitchburg State University - Board of Trustees - Agenda - Tuesday October 30, 2018 at 10:00 AM

CohnReznick LLP COhnRezniCkVD

cohnreznick.com ADVISORY « ASSURANCE - TAX

Independent Auditor's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
and on Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements
Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards

To the Board of Trustees
Fitchburg State University

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards,
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements,of the business-type
activities and discretely presented component unit of Fitchburg State University (the<"University") (a
department of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts), as of and for the year ended June. 30,2018, and the
related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise<the University's'basic financial
statements, and have issued our report thereon dated [REPORT DATE], which included emphasis of
matter paragraphs as indicated on page 3.

Internal Control over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the University's internal
control over financial reporting ("internal control")to determine the audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the University's internal control. Accordingly, we
do not express an opinion on the effectiveness-of the University's internal control.

A deficiency in internal control existswhen the design.or operation of a control does not allow management
or employees, in the normal course of performing theirassigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct
misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness'is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in
internal control, such that there is a.reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity's
financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A significant
deficiency is a deficiency, or'a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a
material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal controliwas for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this
section and<was not designed to.identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material
weaknesses. or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any
deficiencies.in internal controlthat we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses
may exist that have not beenidentified.

Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the University's financial statements are free from
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations,
contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the
determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those
provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The
results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be
reported under Government Auditing Standards.

103

Powered by BoardOnTrack 115 of 178



Fitchburg State University - Board of Trustees - Agenda - Tuesday October 30, 2018 at 10:00 AM

CohnReznick@

Purpose of this Report

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance
and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal
control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with
Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity's internal control and compliance. Accordingly,
this communication is not suitable for any other purpose.

Boston, Massachusetts
[REPORT DATE]
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CohnReznick LLP COhnRezniCkVD

cohnreznick.com ADVISORY « ASSURANCE - TAX

Independent Auditor's Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program
and on Internal Control over Compliance Required by the Uniform Guidance

To the Board of Trustees
Fitchburg State University

Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program

We have audited Fitchburg State University's compliance with the types of compliance requirements
described in the OMB Compliance Supplement that could have a direct and material effect on each of
Fitchburg State University's major federal programs for the year ended ‘June 30, 2018. Fitchburg State
University's major federal programs are identified in the summary¢of auditor's results:section of the
accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs.

Management's Responsibility

Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements of federal.statutes, regulations, and the
terms and conditions of its federal awards applicable to its federal programs.

Auditor's Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on compliance for each of Fitchburg State University's major
federal programs based on our audit of the:types of compliance.requirements referred to above. We
conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America; the standards_.applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United-States; and the audit requirements of Title 2
U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and
Audit Requirements for Federal Awards ("Uniform Guidance"). Those standards and the Uniform Guidance
require that we plan and perform'the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether noncompliance
with the types of compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on
a major federal program.occurred. An.audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence about Fitchburg
State University's«compliance with/those requirements and performing such other procedures as we
considered necessary inithe circumstances.

We believe that'our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion on compliance for each major federal
program: However, our audit does not provide a legal determination of Fitchburg State University's
compliance.

Opinion on Each Major Federal Program

In our opinion, Fitchburg State University complied, in all material respects, with the types of compliance
requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on each of its major federal
programs for the year ended June 30, 2018.
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CohnReznick@

Report on Internal Control over Compliance

Management of Fitchburg State University is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal
control over compliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to above. In planning and
performing our audit of compliance, we considered Fitchburg State University's internal control over
compliance with the types of requirements that could have a direct and material effect on each major
federal program to determine the auditing procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on compliance for each major federal program and to test and report on
internal control over compliance in accordance with the Uniform Guidance, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over compliance. Accordingly, we do not
express an opinion on the effectiveness of Fitchburg State University's internal:€ontrol over compliance.

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over
compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal courseof performing their assigned
functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a
federal program on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal control.over compliance.is a deficiency,
or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that there is a reasonable
possibility that material noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program will not
be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis.A significant deficiency in‘internal control over
compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies,in internal control.over.compliance with a type
of compliance requirement of a federal program that is less severe than a material weakness in internal
control over compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by.those.charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the first
paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify ‘all deficiencies in internal control over
compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. We did not identify any
deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses. However,
material weaknesses may exist that'have.not been identified.

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our testing
of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of the Uniform
Guidance. Accordingly, this.reportiis not suitable.for any other purpose.

Boston, Massachusetts
[REPORT DATE]
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Fitchburg State University
(a department of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts)

Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs
Year Ended June 30, 2018

Summary of Auditor's Results

1.

8.
9.

The auditor's report expresses an unmodified opinion on whether the financial statements of
Fitchburg State University were prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles.

No significant deficiencies related to the audit of the financial statements were reported in the
Independent Auditor's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on Compliance
and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements.Performed in Aceordance with
Government Auditing Standards. No material weaknesses were reported.

No instances of noncompliance material to the financial /statements of .Fitchburg State
University, which would be required to be reported_in accordance with Government Auditing
Standards, were disclosed during the audit.

No significant deficiencies in internal control overmajor federal award programs were disclosed
during the audit and reported in the Independent Auditor's.Report on Compliance for Each
Major Federal Program and on Internal.Control over Compliance Required by the Uniform
Guidance. No material weaknesses were reported.

The auditor's report on compliance for the major federal award programs for Fitchburg State
University expressed an unmodified-opinion on.all major federal programs.

There were no audit findings.relating to the major federal award programs for Fitchburg State
University that are required to be reportedin accordance with 2 CFR Section 200.516(a) in this
Schedule.

The programs tested as major programs were:

Agency Title CFDA #

Student Financial Assistance Cluster:

U.S. Department of Education Federal Supplemental Educational

Opportunity Grants 84.007
U.S. Department of Education Federal Work-Study Program 84.033
U.S. Department of Education Federal Perkins Loan Program 84.038
U.S. Department of Education Federal Pell Grant Program 84.063
U.S. Department of Education Federal Direct Student Loans 84.268
U.S. Department of Health and
Human Services Nursing Student Loans 93.364

The threshold for distinguishing between Type A and B Programs was $750,000.

Fitchburg State University was determined to be a low-risk auditee.
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Fitchburg State University
(a department of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts)

Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs
Year Ended June 30, 2018

B. Findings - Audit of Financial Statements
None
C. Findings and Questioned Costs - Audit of Major Federal Award Programs
None
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Fitchburg State University

Communication with Those Charged
with Governance

June 30, 2018
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[Report Date]

To the Board of Trustees
Fitchburg State University

We have audited the financial statements of the business-type activities and discretely presented
component unit of Fitchburg State University (the "University") (a department of the Commonwealth of
Massachusetts) for the year ended June 30, 2018, which collectively comprise Fitchburg State
University's basic financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated [Report Date].
Professional standards require that we provide you with information about our responsibilities under
generally accepted auditing standards, Government Auditing Standards and Title 2 U.S. Code of
Federal Regulations (CFR) Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit
Requirements for Federal Awards ("Uniform Guidance"), as well as information related to the planned
scope and timing of our audit, and certain other matters related to the audit.

Our Responsibilities under U.S. Generally Accepted Auditing Standards, Government Auditing
Standards and the Uniform Guidance

As stated in our engagement letter dated May 31, 2018, our responsibility, as described by professional
standards, is to plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable, but not absolute, assurance that the
financial statements are free of material misstatement, and to express opinions about whether the
financial statements are fairly presented, in all material respects, in conformity with U.S. generally
accepted accounting principles. Our audit of the financial statements does not relieve you or
management of your responsibilities.

In planning and performing our audit, we considered Fitchburg State University's internal control over
financial reporting in order to determine our auditing procedures for the purpose of expressing our
opinions on the financial statements and not to provide assurance on the internal control over financial
reporting. We also considered internal control over compliance with requirements that could have a
direct and material effect on a major federal program in order to determine our auditing procedures for
the purpose of expressing our opinion on compliance and to test and report on internal control over
compliance in accordance with the Uniform Guidance.

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether Fitchburg State University's financial
statements are free of material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain
provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grants, noncompliance with which could have a direct
and material effect on the determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion
on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit. Also in accordance with the
Uniform Guidance, we examined, on a test basis, evidence about Fitchburg State University's
compliance with the types of compliance requirements described in the U.S. Office of Management and
Budget ("OMB") Compliance Supplement applicable to each of its major federal programs for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on Fitchburg State University's compliance with those requirements.
While our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion, it does not provide a legal determination on
Fitchburg State University's compliance with those requirements.

Management's Discussion and Analysis, pension benefit schedules and postemployment benefits other
than pensions (OPEB) schedules which are required supplementary information ("RSI") are presented
to supplement the basic financial statements as required by the Governmental Accounting Standards
Board, who considers them to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial
statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. Our responsibility for
Management’s Discussion and Analysis, pension benefit schedules and postemployment benefits other
than pensions (OPEB) schedules is to apply certain limited procedures to the RSl in accordance with
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. However, the RSI has not been
audited and, because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an
opinion or provide any assurance, we do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the RSI.
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We have been engaged to report on the residence hall and residence hall damage fund activity and
schedule of expenditures of federal awards ("supplementary information"), which accompany the
financial statements but are not required supplementary information. Our responsibility with respect to
this supplementary information, as described by professional standards, is to evaluate the presentation
of the supplementary information in relation to the financial statements as a whole and to report on
whether the supplementary information is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the financial
statements as a whole.

We are responsible for communicating significant matters related to the audit that are, in our
professional judgment, relevant to your responsibilities in overseeing the financial reporting process.
However, we are not required to design procedures specifically to identify such matters.

We gave consideration to the nonaudit services provided to the University during the period of our
engagement, which may reasonably be thought to bear on independence, in reaching the conclusion
that our independence has not been impaired in accordance with professional standards.

Planned Scope and Timing of the Audit

We performed the audit according to the planned scope and timing previously communicated to
management in our meeting about planning matters on June 19, 2018.

An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements; therefore, our audit involves judgment about the number of transactions to be
examined and the areas to be tested.

Our audit included obtaining an understanding of the entity and its component unit and their
environments, including internal control, sufficient to assess the risks of material misstatement of the
financial statements and to design the nature, timing, and extent of further audit procedures. Material
misstatements may result from (1) errors, (2) fraudulent financial reporting, (3) misappropriation of
assets, or (4) violations of laws or governmental regulations that are attributable to the entity and its
component unit or to acts by management or employees acting on behalf of the entity and its
component unit.

This letter communicates any significant findings as a result of our audit.

Significant Audit Findings

Qualitative Aspects of Accounting Practices

Management is responsible for the selection and use of appropriate accounting policies. The significant
accounting policies used by Fitchburg State University are described in Note 1 to the financial
statements.

During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018, Fitchburg State University adopted the following new
Governmental Accounting Standards ("GASB"):

o Statement No. 75 - Accounting and Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefits Other
Than Pensions; and

e Statement No. 85, Omnibus 2017.

Adoption by the University of GASB Statement Nos. 75 and 85 resulted in a prior period adjustment to
record a net OPEB liability of $25,788,376 and an adjustment to net position of $25,788,376 as of June
30, 2016 as disclosed in Note 29 and additional disclosures as required by the new standards as
disclosed in Note 22 and required supplementary information.

Powered by BoardOnTrack

124 of 178



Fitchburg State University - Board of Trustees - Agenda - Tuesday October 30, 2018 at 10:00 AM

We noted no transactions entered into by the University during the year for which there is a lack of
authoritative guidance or consensus. All significant transactions have been recognized in the financial
statements in the proper period.

Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by management and are
based on management's knowledge and experience about past and current events and assumptions
about future events. Certain accounting estimates are particularly sensitive because of their
significance to the financial statements and because of the possibility that future events affecting them
may differ significantly from those expected. The most sensitive estimate affecting the financial
statements is management's estimate of the allowance for doubtful collections of accounts receivable.
Management's estimate of the allowance for doubtful collections of accounts receivable is principally
based on its historical experience and an analysis of the collectability of individual accounts. We
evaluated the key factors and assumptions used by management to develop the allowance in
determining that it is reasonable in relation to the financial statements as a whole.

Certain financial statement disclosures are particularly sensitive because of their significance to the
financial statement users. The most sensitive disclosures affecting the financial statements are the
disclosures related to the University's cash and cash equivalents, and investments found in Note 2 and
the pension and OPEB disclosures found in Notes 21 and 22, respectively, to the financial statements.

The financial statement disclosures are neutral, consistent, and clear.
Difficulties Encountered in Performing the Audit

We encountered no significant difficulties in dealing with management in performing and completing our
audit.

Corrected and Uncorrected Misstatements

Professional standards require us to accumulate all known and likely misstatements identified during
the audit, other than those that are clearly trivial, and communicate them to the appropriate level of
management. The schedule attached to the management representation letter summarizes uncorrected
misstatements of the financial statements. Management has determined that their effects are
immaterial, both individually and in the aggregate, to the financial statements as a whole.

In addition, none of the misstatements detected as a result of audit procedures and corrected by
management were material, either individually or in the aggregate, to the financial statements taken as
a whole.

Disagreements with Management

For purposes of this letter, professional standards define a disagreement with management as a
financial accounting, reporting, or auditing matter, whether or not resolved to our satisfaction, that could
be significant to the financial statements or the auditor's report. We are pleased to report that no such
disagreements arose during the course of our audit.

Management Representations

We have requested certain representations from management that are included in the management
representation letter dated [Report Date].

Management Consultations with Other Independent Accountants

In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing and
accounting matters, similar to obtaining a "second opinion" on certain situations. If consultation involves
application of an accounting principle to the University's financial statements or a determination of the
type of auditor's opinion that may be expressed on those statements, our professional standards
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require the consulting accountant to check with us to determine that the consultant has all the relevant
facts. To our knowledge, there were no such consultations with other accountants.

Other Audit Findings or Issues

We generally discuss a variety of matters, including the application of accounting principles and
auditing standards, with management each year prior to retention as the University's auditors.
However, these discussions occurred in the normal course of our professional relationship and our
responses were not a condition to our retention.

Other Matters

We applied certain limited procedures to Management's Discussion and Analysis, pension benefit
schedules and OPEB benefit schedule which are required supplementary information ("RSI") that
supplements the basic financial statements. Our procedures consisted of inquiries of management
regarding the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with
management's responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we
obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We did not audit the RSI and do not express
an opinion or provide any assurance on the RSI.

We were engaged to report on the residence hall and residence hall damage fund activity and schedule
of expenditures of federal awards, which accompany the financial statements but are not RSI. With
respect to this supplementary information, we made certain inquiries of management and evaluated the
form, content, and methods of preparing the information to determine that the information complies with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, the method of preparing it
has not changed from the prior period, and the information is appropriate and complete in relation to
our audit of the financial statements. We compared and reconciled the supplementary information to
the underlying accounting records used to prepare the financial statements or to the financial
statements themselves.

Restriction on Use

This information is intended solely for the information and use of the Board of Trustees and
management of Fitchburg State University and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone
other than these specified parties.

Very truly yours,
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CohnReznick LLP

COHN@REZNICK

ACCOUNTING * TAX » ADVISORY

cohnreznick.com

[REPORT DATE]

Dr. Richard S. Lapidus,
President

Fitchburg State University
160 Pearl Street
Fitchburg, MA 01420

Dear President Lapidus:

This letter serves to confirm that CohnReznick LLP did not issue a separate management letter
in connection with its audits of the financial statements of Fitchburg State University, Fitchburg
State University Foundation, Inc. and FSU Foundation Supporting Organization, Inc. for the
fiscal year ended June 30, 2018.

If I can be of any further assistance, please do not hesitate to call me.

Sincerely yours,

COHNREZNICK LLP

Jay J. Kaufman, CPA
Retired Partner - Consultant
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Fitchburg State University
Executive Summary
Report on Audits of Financial Statements and Supplemental Information
Years Ended June 30, 2018 and 2017

The University received an unqualified report from its auditors and there were no issues or findings that arose during the
audit.

The Management’s Discussion and Analysis, beginning on page 5, provides a broad overview of the financial position
and fiscal activities of the University and includes ratio analysis in key areas.

Statements of Net Position (pages 20 -22):

>

>

Total assets and deferred outflows increased to $244.5 million. Total liabilities increased to $124.5 million, which is a
net increase of $30.7 million from last fiscal year. $28.5 million of that increase was due to a new accounting standard
implemented in FY18, retroactively to FY17: (GASB Statement 75-accounting and financial reporting for
postemployment benefits other than pensions)

Current unrestricted cash was $23.5 at June 30, 2018. Current restricted cash was $6.5 million and noncurrent restricted
cash was $6.1 million at June 30, 2018.

Capital assets increased by $8.00 million to $181.4 million net of current period depreciation of $9.99 million.

Total debt from bond issues is $62.8 million. The bonds were issued for various construction projects. See Note 12,
beginning on page 57. Debt from capital lease issued in FY18 is $0.89 million. Net pension liability was $11.4 million
and $12.6 million and net OPEB liability $25.7 million and $25.1 million at June 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
Invested in capital assets; net of related debt increased by $2.2 million.

Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position (pages 23 -24):

Total revenue for the year was $105.7 million.

Tuition and fee revenue increased by 7.2%. Scholarships and scholarship allowances was $10.4 million.

Auxiliary revenue, which represents operation of the residence halls totaled $10.6 and does not include fees charged for
the student housing facility owned and operated by the FSU Supporting Organization, Inc.

General appropriations increased a little more than 1%, over the prior period. Capital appropriations received totaled
$439,467

Total expenditures, exclusive of depreciation, increased by 4.8% to $93 million due primarily to increased payroll and
benefits mandated by collective bargaining agreements, resident halls debt payments and commission for the online
program

Instructional expenditures represent 36.1% of total operating expenditures, exclusive of depreciation and scholarships.
85.0% of Instructional expenditures relate to payroll and benefit costs.

Institutional support consist of the day to day operational support of the institution, excluding plant operations and
represents 13.3% of total operating expenses exclusive of depreciation and scholarships.

Operations and maintenance of plant expenditures totaled $11.0 million.

There was an overall increase in net position of $2.7 million for the fiscal year.

Statement of Cash Flows (pages 25 - 27):

>

Total cash at June 30, 2018 was $36.8 million.

Cash received from operations (before appropriations) was $63.7 million. Cash expended for operations was $77.4
million, resulting in an operating loss of $13.7 million, which was offset by appropriations of $28.8 million net of tuition
amounts reverted to the state.

Acquisitions of property and equipment totaled $18.0 million.

Notes to the Financials Statements (pages 28 - 108):

Most of the notes are standard disclosures. Note 1, which outlines the University’s significant accounting policies, spans pages
28 through 36.

>
>

Note 5, beginning on page 49, details the property and equipment held by the University.
Details relating to University debt (capital leases and bond issues) are in Note 12, beginning on page 57.
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Cover Sheet

FY2018 Audit - VOTE (12-18/19)

Section: Il. Finance and Administration
Item: B. FY2018 Audit - VOTE (12-18/19)
Purpose: Vote

Submitted by:
Related Material: VOTE FY2018 Audit 10-30-18.pdf
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Fitchburg State University
REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION

TO: Board of Trustees

DATE:

October 30, 2018

FROM: The President

SUBJECT: FY2018 Audit

REQUEST NUMBER:

12-18/19

It is requested that the Board of Trustees accept the FY2018 audit as recommended by

the Finance Committee.
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Cover Sheet

Intent to Renovate and Bond Issuance - Holmes Dining Dish
Room Project - VOTE (13-18/19)

Section: Il. Finance and Administration

Item: C. Intent to Renovate and Bond Issuance - Holmes Dining Dish
Room Project - VOTE (13-18/19)

Purpose: Vote

Submitted by:
Related Material:

VOTE Intent to Renovate and Bond Issuance Vote Holmes Dining Dish Room Project
10-30-18.pdf
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Fitchburg State University
REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION

TO: Board of Trustees

DATE:

October 30, 2018

FROM: The President

SUBJECT: Intent to Renovate and Bond Issuance - Fitchburg State

University Holmes Dining Dish Room Project

REQUEST NUMBER:

13-18/19

It is requested that the Board of Trustees of Fitchburg State University vote to declare
its official intent to renovate the Fitchburg State University Holmes Dining Dish Room.
The dish room equipment and finishes in the Holmes Dining Hall have reached the end
of their service life and need replacement.

The total estimated project cost is $1,500,000. It is requested that the Board of
Trustees of Fitchburg State University authorize the MSCBA on behalf of Fitchburg
State University to issue a bond in the amount of $1,675,000 for the Holmes Dining Dish

Room Project.
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Cover Sheet

Intent to Renovate and Bond Issuance - Recreation Center
Roof Project - VOTE (14-18/19)

Section: Il. Finance and Administration

Item: D. Intent to Renovate and Bond Issuance - Recreation Center
Roof Project - VOTE (14-18/19)
Purpose: Vote

Submitted by:
Related Material:
VOTE Intent to Renovate and Bond Issuance Vote Rec Center Roof Project 10-30-18.pdf
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Fitchburg State University
REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION

TO: Board of Trustees

DATE:

October 30, 2018

FROM: The President

SUBJECT: Intent to Renovate and Bond Issuance - Fitchburg State

University Recreation Center Roof Project

REQUEST NUMBER:

14-18/19

It is requested that the Board of Trustees of Fitchburg State University vote to declare
its official intent to renovate the Fitchburg State University Recreation Center Roof. The
Recreation Center was built in 2001 and its roofing systems are now past their

expected useful life.

The total estimated project cost is $1,100,000. It is requested that the Board of
Trustees of Fitchburg State University authorize the MSCBA on behalf of Fitchburg
State University to issue a bond in the amount of $1,230,000 for the Recreation Center

Roof Project.
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Cover Sheet

Transfer from Reserve Funds - VOTE (15-18/19)

Section:

Item:

Purpose:
Submitted by:
Related Material:

Il. Finance and Administration
E. Transfer from Reserve Funds - VOTE (15-18/19)
Vote

VOTE Transfer of Funds Vote 10-30-18.pdf
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Fitchburg State University
REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION

DATE:

TO: Board of Trustees
October 30, 2018

FROM: The President

15-18/19
SUBJECT: Transfer from Reserve Funds

REQUEST NUMBER:

It is requested that the Fitchburg State University Board of Trustees approve the
president’s recommendation to transfer $788,000 from reserves to the capital project
fund (CPRO) as a match to Commonwealth deferred maintenance funds for the
following projects: Recreation Center pathway improvements and Edgerly and
Thompson window replacements, as well as to support continued progress on the

theater block development project.
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Cover Sheet

Act on President's recommendation for faculty sabbatical
requests - VOTE (16-18/19)

Section: lll. Sabbatical Requests

Item: A. Act on President's recommendation for faculty sabbatical
requests - VOTE (16-18/19)

Purpose: Vote

Submitted by:

Related Material: Memo to Board from President - Sabbaticals 2018.pdf
Sabbatical Summaries 2018.pdf
VOTE Sabbaticals 2018.pdf
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160 Pearl Street, Fitchburg, MA 01420-2697

# FITCHBURG STATE
# UNIVERSITY

Tel 978.665.3101 = Fax 978.665.3699
rlapidus@fitchburgstate.edu

www.fitchburgstate.edu

Richard S. Lapidus, Ph.D.

PRESIDENT
TO: Board of Trustees
FROM: Dr. Richard S. Lapidus
President
RE: Sabbatical Leave Requests AY2019-2020
DATE: October 30, 2018

In accordance with the agreement between the Board of Higher Education and the Massachusetts
State College Association, | am recommending approval of sabbatical leaves for the 2019-2020
academic year. Such leaves are granted on the basis of academic quality of the proposal, as well as
other criteria. Prior to my review requests were initially reviewed by department chairs and Dr.
Alberto Cardelle, Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs.

Fall Semester 2019 —09/01/19-01/15/20:
Randall Grometstein

Joann Nichols

Benjamin Railton

Jason Talanian

Jiang Yu

Spring Semester 2020—01/16/20-05/31/20:

Jonathan Amakawa
DeMisty Bellinger-Delfeld
Laura Garofoli

Cheryl Goldman

David Heikkinen

Behavioral Sciences

Education

English Studies

Exercise and Sports Science
Earth and Geographic Sciences

Communication Media
English Studies
Psychological Science
Psychological Science
Exercise and Sports Science

Margaret Hoey Biology/Chemistry
Sanjay Kaul Industrial Technology
Peter Staab Mathematics

Annette Sullivan
Heather Urbanski
Daniel Welsh

Full Year—09/01/19-05/31/20:
Amy Wehe

Education
English Studies
Biology/Chemistry

Mathematics
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Sabbatical Summaries

Fall 2019

Randall Grometstein Behavioral Sciences 09/01/19 to 01/15/20
Randall Grometstein, Ph.D., will complete a manuscript for a textbook for the area of Psychology of
Crime. Criminal justice students at every university study criminology, the array of sociological
theories that have been developed to understand why people commit crime. However, sociological
theories operate at the cultural and societal levels of explanation and thus are incapable of explaining
individual-level factors that may lead to crime. Furthermore, sociological theories are present-oriented
and cannot explain changing levels of crime. Since 1990 biosocial theories of crime have been
proposed. Professor Grometstein became interested in these in graduate school. Biosocial theories
add several levels of explanation to theories of crime, most importantly, individual-level variables and a
developmental perspective that makes it possible to explain changes in crime rates over historical
time. Although biosocial theories are by now well-established, few if any criminological textbooks
mention them. She will collaborate with Dr. Richard Wiebe. Both worked together to develop the
Psychology of Crime course and have been teaching it here at Fitchburg State as a supplement to the
course SOC 2750 Criminology.

Joann Nichols Education 09/01/19 to 01/15/20
Professor Nichols plans on working with her licensed reading partner therapy dog, Beauty, in the
McKay Arts Academy Fitchburg State campus laboratory school. While trained as a therapy golden
retriever who inspires social and emotional benefit, she is also a certified “reading partner,” meaning
that she exhibits various encouraging behaviors in response to children reading to her. Students of all
literacy abilities enjoy her unconditional acceptance and attention to their efforts. The leave would
allow her to make multiple, consistent visits per week within the reading lesson times of a designated
classroom in an urban setting. The scheduling would control for multiple variables affecting the
children’s reading aloud behaviors and provide a well-planned way to collect authentic assessments
before and after this more-consistent treatment. Pre- and post-testing would be done using the
Fountas and Pinnell widely-regarded assessment tool of children’s reading fluency and prosody.
Research on the efficacy of animal reading partner therapy would strengthen not only her Education
Department classroom instruction in guiding new teacher candidates toward superbly effective
classroom environments, but would also legitimize and clarify the goals for her continued reading
partner therapy work at McKay.

Benjamin Railton English Studies 09/01/19 to 01/15/20
Professor Railton, specializing in American literature and American Studies, plans to use his
sabbatical time to complete his fifth book manuscript, Exclusion and Inclusion: The Battle to Define
America. He plans to deliver 8 to 10 presentations that will connect this project to many different
communities, including not only academic institutions and secondary schools but also museums and
historic sites, bookstores and book festivals, historical societies and book clubs, and other
communities. Additionally, he will also start work on a digital humanities project concerning exemplary
American figures called, The Hall of Inspiration: Exemplary American Figures and Stories, which will
feature multimedia dimensions and interactive digital resources as well as an accompanying book
manuscript. This presentation of his topic will allow audiences to engage and add their own voices to
the historical conversations. These very timely and interesting projects will result in not only worthy
scholarly publications and presentations, but also will enrich his laudable teaching here at Fitchburg
State in the areas of American literature and American studies.
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Jason Talanian Exercise and Sports Science 09/01/19 to 01/15/20
Professor Talanian’s plan of the study is to observe the effects of chronic strength training on
measures of body composition and performance in subjects with cerebral palsy (CP). CP significantly
impacts movement and muscle tone, and exercise training is commonly prescribed to limit these
deficiencies. Our study observing the effects of chronic strength training on body composition and
movement performance can be impactful in the field. The results may benefit trainers and therapists
that work with CP patients.

Jiang Yu Earth and Geographic Sciences 09/01/19 to 01/15/20
Professor Yu’s goal for this sabbatical is to adapt existing courses in physics to the standards of the
American Physical Society (APS). This is important because as a program that does not receive
specialized/professional accreditation the standards of the APS improve our ability to instruct and
attain the most contemporary competencies in physics. Through the sabbatical the APS definition of
the calculus-based introductory physics in terms of topic coverage, methods of teaching, laboratory
requirement, and learning objectives will be reviewed and outlined for course adaptation. Through the
sabbatical, research into the common practice in American universities in terms of textbook options,
supporting materials, available online products, and related academic issues and trends will be carried
out. The most critical component of the courses research, redesign and implementation will be the
development of a collection of lab experiments with pedagogical design, required instrumentation
and learning outcomes.

Spring 2020

Jonathan Amakawa Communication Media 01/16/20 to 05/31/20
Professor Amakawa will work on creating an independent Augmented Reality (AR) project with a focus
on subject matter outside of his recent professional work. His work in technology offers tremendous
potential for teaching public history and combines the fields of Game Design and Digital History. He
would like to develop an Augmented Reality project for a historical subject outside of “Slavery and the
Underground Railroad” and is interested in several potential areas including presenting historical
locations in the ancient city of Kamakura, Japan; or Dejima Island in Nagasaki Harbor where the Dutch
East India Company maintained a trading post during Japan’s Edo period. His plan is to select a
historical subject, conduct research and create and publish a fully functional AR app that will be made
available to the public. He would also like to present the project at a future Academic Conference —
preferably one with a focus on Serious Games and AR.

DeMisty Bellinger-Delfeld English Studies 01/16/20 to 05/31/20
Professor Bellinger-Delfeld, Associate Professor specializing in Creative and Professional Writing, will
use her sabbatical time to finish two book-length projects as well as to work on her poetry writing. The
first is a novel about male aggression, gun violence, and racism, currently under revision at the
request of her agent. She plans to complete, revise and submit this manuscript to publishers during
her sabbatical period. She will also continue work on her second project, a novel about the African-
American entertainer and businesswoman Bricktop, a project that she began in 2017 during a trip to
France, sponsored by a Whiting fellowship that she was awarded. This novel explores the life of-
Bricktop. It elucidates some aspects of how to succeed financially in a sexist society and explores how
this black woman succeeded in spite of 1920s and 1930s racism. As a teacher of creative writing who
instructs her students in the creative writing, editing and researching processes, Dr. Bellinger-Delfeld
will undoubtedly bring much of her work successfully and inspirationally back to her Fitchburg State
classroom. Her novel on Bricktop will also certainly enhance her teaching in her feminist and gender
studies classes and in her course on African-American women.
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Laura Garofoli Psychological Science 01/16/20 to 05/31/20
Professor Garofoli will work on two, book-writing projects. The first book has a working title of “The
Last Self-Help Book You Will Ever Need: How the Real Science of Psychology Can Help You Make
the Lasting Changes You Have Always Wanted to Make.” Its purpose is to explain, in laymen’s terms,
the behavioral phenomena and processes that make behavior change difficult, as well as the behavior
self-modification practices that are essential to helping people make lasting changes in their
problematic behaviors, thoughts, and feelings. The second book she would like to work on has a
working title of “Science and Scripture: The Developmental and Behavioral Science Supporting God'’s
Plan for a Healthy Family.” This book has a significant personal relevance, but it has tremendous
academic value as well. Christians spend a great deal of time and money on bible studies and
devotionals, and one of the most popular subjects in this pursuit is marriage and family. In fact, many
Christians engage in what is known as bibliotherapy (the use of a book to promote healing) by
completing themed bible studies and devotionals. However, very few Christian bible studies
incorporate scientific findings as support for the bible’s teachings. Science and religion are often seen
as opposing forces, but as both a developmental psychologist and a Christian, she feels a sense of
responsibility to fill a void in the literature and write a book that integrates scientific evidence with
biblical teachings on healthy marriages and child rearing.

Cheryl Goldman Psychological Science 01/16/20 to 05/31/20
Professor Goldman has been using a book of autobiographical case studies, written by young adults,
in her Adolescent Development class for about 15 years. She uses them in homework assignments
and on tests. The authors are diverse in terms of race, gender differentiation, SES, and ethnicity. All
these years she has been looking unsuccessfully for another source of autobiographical case studies
or just different case studies to use in this class. She would like to put together a collection of these
case studies that would be relevant for her Adolescent Development course. She would like this
collection of case studies to be as diverse as those in the book she has been using, but needs time to
do this. The second thing she would like to do is improve her class presentations, most importantly,
the class discussions. Usually, a small handful of students participate verbally and when they finish
talking, there is silence. She would like to learn how to comfortably tune into and break that silence,
and sensitively encourage more dialogue by students who tend not to talk in class. Sometimes tense
moments come up during discussions and she would like to be better able to turn them into teachable
moments and to minimize, or even eliminate, when mistakes and the unexpected happen. CSZ
Boston/Business in Roslindale, MA runs improv trainings and interactive workshops that use an
“improvisational mindset to attack old problems with a fresh approach.” They work with people in
business and education to increase public speaking skills by learning to think on your feet.

David Heikkinen Exercise and Sports Science 01/16/20 to 05/31/20
Professor Heikkinen intends to perform a comprehensive review of the literature on the sport of alpine
ski racing. The purpose of this review of literature will be to examine the physical characteristics,
biomechanics, physiology, and training methodologies of athletes in the sport of alpine ski racing and
facilitate and prepare for his primary goals of writing, scholarship, and publishing about strength &
conditioning modalities and programming for the sport of alpine ski racing. There is not a recent,
comprehensive review of literature on the subject of strength & conditioning in the sport of alpine ski
racing. He would like to write and publish such a review in hopes of contributing to the discipline. Once
his review of literature is complete, he plans to disseminate this information in several ways: peer
review process for publication, as a poster abstract to the National Strength & Conditioning
Association’s Annual Conference, and using this updated information on the subject of Training Alpine
Ski Racers and present at Regional- and National-level conferences.
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Margaret Hoey Biology/Chemistry 01/16/20 to 05/31/20
Professor Hoey will continue her scholarly activity by conducting experiments and analyses associated
with the DNase Il project. The goal of her sabbatical is to also redesign the Human Genetics course to
update content and embed LA&S learning outcomes. She returned to the faculty in fall 2017 after
holding a leadership role at the university for 3 years. While dean, she did not teach nor did she
participate in scholarly activity. Now that she has returned to the faculty she has rejoined the DNase Il
research group (Drs. Ron Kreiser, Lisa Grimm, and Elizabeth Kilpatrick) as an active participant. Their
research group is focused on the functional evolution of the deoxyribonuclease 1l (DNase Il) gene
family. She would like to take the opportunity during her sabbatical to complete aspects of their
research objectives. The DNase Il project is ongoing, but the exact experiments completed during her
sabbatical would depend somewhat on the progress of the project over the next year.

Sanjay Kaul Industrial Technology 01/16/20 to 05/31/20
Professor Kaul will use this sabbatical for researching existing technology and pioneering
technological breakthroughs in the field of energy technology and policy. His research procedures will
mainly use an energy audit approach, combining the laws of thermodynamics with an economic
perspective to explain why renewable resources are now inevitable for wholesome and integrated
energy planning. This will be carried out by making contact, interviewing and researching the use of
these technologies with leading technology companies in the field, plus research on the literature.
This area of research looking at energy technologies and their ROI will assist various concentrations
within the Industrial Technology department and bolster their collaboration with our business
department specialties. The resulting collaboration (may allow us to) establish Technology and
Management courses that will reflect emerging changes. Similarly, efforts in this sabbatical will be
used to develop this research into a publishable manuscript. The sabbatical deliverable will enhance
teaching in multiple energy courses required in various disciplines of industrial technology. With this
work, courses will reflect updated and forward-looking ideas within energy technology, which will be of
great interest (to our department and institution) as well as students looking for the cutting edge in
energy technology education.

Peter Staab Mathematics 01/16/20 to 05/31/20
Professor Staab has been involved in the Webwork Project (webwork.maa.org), which is an online
homework system that is useful in mathematics and other scientific fields. Webwork is used in many of
the mathematics classes here at Fitchburg State and more than 700 other colleges and universities
across the world. A few hundred thousand students have used the system. He has been working on
an improved user experience for the web interface and other improvements to the system to get more
teachers and professors to use the system. He proposes to continue on this project and focus on two
main subprojects: 1) on the student view of the system, which is the way the students work on their
homework; use some of the same user experience for the professor-side of things; and then include a
messaging system that doesn't exist in the current version; 2) improve the graphing interface of the
system. Currently graphs on webwork are very crude in that they use technology from the 1990s and
there are better ways to do that currently.

Annette Sullivan Education 01/16/20 to 05/31/20
Professor Sullivan would complete a research study on the effects of topic choice and prompts on student
writing. The purpose of the project is twofold. First, she plans to create a Professional Developmental Program
on best practices of writing instruction for teachers at the McKay Arts Academy (MAA) and for Education
Department faculty. Second, she intends to write an article based on her research and have it published in a
peer-reviewed journal such as the National Council of Teachers of English’s Language Arts. By taking a closer
look at student writing for a semester, she believes that she will be able to enhance her teaching of candidates
who will need to teach students how to write in their future classrooms. She anticipates the Professional
Development Program she plans to create following her study will have a positive impact on the MAA teachers
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and their students and on department faculty, teacher candidates, and future students. Thus, this project would
fit with her service obligations as well as her continuing scholarship.

Heather Urbanski English Studies 01/16/20 to 05/31/20
Dr. Heather Urbanski, Associate Professor specializing in Professional Writing Composition and
Rhetoric and Culture Studies, plans to revise and complete a book manuscript from a science-fiction
series that she began several years ago. She has completed the first draft of a manuscript for
Legacies: Raiders, a space opera novel, and has also a nearly-finished sequel, Legacies: Debtors.
During her sabbatical time, she plans to complete a revision of Raiders and will send the manuscript
out to readers. She will then undertake revisions to Debtors. Although full completion may take longer
than the sabbatical, the preparation work done during the sabbatical will be invaluable to her projects.
Dr. Urbanski plans to send queries out to agents and publishers. During this time she will participate
also in some online writing workshops (such as those conducted by award-winning author Mary
Robinette Kowal and seminars offered under the "Writing the Other" organization). Dr. Urbanski's
projects will yield not only satisfying professional, creative publications, but will also enrich the
knowledge about process that she offers to her students in many classes about writing, revision
and publishing, most notably in "Writing the Science Fiction Novel" and in her classes that school
students in the writing, revision and marketing processes key to creative and professional writing
success.

Daniel Welsh Biology/Chemistry 01/16/20 to 05/31/20
Professor Welsh has two goals. He created a trivia-style game to help engage students in a discussion
of the primary literature. It involved students working in groups to answer questions related to the
reading through timed rounds of 2-4 questions, which are then scored, creating an interactive
atmosphere that engages them with the material. His sabbatical will be used to write a manuscript for
publication in an education journal so that he can share this game more broadly with peers and
colleagues. Second, his current area of research interest is in understanding how fish adapt to
changes in their environment. Through his years here at Fitchburg State, one thing that he has noticed
is that we are at a junction point between two very different, unconnected rivers—the Nashua River
runs through town and heads generally southeast of here while the Miller’s River is located just west of
here (in Winchendon and that vicinity) and generally flows to the southwest. During his sabbatical
leave, he would collect water and analyze the water coloration to determine quantitative differences.

Spring/Fall - full year

Amy Wehe Mathematics 09/01/19 to 05/31/20
Professor Wehe’s sabbatical would allow her to strengthen her ability to instruct using project-based
learning strategies. As a mathematician trained in pure mathematics, she did not have much
background in applied mathematics. This year-long sabbatical would provide the opportunity to
explore applied applications to statistics, which will in turn give her the background to teach statistics
courses from an applied point of view. She will immerse herself in an applied university setting as an
assistant professor at the University of Applied Sciences at Bielefeld in Germany, which will provide
further opportunity to see project-based learning in action. In addition, she will reach out to professors
who are members of the Mathematical Association of America (MAA) Special Interest Group
(SIGMAA) on Statistics, many of whom already teach statistics using project-based learning. She will
interview them about the pedagogical structures of their class. During the sabbatical Dr. Wehe will
enroll in a MOOC course that will give her additional literature and content for her development of a
project-based approach to teaching statistics. The lessons from the sabbatical will be shared with the
department as a whole to see how we can incorporate project-based learning across their program
(e.g., in our freshman seminar, capstone work, statistics courses (1000-level, 3000-level, or 4000-
level)).
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Fitchburg State University
REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION

TO: Board of Trustees

DATE:

October 30, 2018

FROM: The President

SUBJECT: Sabbatical Requests

16 -18/19

REQUEST NUMBER:

It is requested that the Board of Trustees of Fitchburg State University grant the
following faculty sabbatical leaves for the academic year 2019-2020:

Fall Semester 2019 —09/01/19-01/15/20:

Randall Grometstein
Joann Nichols
Benjamin Railton
Jason Talanian
Jiang Yu

Spring Semester 2020—01/16/20-05/31/20:

Jonathan Amakawa
DeMisty Bellinger-Delfeld
Laura Garofoli
Cheryl Goldman
David Heikkinen
Margaret Hoey
Sanjay Kaul

Peter Staab
Annette Sullivan
Heather Urbanski
Daniel Welsh

Full Year—09/01/19-05/31/20:

Amy Wehe

Powered by BoardOnTrack

Behavioral Sciences

Education

English Studies

Exercise and Sports Science
Earth and Geographic Sciences

Communication Media
English Studies
Psychological Science
Psychological Science
Exercise and Sports Science
Biology/Chemistry
Industrial Technology
Mathematics
Education

English Studies
Biology/Chemistry

Mathematics

146 of 178



Fitchburg State University - Board of Trustees - Agenda - Tuesday October 30, 2018 at 10:00 AM

Cover Sheet

Approve partnership with the AUIA International Summer
School - VOTE (17-18/19)

Section: IV. AUIA International Summer School Partnership

Item: A. Approve partnership with the AUIA International Summer
School - VOTE (17-18/19)

Purpose: Vote

Submitted by:

Related Material:  AUIA Board summary document final 10 17 18.pdf
VOTE Approve Partnering with AUIA International.pdf
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BOARD OF TRUSTEES
New England Commission of Higher Education (NECHE)
Substantive Change Proposal Summary
Fitchburg State University Proposed Partnership with AUIA Summer School
October 30, 2018

AUIA International Summer School Description
AUIA International Summer School was established in 2011 to provide credit based courses for
international students who study in the U.S. and want to continue their education while home for

the summer by enrolling in courses that are taught in English and that can be applied to their U.S.

degree. AUIA has campus locations at Universities in Taipai Taiwan, Seoul South Korea,
Beijing China and Shanghai China.

Partnership Description

Fitchburg State University is considering a partnership with AUIA International Summer School
that would allow Fitchburg State University approved undergraduate credit based courses to be
taught by Fitchburg State University faculty at an international location operated by AUIA
International Summer School. The University would like to begin offering courses with AUIA
International in China in the summer of 2019. If successful, the University will consider
expansion to other AUIA locations. The University will pilot a small number of courses in
summer 2019 and increase the number of courses in subsequent summer sessions dependent on
AUIA recommendations and enrollment.

Location Shanghai University of Finance and Economics, China

Faculty
Fitchburg State faculty are eligible to participate. Interested faculty members must be

approved to teach by their academic department chair and dean. They will be hired and
paid by AUIA to teach. Faculty can teach a maximum of two courses. Each course
meets for two hours every day, Monday-Thursday. Faculty are assigned a Teaching
Assistant who participates in each class meeting and also facilitates an additional two
hour session for students on Fridays.

Target Audience

The target audience for the Fitchburg State University courses offered through AUIA
International Summer School are non-degree seeking students who live in China and
other Asian countries but are enrolled at US Universities as international students and are
home for the summer.

Courses

The Fitchburg State University courses offered through AUIA International Summer
School will be general education courses that students can transfer into their degree
program at the University in which they are enrolled. Students enrolling in the AUIA
International Summer School courses are required to gather permission to transfer these
courses prior to their enrollment. This permission is reviewed and confirmed by a

1
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representative of AUIA. All courses need to have a minimum of 7 students to run and a
maximum of 30 students total.

Next Steps

1.

W

The University needs to gain approval from the New England Commission on Higher
Education (NECHE) by submitting a Substantive Change Request. Although,
Fitchburg State has a very successful record of partnering with organizations to offer
Fitchburg state programs and courses off-campus, NECHE stated that offering
courses internationally requires formal review and their approval. This proposal
request has been drafted and will be submitted to NECHE pending approval from the
Board of Trustees. The University has been granted until November 2™ to submit the
request in order to be included on their November Commission meeting agenda.

The NECHE Commission meets November 15"-16" to discuss and decide upon all
submitted substantive change requests. The Commission’s decision will be
communicated verbally to President Lapidus about one week after the November
meeting with formal written notification transmitted several weeks later.

The University is in the process of reviewing and preparing a contract with AUIA in
anticipation of Board and NECHE approval. This contract will be reviewed by
appropriate University staff as well as University counsel. The goal is to have an
executed contract by the end of November.

The University will begin recruiting faculty to teach with the understanding that
nothing can be confirmed until after the Board of Trustees and the NECHE have
approved. It is anticipated that AUIA would be prepared to send faculty contracts
early December 2018.

AUIA will begin recruiting students in December 2018.

The AUIA Summer Session will be offered July 1 — August 2, 2019.

2
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Timeline
Oct. 2017 Nov. 2017 Jan. 2018 Feb. 2018 — May 2018 — Oct. 2018 Nov. 2018 Dec. 2018 Jan. 2019 — Jul. 1, 2019 —
Oct. 2018 Sep. 2018 Jun. 2019 Aug. 2, 2019
AUIA AUIA Sought University Small University Board of NECHE Faculty can AUIA Summer
presented Presented the guidance from | reaches out to Planning Team Trustees Commission | begin recruitment Session
the program | program NECHE on AUIA faculty worked on the Review / Decision submitting
proposal to proposal to the | the substantive | and sister NECHE Decision Nov. 15-16 teaching
the Executive change institutions to Substantive Change contracts with
Academic Cabinet approval gather feedback | Request and AUIA
Affairs process. worked on
Team gathering
additional
information about
the partnership
including talking to
faculty members
from other
institutions that had
taught for AUIA
previously.
The Submit NECHE AUIA begins
Academic NECHE notifies the Advertising and
Dean’s Substantive | University of | Recruiting
shared the Review the status.
information before
with Nov. 2nd
Department
Chairs
University
signs AUIA
contract
3
Powered by BoardOnTrack 150 of 178



Fitchburg State University - Board of Trustees - Agenda - Tuesday October 30, 2018 at 10:00 AM

University Benefits

Provide University Visibility in a New Market

AUIA will do regional advertising in Shanghai. This advertising will assist in adding
promotion in areas where the University does not have an established market therefore
helping to increase visibility among an international audience to promote the University’s
campus based degree programs. If the program expands to other AUIA locations,
Fitchburg State would be promoted in those regions as well.

No Up-Front Investment -There is no upfront cost to initiate the partnership and no
costs to the University other than the utilization of staff time to manage the partnership.

Scholarship Opportunities for Current Students - The partnership also offers up to 30
free seats to any Fitchburg State University student who would like to enroll in the
Summer Program in China. The student would be responsible for their own airfare and
accommodations.

Opportunities for Faculty - The partnership offers an opportunity for University faculty
to travel and gain experience teaching in an international setting and conducting related
scholarship. This type of international experience for faculty can assist in improving
instructional knowledge which will improve the overall quality of education provided on
our main campus.

Strategic Plan — This partnership advances the university strategic plan by addressing
Goal 1, Objective 1D. that seeks to “Enhance and affirm student, faculty, and staff
diversity as central to the Fitchburg State experience. Experiencing diversity expands
perspectives, contributes to multicultural competence, and becomes a key element in
attracting and retaining students, faculty, and staft.”

Budget Details

Faculty Payment

AUIA will pay faculty a $5,000 teaching stipend and assign a teaching assistant for each
course taught. Compensation will also include a stipend to cover housing and travel
expenses.

University Payment
The University receives $500 per student.

The chart below represents an estimated snapshot of expenses and revenue for the AUIA
Partnership. Most expenses will be in the form of staff time. The Office of Extended Campus
programs under the leadership of the Assistant Dean of Graduate and Continuing Education in
collaboration with the Office of International Education and their Director will be responsible for
managing the partnership.

4
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The University’s extended campus office has a very successful history of managing similar
partnerships. Because this partnership is with an international organization, there will be
collaboration with the Office of International Education. Extended campus programs falls under
the Graduate and Continuing Education department which will provide additional support and
staff resources. The University is confident that it has sufficient staff resources to support the
AUIA partnership. Academic oversight will follow the same infrastructure as with any campus
program with course scheduling, faculty assignments and evaluation being conducted by the
appropriate academic departments and deans.

AUIA Partnership Projected Income and Expenses
| 2019 | 2020 | 2021 | 2022 | 2023

Year

Expected Income

30 30 35 35 40
Student Enrollment/Income- Students | Students | Students | Students | Students
University receives $500 for each
student enrolled. 15,000 | 15,000 | 17,500 | 17,500 | 20,000
Estimated Total Yield 8,500 9,400 | 11,900 | 11,900 | 13,500

Expected Expenses

Staff Time/Resources — Based on the highest

paid staff member - $45 per hour / (In-Kind) 4,500 3,600 3,600 3,600 4,500
Miscellaneous Expenses 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000
Total 6,500 5,600 5,600 5,600 6,500

Anticipated future developments include the expansion of international students on campus as a
result of additional visibility for the University in Shanghai or other AUIA locations. The
University also hopes to expand the AUIA partnership to one or more of the additional AUIA
Summer Programs.

Additional Information:

e Student access to services and resources — AUIA has confirmed that students will have
access to a range of resources in China including, academic support, library resources and
student services. The University will also evaluate the student services and resources as
part of the annual assessment of the partnership and request changes and updates as
needed.

e Faculty support — The University contacted several faculty from other institutions who
have taught for AUIA in previous summer sessions and received confirmation that the
experience was positive. AUIA will support the faculty throughout their stay per the

5
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contract by having a teaching assistant in the classroom and having a guide available to
assist in navigating the area and other transitional challenges or factors.

Other similar programs — Both Framingham State and Bridgewater State have similar
partnerships, with Framingham having a longer history with this work. The University
has contacted both institutions for guidance and support.

Faculty Capacity — The partnership will begin with offering a small number of courses
that will be taught by full-time faculty. If the partnership expands the University may
need to hire additional adjunct faculty to assist with maintaining summer course needs on
campus as well as in China with the AUIA program.

6
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Fitchburg State University
REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION

TO: Board of Trustees

DATE:

October 30, 2018

FROM: The President

SUBJECT: Partnering with AUIA International Summer School

REQUEST NUMBER:

17-18/19

It is requested that the Board of Trustees vote to approve Fitchburg State University
partnering with AUIA International Summer School to offer courses in China.
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Cover Sheet

Personnel Actions (N03-18/19)

Section: V. Notifications
Item: A. Personnel Actions (N03-18/19)
Purpose: FYI

Submitted by:
Related Material: BOT Notifications 10302018.pdf
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FITCHBURG STATE UNIVERSITY
Board of Trustees
NOTIFICATIONS

TO: Board of Trustees

DATE: October 30, 2018

FROM: The President

SUBIJECT: Personnel Actions

NOTIFICATION NUMBER: N03-18/19

New Hire

Frank Campo, Jr., MBA
Effective: 10/29/18

Resignation

Jennifer Adams
Effective: 9/14/18

Kevin Bolden
Effective: 11/2/18

Christopher Hendry
Effective: 10/12/18

Elizabeth Hogan
Effective: 10/13/18

Brittany Rende
Effective: 9/28/18

Viviana Suavita
Effective: 10/19/18
Change in Salary (adjustment)

Rebecca Shersnow
Effective: 7/1/18

Staff Associate, Event Operations Manager

Event Management

Staff Assistant, LPN and RN to BS

Nursing

Staff Assistant, Building Services Mgr.

Capital Planning &

Maintenance

Vice President, Institutional Advancement
Alumni & Development

Assistant Director

Housing & Residential Services

Staff Assistant, Recreational Programming

Recreation Center

Assistant Director, Recruiter

Admissions

Staff Associate, Athletic Trainer

Athletics

Powered by BoardOnTrack

$53,500.00

$31,200.00

$72,000.00

$162,035.85

$49,000.00

$39,259.00

$47,476.00

From: $54,294.25
To: $56,294.25
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Semester (Bi-
Annual)

FY14
FY15
FY16
FY17
FY18

v nununn

Assets

23,573,015
28,702,836
26,711,541
30,337,177
32,500,000

v nnunmnkn

Liabilities

16,484,736
17,392,863
15,163,167
16,609,262
17,950,000
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Ratio:1

1.4
1.6
1.8
1.8
1.8

Current Assets/Current Libilities

32,000,000
24,000,000
»n
S
<
= 16,000,000
=)
a
8,000,000
0
FY14 FY1s FYie6 FY17 FY18
== Assets $23,573,015 $28,702,836 $26,711,541 $30,387,177 $52,500,000
== Liabilities | $16,484,736 $17,392,863 $15,163,167 $16,609,262 $17,950,000
=== Ratio:1 1.4 1.6 1.8 1.8 1.8

1.9

1.6

1.3

1.0

0.7

0.4

0.1
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1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18
Full Time Da Average Annual Aid for Average Annual Net Budgeted Excess Cost per Composite Balance of
Semester (Bi-| R . . v Student/Staff Cost/Annual/Day 8 Price for Day Cost/Annual/Student Student (unfunded - . State Appropriation % of | Current R B X R
Fiscal Year Equivalent Day | Full Time Faculty Full Time Staff Student/Faculty ; Day Commuter X i State Appropriation  |Annual Operating Budget X X Financial |Unrestricted Cash &
Annual) X Ratio Student Commuter Student Boarding component funded with Operating Budget Ratio
Students Ratio Student L X Index Investments
Receiving Aid reserves)
1
8 Fall 14 FY15 3,436 183 332 15to1 10to 1] $ 9,260.00 | $ 4,111.00 | $ 5,149.00 | $ 9,020.00 | $ 892.26 28,073,334 89,339,440 31.4% 1.6:1 1.5 19,114,409
9 Spring 15 3,116
10 Fall 15 FY16 3,494 189 340 14to1 10to 1] $ 9,934.00 | $ 4,138.00 | $ 5,797.00 | $ 9,210.00 | $ 733.38 28,960,545 93,282,564 31.0% 1.8:1 1.4 19,028,998
11 Spring 16 3,095
12 Fall 16 FY17 3,467 191 320 14to1 11to 1] $ 10,134.00 | $ 4,494.00 | $ 5,641.00 | $ 10,260.00 | $ 825.15 29,108,794 96,548,941 30.1% 1.8:1 1.2 21,453,223
13 Spring 17 3,140
14 Fall 17 FY18 3,425 211 304 1l4to1 11to 1] $ 10,154.00 | $ 4,549.00 | $ 5,626.00 | $ 10,632.00 | $ 456.81 29,405,755 98,220,971 29.9% 1.8:1 1.9 23,463,140
15 Spring 18 3,085
Fall 18 FY19 3,390 207 334 10tol1]$ 10,373.00 | $ 4,892.00 | $ 5,483.00 | $ 10,922.00 482.55 29,400,756 108,404,654 27.1%
Spring 19
16
17
18
19 Legend: State Appropriation % of Operations Budget Current Ratio
@Column 3: Institutional Factbook: All Fall Day-School Students FTE (*Spring data internal calculation) 100,000,000 - = 42.000000
23 Column 4/5: Provided by Human Resources/Payroll 90,000,000 L 55.0% T 1.9
24 Column 6: Common Data Set, Instructional Faculty, I-2 80,000,000 & )
25 Column 9/10: Provided by Financial Aid - internal calculation based on aid applications and "free money" awards - 70,000,000 24,000,000 16
26 Column 16/17: Fitchburg State Financial Statement, MD&A r='3 gggggggg - 45.0% " 1.3
27 Column 18: Fitchburg State Financial Statement, Notes to Financial Statement - Cash, Cash Equivalents and Investments 8 S 5
%8 40,000,000 = 16,000,000 1.0
i 30,000,000 - 35.0% 5
20,000,000 0.7
8,000,000
10,000,000
Notes: . | 25.0% 04
.0%
FY12 FY13 FY14 FY15 FY16 FY17 FY18 FY19 o | o1
Estimated Data il State Appropriation 23,467, |24,695,|27,430,|28,073, | 28,960, | 29,108, | 29,405, | 29,400, FY14 | FY15 | FY16 | FY17 | FY18 ’
FY19 Budget Reflects incorporation of Food Service into Budget - previously reflected as agency fund == Annual Operating Budget | 81,830, | 83,336, | 86,374, (89,339, 93,282, | 96,548, | 98,220, 108,404 =2 Assets $28,67 | $28,70 | $26,71 | $30,83 | $32,50
o == Liabilities| $16,48 | $17,39 | $15,16 | $16,60 | $17,95
A Statg;’ig{;”gr:;:';g"et/“ Of | 28.79 | 29.6% | 31.8% | 31.4% | 31.0% | 30.1% | 29.9% | 27.1% A Ratiol ” 6 s s s
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Semester (Bi- State Annual Operating State Appropriation %
Annual) Appropriation Budget of Operating Budget
FY12 23,467,647 81,830,209 28.7%
FY13 24,695,926 83,336,834 29.6%
FY14 27,430,823 86,374,737 31.8%
FY15 28,073,334 89,339,440 31.4%
FYle 28,960,545 93,282,564 31.0% State Appropriation % of Operations Budget
FY17 29,108,794 96,548,941 30.1%
FY18 29,405,755 98,220,971 29.9% 100,000,000
FY19 29,400,756 108,404,654 27.1% 90,000,000 55 0%
80,000,000
” 70,000,000
= 60,000,000 .
% 50,000,000 oo
a 40,000,000
30,000,000 35.0%
20,000,000
10,000,000
) Fvi2 | Fvi3 | Fvia | Fvis | Fyie | Fviz | Fvis | Fyio | 207
= State Appropriation 23,467, 24,695, | 27,430, | 28,073, | 28,960, | 29,108, | 29,405, | 29,400,
= Annual Operating Budget | 81,830, | 83,336, | 86,374, 89,339, | 93,282, | 96,548, | 98,220, 108,404
e State Appropriation % of | g o | g 5o | 31 8% | 31.4% | 31.0% | 30.1% | 29.9% | 27.1%
Operating Budget
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FSUnamed a top
school for serving
black students

By Amanda Burke

aburke@sentinelandenterprise.com

FITCHBURG — A report out Wednes-
day ranks Fitchburg State University
among the best public institutions of
higher learning in the nation for equity

for black students.

President Richard Lapidus said the
ranking reflects several factors, including
a wide-ranging effort to diversify the cam-
pus and provide individualized support to
students after classes begin.

“The effort really was to try to increase

Please see FSU/14

FSU named among top schools for serving black students

FSU/From Page 1

diversity broadly across the
campus, and start to move
to a state where the campus
population started to mir-
ror the region,” he said.
“While we're not there yet,
we’re definitely moving in
the right direction.”

The report released by
the University of Southern
California Race and Equity
Center assigned 506 public,
four-year institutions of
higher learning an “equity
index” based on how the col-
leges and universities per-
formed in four key areas.

The report did not study
historically black colleges
or universities, tribal col-
leges, military academies,
graduate schools or com-
munity colleges.

It gauged the extent to
which the black students’
share of enrollment

matches the demographic
breakdown statewide,
whether the school enrolls
the same proportion of
black men and woman of
all races and ethnicities
who attend college nation-
wide, whether the six-year
graduation rate for black

Powered by BoardOnTrack

students matches the
school’s six-year gradua-
tion rate overall, and the
ratio of full-time black
undergraduate students to
full-time black faculty
members.

Massachusetts was
named the top state in the
nation in equity for black
students enrolled in public
universities and colleges.
The Massachusetts College
of Liberal Arts landed in a
three-way tie for the high-
est possible score of a 3.5.

FSU tied with Framing-
ham State University and
the UMass Boston as hav-
ing the second-highest
“equity index” in the state,
at 3.25.

At FSU, the 342 black
students who were enrolled
in 2016 made up 9.7 per-
cent of the undergraduate
student body, compared to 9
percent of 18- to 20-year-
olds in the state, according
to the study.

The university’s gradu-
ation rate for black stu-
dents is 55.6 percent, com-
pared to 53.6 percent for
the school overall.

According to Lapidus, the
college uses tailored the
strategies including the
“purposeful targeting of high
schools” to find and recruit
more minority students.

“Rather than waiting
for students to apply to us
were being much more
proactive in reaching out
to them,” he said. “We're
looking to aggressive reach
out to all studs but in part
some of the underrepre-
sented groups that have
been missed.”

Where FSU is lacking is
in the number of professors
who are minorities, said
Anthony Berry, an exercise
and sports science major
who serves as president of
the campus’ Black Student
Union, which has a member-
ship of about 90 students.

“As a whole there’s basi-
cally all white professors,”
he said. “There’s a couple

outliers, but for the most
part, with my major and
discipline, there’s only
white professors.”

Berry’s observation was
supported by findings of the
study University of South-
ern California study out
Wednesday, which found
that for every black full-time
faculty member employed in
2016 there were 33 full-time
black students enrolled — a
“C” grade.

According to the report,
in 2016 FSU employed 10
full-time faculty who are
black, of over 200 total full-
time faculty members.

Berry said a diverse
student body creates a
more comfortable learning
environment, a more fun
campus environment and
encourages “interchange”
between students of differ-
ent backgrounds.

He believes FSU’s low
number of black full-time
faculty members is par-
tially attributable to
higher salaries available to
professors at private uni-
versities and colleges.

Berry wasn't surprised
that FSU cracked the top 10
schools with equity for black
students, given the “sheer
size of minorities in Massa-
chusetts and New England”
and the implementation of
campus programs to wel-
come and support minority
students and students who
are the first in their families
to go to college.

He said the Black Stu-
dent Union will continue
advocating for increased
enrollment of students of
color at FSU, whose day-
time student population
was about 71 percent
white in 2016.

“We try to speak on a
general level for all minori-
ties so we can feel more
represented to the admin-
istration,” he said. “We've
been very vocal, from the
beginning about getting
more students of color into
the school.” 162 of 178
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WEDNESDAY, October 17,2018

www.sentinelandenterprise.com

By Amanda Burke
aburke@sentinelandenterprise.com

FITCHBURG — After nearly half of
the students who responded to a survey
last spring reported experiencing food
insecurity, a food and necessities pantry
was unveiled Tuesday at Fitchburg State
University.

“If (students) aren’t nourished they’re
not able to pay attention, and thenit’s a
domino effect,” said President Richard
Lapidus. “It eventually starts to impact
their performance in the classroom.”

Lapidus spoke after an official ribbon-
cutting ceremony for the new food and
necessities pantry that drew more than
50 people toits location on the second
floor of Hammond Hall.

Fitchburg State University Food Service Director Jeff McVoy looks over
supplies in the new Falcon Bazaar food and needs pantry for students
after a ribbon-cutting ceremony on Tuesday.

See a slide show at sentinelandenterprise.com. SENTINEL & ENTERPRISE PHOTOS /JOHN LOVE

Food for thought: Fitchburg State
cuts ribbon on food, needs pantry
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The sign across from the pantry
shares a statistic that underscores
its need.

The pantry is called the Falcon
Bazaar, where items, from dry and

Please see PANTRY/8

The new Fitchburg State University Falcon Bazaar food pantry to help students in
need held a ribbon-cutting on Tuesday. Here, state Rep. Natalie Higgins, right,
chats with Administrative Assistant for Housing and Residential Services Heather
Massaferro and FSU President Richard Lapidus during her visit to the pantry.

Shelves in the Falcon Bazaar food pantry hold an assortment of goods
to help needy students at Fitchburg State University.
See a slide show at sentinelandenterprise.com..

SENTINEL & ENTERPRISE PHOTOS /JOHN LOVE

Food for thought: Fitchburg State cuts ribbon on food, needs pantry

PANTRY /From Page 1 our students really and an on-campus food pantry, have benefited 17 stu- of Massachusetts, an advo- sists.
. truly (are in) need. In he said. dents, he said, some of cacy group pushing for “Until we move toward
refrigerated food to order for them to get their Another programnew  whom may not be hungry  debt-free college in the

toletries, are stocked and
available for any student
free of cost, said Shane
Franzen, associate director

degrees, they really need
to have food so we've
opened this pantry,” he
said.

all the time, but who don’t
have regular access to bal-
anced meals.

“This gives them an

to the university this year
allows students with meal
plans to donate guest

meals to “bank” for distri-

puses.

of Student Development. The university had a bution to hungry students, actual square meal in the
Franzensaidthat 12 food pantry in the same said Hank Parkinson, dining hall,” he said.

students have used the location a few years ago associate dean of Student State Rep. Natalie Hig-

Falcon Bazaar since it was that was discontinuedas ~ Development. gins, a former executive

administrators researched Over 230 meals have director of the Public
best practices for operating been donated thPowered by BoardOnTrackucation Network

rolled out this school year.
“We're finding out that

state, said hunger is stig-
matized on college cam-

debt-free higher education,
we're going to have kids,

students and adults mak-

She commended FSU
for opening the Falcon
Bazaar, because some stu-
dents will be forced to
make hard decisions on
how spend their money as
long as student debt per-

ing decisions about do I

pay for tuition, do I pay for
textbooks, or do I feed
myself,” she said. “And
that’s unacceptabl¢163 of 178
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FRIDAY, October 5, 2018 www.sentinelandenterprise.com

DA ANNounces $860G For OPIOID BATTLE

Worcester County District Attorney Joseph D. Early Jr., at Leominster District
Court Thursday, announces $860,000 in federal grants that will help divert
substance abusers into treatment programs. SENTINEL & ENTERPRISE / JOHN LOVE

Dollars to help save lives

By Peter Jasinski that will map opioid use in the region.
pjasinski@sentinelandenterprise.com Early, who made the announcement

LEOMINSTER — Worcester County at Leominster District Court alongside

local elected and police officials, said
$500,000 of the money from the federal
Bureau of Justice Assistance will be
used to pay for substance abusers fac-
ing criminal prosecution to have the
option of entering a treatment program

District Attorney Joseph Early Jr.
announced Thursday that his office has
been awarded $860,000 in federal
grants that will help divert substance
abusers into treatment programs if they
are arrested and pay for a new studv
through Fitchburg State Umveliu\'&ered by BOdCOLLEGRANTS /8 164 0rirs
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DA announces $SGOG to wage fight on opioids

GRANTS /From Page 1

through AdCare Hospital in
Worcester.

“When we have someone in
need of services for substance
abuse disorders, specifically opi-
oid addition, we're going to get a
call and we’re going to get
AdCare involved. And then we're
going to divert that person away
from the criminal justice pro-
gram,” he said.

A pilot version of the program
has been operational in Leomin-
ster and Gardner’s district
courts since May and AdCare
hospital has enrolled 17 people
in treatment since then. Of those
17, 13 are still enrolled.

The grant money awarded to
Early’s office last month will now
expand the program to the dis-
trict courts in Fitchburg, Clinton
and Milford.

Fitchburg Mayor Stephen
DiNatale said he looked at the
new funding as a sign of good
faith that the federal govern-
ment is helping with the area’s
struggle against addiction.

“I hope this is the example of
the beginning of a commitment
because we all know, unfortu-
nately, it’s all about the money. It
always is. And this is an impor-  Fitchburg Police Chief Ernest Martineau, center, joins Mayor Stephen DiNatale, right, at Leominster District Court as Worcester
tant component of what we have  County District Attorney Joseph D. Early Jr. announces $860,000 in federal grants that will help divert substance abusers into

to do every day,” he.saifi' . treatment. The grants will also pay for a study through Fitchburg State that will map opioid use in the region. senmnew & entererise / somn Love
Rather than beginning in a

larger city like Worcester, Early ~ cerns as well, but we knew we fatal overdoses, and crime to cre-  office and local police investigate referring to them as two more tools

said he wanted to launch the could bring this up here and have ate a map of local opioid activity. ~ overdose deaths as possible in his department’s toolbox for

program in the northern county — @ great chance of success,” he said. The mapping will initially cover homicides. combating the opioid epidemic.

first because it would be an eas- The remaining $360,000 of the  Fitchburg, but possibly expand to “This is going to allow us to “We're not afraid to say we

ier population size to start with. ~grant money is going tobe used to  other parts of the state depending say to the dealer that thereis an have a problem, but we’re tackling
“We were limited in how big of ~ Pay for a new study through on available funding. awful lot to lose here,” he said. the problem head on,” he said.

an area it could be. There were Fitchburg State University that Earlv said its findinos will be Fitchburg Police Chief Ernest Follow Peter Jasinski on Tinit-

geographical and population con-  Will track overdose deaths, non- espe(iOU5 R ONEA TN ES ais  Martineau praised both initiatives, ter @PeterJasinski53. 165 0r 178
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Revitalizing downtown key in Fitchburg plan

City Council unanimously adopts
economic development blueprint

By Amanda Burke
aburke@sentinelandenterprise.com

FITCHBURG — Economic development will
now be guided by a strategic plan the City Coun-
cil unanimously adopted on Tuesday.

“We’re hoping to bring people from a larger
radius to Fitchburg, whether it be for family-
friendly activities or recreation,” said Monica
Lamboy, a consultant with UMass Boston’s
Collins Center for Public Management.

The Economic Development Strategic Plan is the
result of feedback given by business leaders, mem-
bers of the community, city staff and elected officials.

The document lists actions that the city could

Please see DEVELOPMENT/10

B
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An artist’s rendering shows one vision of what Main Street could look like
between the Fitchburg Theater Block and the old City Hall. Fitchburg State
University, which bought the building in fall 2016, is transforming it into

a multi-purpose space that includes a computer lab for game design

students and an entrepreneurship center.

Revitalizing downtown key in new
Fitchburg development strategy

DEVELOPMENT /From Page 1

take over five years would.
Among them are improv-
ing infrastructure, and
encouraging “transit-ori-
ented” development on
Main Street and a “few key
parcels” in east and west
Fitchburg, said Director of
Economic Development
Mary Jo Bohart.

The plan comes as
investors including the
city, Fitchburg State Uni-
versity and NewVue Com-
munities are funneling
millions into four key proj-
ects: The Fitchburg Arts
Community (BF Brown),
old City Hall, the Theater
Block and the Public
Library.

“This is the time to
move,” said Ward 3 Coun-
cilor Joel Kaddy. “If we
miss it now, we’re 20 years
down the road again.”

The plan adopts eight
broad-end goals:

¢ Create a vibrant
downtown;

* Embrace the city’s
role as a college town;

* Expand family-
friendly attractions;

* Maintain “high-qual-
ity” housing stock;

¢ Support a mix of busi-
nesses;

¢ Enhance “neighbor-
hood commercial districts”;

¢ Build the city’s repu-
tation as a destination for
recreation and culture;

¢ Improve transporta-
tion.

It updates and puts into
action aspects of another
document, Fitchburg
Vision 2020, a master plan
that was adopted in 1999,
said Community Develop-
ment Tom Skierawski.

Both documents, he
said, encourage downtown
development and strength-
ening ties between the city
and Fitchburg State Uni-
versity.

“Our office is of the
mindset that we’ve been
doing a whole lot of plan-
ning, and it’s really time to
act,” he said.

Many action items the
plan recommends taking
in the first two years “are
downtown rooted,” said
Bohart. She noted a pro-
posal to amend zoning to
ease the process of break-

Powered by BoardOnTrack

ing up large Main Street
storefronts into smaller
venues that she said would
be more attractive to busi-
ness owners.

Another recommended
action is to rezone Central
Plaza to encourage mixed-
use development and to
build out “underutilized
sites” like the former
Kmart on Carriage
Road/Whalon Street.

The Economic Develop-
ment Office will also work
closely with prospective
restaurant owners to pro-
vide guidance on code com-
pliance, said Bohart.

City residents, she said,
spend $80 million at
restaurants annually, but
just $30 million of that is
spent at eateries in the
city, suggesting “leakage”
of economic potential into
surrounding communities.

Skierawski said the city
should prioritize complet-
ing projects that commu-
nity leaders and residents
voted as most important
during a February forum.

Those projects include
encouraging amenities like
co-working spaces and out-
door dining, making trans-
portation easier between
FSU and Main Street, mar-
keting the city and manag-
ing parking challenges in
dense neighborhoods.

“I see those as some of
our areas that we need to
start on first, and at the
end of the day, when this
report is all said and done,
I want to be able to say we
addressed all of those
items,” said Skierawski.

A.T. LEONARD & ASSOCIATES
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DAy oF PRIDE FOR FSU PoLice AcAbEmY GRADS

Cadet Nicole Patterson has her badge pinned by her father, Littleton Deputy Chief Jeff Patterson,
during Fitchburg State’s first Police Academy graduation Thursday. SENTINEL & ENTERPRISE / JOHN LOVE
By Mina Corpuz until she learned about a pilot ~ who were the first to graduate
mcorpuz@sentinelandenterprise.com  program at Fitchburg State Thursday from the university’s
FITCHBURG — Claritza [{nhverS}ty.theit. W(t):l:lld letdher Polige Agademy, a five-year crim-
Taylor has always wanted a job pUCY Crumina; Justice an inal justice program where stu-
shevaaha ild hels veasle bec“ome a pohce officer. dents earn a bachelor’s and mas-
The Westminst PP 5) t I'want ajob where Icanfeel  ter’s degrees and complete police
e Westmnster resicent, productive in society and he}p Oﬁh' certification through a mix of
who comes from a family of ers,” she said. “What better jobis  .assroom time physical train-
nurses, was studying to become  there than to serve and protect?” ’
a certified nursing assistant Tomee s B;%Sg Beramuits  Please see ACADEMY/S . ¢
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Day of pride for first FSU Police Academy grads

ACADEMY /From Page 1

ing and skills training.
Class leader Ryan

dent Richard Lapidus said
the program is the first of
its kind in the nation and
can be a way to shape police

Richard said he was happy  ¢qycation and training.
to have gotten to know the The goal of the program
members of the recruiting i t4 train recruits who are
officer course ready to work
and to learn for city and
and grow town police
Wlt“h them. departments
Iwould around the
walk into any state.
situation with Most of the
you not know- graduates
ing the out- have secured
come because employment
Wwe are one or are looking
family,” he for a depart-
told his fellow | ment thatisa
graduates. fit for them.
They Nicholas
received their | nani Varri s a20 1 8 McLaughlin of
badges, took FSU graduate, sings Fitchburg has
the oath of . ’ a lot of family
the national anthem :
honor, and ) members in
received cer- during the ceremony. 15w enforce-

tificates of police training
while surrounded by
friends, family, criminal jus-

ment. Like many of the
graduates, he wanted to
become an officer to help

tice students and those who others.

servein law enforcement
Fitchburg State Presi-

“I also didn’t want to do
the same thing every day,”

Cadet Ryan Richard salutes as the national anthem is sung during Fitchburg State’s Police Academy graduation

on Thursday. See video and slide show at sentinelandenterprise.com.

McLaughlin said.
He will start as a dis-
patcher at the Westmin-

ster Police Department
and will eventually serve
as a reserve officer while
he finishes his master’s
degree at the university.

The Massachusetts
Police Training Committee
— which oversees training
for all municipal, univer-
sity, or environmental
police officers in the state
— partnered with Fitch-
burg State to develop the
program and train the
recruits.

Daniel Zivkovich, exec-
utive director of the
MPTC, challenged the
graduates to serve with
honor and courage and to
seek excellence to be the
best they can be for their
communities and the pro-

LuooLULLe
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shift,” he said.
Follow Mina on Twitter
@mlcorpuz.

“The final exam will be
when you put on the badge
and head to your first

Cadet Morgan Steele has her badge plnned bv her

father, Raymond. Borirs
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ESU’s police
program
celebrates first
graduating
class

By Bonnie Russell
Telegram & Gazette Staff

he tie that binds police
I officersis something the

first recruit officer class of
Fitchburg State University’s police
program got a taste of as they took
the oath of honor recently, marking a
milestone in the program believed to
be the first of its kind in the nation.

Among them was Jami S. Parker of
Leominster.

“T always wanted to be a police
officer and when I heard about the
program I said, sign me up,” Ms.
Parker said, adding that she had
never even thought about getting a
master’s but since it was an option,
decided to go for it.

Fitchburg State created the
five-year police programin
close collaboration with the
state’s Municipal Police Training
Committee. Graduates of the
program will finish with bachelor’s
and master’s degrees as well as
certification to work full time in
municipal police departments across
Massachusetts.

After years of academic study,
the recruit officers spent the last 17
weeks in a comprehensive program
of physical training and tactical
skills development that included
qualification at the firing range and
emergency vehicle operations.

Classleader Ryan]. Richard of
Shirley told his fellow graduates he
would follow them into any situa-
tion not knowing the outcome. “We
are not nine individuals anymore.
Weare ateam,” he said.

Fitchburg State President Richard
S. Lapidus told the graduates to be
proud of their accomplishments

See COLLEGE, B3
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and their embodiment of
the university’s motto of
perseverance.

Academy Director Lisa Lane
McCarty said the graduates
should feel great pride for the
achievements. “We’re bondec
for life for what we’ve been
through together,” she said.

MPTC Executive Director
Daniel Zivkovich said the
graduates will be unrivaled
candidates for police posts as
they enter the labor force.

However, it isn’t an instani
process for those applying to
departments that are under
civil service and hire officers
from a list provided by the
state.

Leominster is one of those
offices, Ms. Parker said. Her
long-term goal is to take the
civil service exam and apply
to the Leominster police
department. If she is places
high enough on thelist, she
will already have aleg-up
over other candidates without
police certification train-
ing, but for non-civil service
departments, “I could just go
and apply now,” she said.

Right now though, another
round of rigorous training is
on the agenda for Ms. Parker,
who has enlisted in the Army
National Guard, and is pre-
paring to leave next Thursday
for basic training at Fort
Leonard Wood in Missouri.

The officers who were
sworn in are: John A.

Francis of Quincy; Tyler

H. Frati of Hubbardston;
Nicholas J. McLaughlin

of Fitchburg; Jonathan R.
Paiva of Marlboro; Jami S.
Parker of Leominster; Nicole
T. Patterson of Littleton;
Ryan]. Richard of Shirley;
Morgan R. Steele of Somerset
and Claritza L. Taylor of
Westminster.
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FSU OK'd for nationwide online courses

By Amanda Burke
aburke@sentinelandenterprise.com

FITCHBURG — Fitchburg
State University last month
became the first four-year,
public university in the state
to receive clearance to offer
online courses to students
nationwide, an official said.

The university was

FSU OK'd for n

FSU/From Page 1 P &

ous to joining the agree-
ment FSU negotiated with
each state in which it
wished to offer online
courses individually.

approved to participate in the
State Authorization Reciproc-
ity Agreement, known as
SARA.

SARA is an interstate
agreement that allows col-
leges and universities located
in a member state to offer
online courses to students
located in other SARA mem-
ber states, according to the

ationwide online courses

Fitchburg State Univer-

Massachusetts Department of
Higher Education.
Massachusetts was
approved to join SARA on
June 7, according to the state
higher education office.
Alberto Cardelle, FSU
provost and vice president for
academic affairs, said previ-

Please see FSU/6

_— = -

sity had won approval to
offer its online courses to
students in 30 states, he
said.

“Now, with SARA, we're
authorized everywhere”
that participates in the
interstate agreement, he
said.

According to the
National Council for State
Authorization Reciprocity
Agreements, the only state
not participating in SARA

WELCOAE
URG STATE
VERSITY

A sign welcomes golfers to the 15th annual Fitchburg State University
Foundation, Inc. Tournament at Oak Hill Country Club in Fitchburg. The
university became the first fouryear public university in the state to be
approved to offer online classes nationwide.

SENTINEL & ENTERPRISE FILE PHOTO

is California.

Fitchburg State Univer-
sity joins 11 other colleges
in the commonwealth that
are authorized to enroll
students from other SARA
states, according to the
Massachusetts Depart-
ment of Higher Education.

With the agreement,
Fitchburg State can begin

recruiting students from
49 states to enroll in the
school’s online courses,
said Cardelle.

The college can also
begin offering financial aid
to these students, he said,
adding that SARA also
makes it easier for stu-
dents enrolled in online
courses that require real-

ence, to find internships.

Currently, about 1,000
students enrolled in Fitch-
burg State University
degree or certificate pro-
grams take courses
entirely online, said
Cardelle.

With the authorization,
the college will begin mar-
keting its online programs

world, practical owered by BoardOnTrackhat for a Mas-

ters of Business, nursing
and education to a wider
audience, he said.

FSU has been offering
online courses since 2008,
said Cardelle, earlier than
many other higher educa-
tion institutions.

“That puts us ahead of a
lot of our sister institutions
and competitors,” hel70 of 178
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FSU gets grant for
nursing transfers

With the need for
baccalaureate level
nurses continuing torise,
Fitchburg State University
hasreceiveda $29,000
Higher Education Nursing
& Allied Health Grant
from the Massachusetts
Department of Higher
Education that makes it
easier for nursing students
from three Massachusetts
community colleges to

Powereg by BoardOnTrack

complete their bacucios

degrees.

The grant is to develop
admissions agreements
between Fitchburg State
and Quinsigamond, Bristol
and Middlesex community
colleges.

The project will allow
associate degree-earning
registered nurses to
matriculate into Fitchburg
State’s online RN to
BS in Nursing program
while they remain in the
workforce.
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Tayjaun McKenzie from Lynn moves his supplies into his dormitory Mon
with help from his father.

|

day at Fitchburg State University

SENTINEL&ENTERPRISE PHOTOS /SCOTT LAPRADE

Teamwork helps smooth move-in
day at Fitchburg State University

By Mina Corpuz
mcorpuz@sentinel
andenterprise.com

ITCHBURG —

Erin Mader will

be less than an

hour away from

her family in
Tewksbury as she attends
Fitchburg State Univer-
sity, but she will always
have a piece of home with
her.

The 18-year-old will
share a dorm room with a
fellow Shawsheen Valley
Technical High School
graduate, Leah Sheehan,
of Billerica, who is also
18, as the two study nurs-
ing.

“It’s very overwhelm-
ing, but 'm excited,”
Sheehan said Monday
morning as students
moved into their dormito-
ries. With the help of the
school’s sports teams, she
and Mader got all of their
belongings into their room
to begin unpacking and
decorating.

On Labor Day, first-
year students from
around the state moved
into their new homes on
the Fitchburg State cam-

pus. Most will settle into
the Helen Ross-Russell
towers, which houses
about 450 first-year stu-
dents.

Teams from Housing
and Residential Services
worked with the sports
teams to help move stu-
dents in.

Peelar Forde, right, and her sister, Zoee,

At Russell towers, a
campus officer directed up
to four cars up a hill and
into a parking lot at the
foot of the dormitory.

Within minutes, foot-
ball players donning their
green and yellow jerseys
helped the families
unload the student’s plas-

Powered by BoardOnTrack

VY

from Springfield, move into Fitchburg
State Monday. Football players at rear help with the cause.

tic totes, fans, and other
items into green carts.
During the rush, a line
formed from the parking
lot to the dorm’s one ele-
vator to bring students
upstairs. Once there, the
move-in crew helped
unload their belongings.

Please see MOVE/6
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location from a Fitchburg State University helper.

Teamwork helps move

MOVE/From Page 1

Vinny Ermano, a fresh-
man on the football team,
helped other first years
move in. He and team
members arrived at 9 a.m.
and were scheduled to
work in shifts through the
afternoon.

“It’s good when we're all
here,” the Shirley resident
said. “It makes things eas-
ier.”

The first wave of move
into Russell Towers was in
full swing around 9 a.m.
and started up again an
hour later. Move-in was
scheduled to last until 3
p.m.

Next door at Aubuchon
Hall was less crowded. The
dormitory is mostly for
upper classmen.

Tayjaun McKenzie, 20,
of Lynn was moving in
with the help of his par-
ents, family, and members
of the cheerleading squad.

He will play on the bas-
ketball team and study
business management.

“It’s fun being here,”
McKenzie said in his new
room that is part of a suite.
“It’s about an hour drive in
and I made it half an
hour.”

His mother, Subrina,
said it has been hectic get-
ting prepared for the move
and to drop off her only
child.

“It’s been rough on the
family, but we’re proud of
how hard he’s worked,” she
said.

Follow Mina on Twitter
@mlcorpuz

unloading the family truck

Michaél Sellairds (middle) from East Boston gets help ffom a football player |

SENTINEL&ENTERPRISE PHOTOS /SCOTT LAPRADE
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Erin Mader frorfowered by BoardonTrackmom, Lisa,start to unpack in her dorm.
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173 of 178




Fitchburg State University - Board of Trustees -

enimel &

FRIDAY, October 19,2018

I;

FITCHBURG STATE
UNIVERSITY

Aienda Tuesday October 30, 2018 at 10:00 AM

Enferprise

www.sentinelandenterprise.com

li
’
FITCHBURG STATE
UNIVERSITY

FITCHBURG STATE
UNIVERSITY

The North Central Coalition hosted the 3rd Congressional District debate with, from left, Mike Mullen (I-MA), Lori
Trahan (D-MA) and Rick Green (R-MA) at Fitchburg State University on Thursday.

Policy talk takes center stage

Candidates
stay civil in3rd
District debate

By Chris Lisinski
clisinski@lowellsun.com
FITCHBURG — Policy
talk took central stage at a
3rd Congressional District

debate Thursday night as can-

didates navigated questions
ranging from how to solve the
opioid epidemic to the growth
of student-loan debt.
Democratic nominee Lori

Trahan,
Republican
nominee Rick
Green and
independent
candidate
Mike Mullen,
who was
appearing in a
general-elec-
tion debate for
the first time, focused mostly
on the topics at hand, rarely
attacking one another or
engaging in rebuttals. Many
of the questions at the debate
— hosted at Fitchburg State
University by the Elect North

Mike
Mullen

ners including
The Sun and
the Sentinel &
Y Enterprise —
focused specifi-
cally on federal
legislation.
Lori Trahan Candidates
shared stances
on the federal budget deficit
(Green said he will not vote
for any budget that adds to

Lori Trahan

the national debt, Trahan crit-

icized Republican tax cuts
that added to the debt and
Mullen said the issue is a
problem but that deficit
svending has some utility), on

Powered by BoardOnTrack:

Central Coalition ariu’pa. e

Jueigy anurastructure (Green

SENTINEL & ENTERPRISE/JOHN LOVE

said if elected,
he would help
advocate for
the state legis-
lation to lower
energy costs,
while Trahan
and Mullen
called for
investment in renewable
energy) and on several other
topics.

The only major back-and-
forth came during a question
about how to restore civility in
Washington. During her
answer, Trahan called for

Rick Green

Please see DEBATE/8"/4 178
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Policy talk takes center stage at 3rd District debate
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campaign-finance reform
as a way to ensure voters’
voices are heard and
specifically called out
Green.

“Money in politics is a
huge problem,” Trahan
said. “There’s a lot of corpo-
rate money in this system.
In fact, my opponent here
wants to see more corpo-
rate money in our election.
That’s the corruptive influ-
ence we need to get out of
our democracy.”

Trahan’s criticism of
Green did not go into
detail, but it is likely a ref-
erence to the Republican
candidate’s business and
the Massachusetts Fiscal
Alliance, an organization
he founded. Earlier this

year, Green’s company, 1A
Auto, was a plaintiffin a
case challenging a Massa-
chusetts law that blocks
corporate donations to
political candidates. The
state Supreme Judicial
Court upheld the law, and
the plaintiffs are mulling a
challenge to the U.S.
Supreme Court. The Mass-
achusetts Fiscal Alliance is
also suing the state over a
law requiring it to disclose
its top donors on advertise-
ments.

Given a chance to rebut
Trahan’s remarks during
the debate, Green did not
answer directly. He noted
the “irony” that the first
direct attack of the night
came during a question
about civility, then spoke

about his business experi-
ence conducting negotia-
tions to “make everybody
win.”

The two also disagreed
on immigration. Green
said he supports treating
undocumented immigrants
humanely, but that they
should “go to the back of
the line” seeking perma-
nent residence behind
legal immigrants and that
so-called sanctuary cities
have violated the “rule of
law.” Trahan said those
communities ensure that
lawbreakers are punished
and that anti-immigrant
sentiment is damaging to
the country.

“This is the job of Con-
gress,” Trahan said. “This

down there, roll up your
sleeves, and find common
ground on what’s going to
work for our future. We are
a country of immigrants.”

Many of Mullen’s
answered included numer-
ous policy details. When
asked about trade agree-
ments, he worked in refer-
ences to automation,
China joining the World
Trade Organization, the
Trans-Pacific Partnership
and tariffs during a two-
minute answer.

Mullen noted that he
was running as an inde-
pendent candidate specifi-
cally to counter what he
described as damaging
effects of the two-party

svstem.

Powered by BoardOnTrac

is why you send peupic

155N too divisive,”

Mullen said. “The party
structure itself creates
that ‘us-versus-them’ (atti-
tude) as well as the means
to finance that.”

Several of the questions
saw Trahan and Green
rehash points familiar to
those who have seen them
speak on the campaign
trail before. Asked about
how to grapple with grow-
ing student debt, Trahan
stressed the importance of
vocational schools and
community colleges and
said an “arms race” of
amenities at private insti-
tutions was driving up
excessive costs. Green
again said his experience
overseeing a distribution
makes him “uniquely qual-
ified” to disrupt the trade

of fentanyl.

The Republican candi-
date had a new bit of infor-
mation to share on two
other topics, though. When
discussing opioids, he had
previously said he’d
appoint a staffer to focus
exclusively on the issue,
and on Thursday night,
Green said he already did
so. He also said, if elected,
he would personally
ensure Route 2 — a state
highway — is expanded to
six lanes, building on pre-
vious promises to fix the
Concord rotary.

Another debate is
scheduled for 3rd District
candidates next Tuesday
night in Haverhill.

Follow Chris on Tiitter
@ChrisLisinski, 17201178
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Congressional candidates stake out positions

By Paula J. Owen
Correspondent

FITCHBURG - During a mostly
civil debate Thursday night
between three candidates vying
for the Third Congressional District
seatinthe House of Representatives,
the candidates fielded
questions from panelists and the
audience.

The new Elect North Central
Coalition hosted the 9go-minute
debate in Kent Recital Hall

in the Conlon Fine Arts
Building at the Fitchburg State
University. Elect North Central
is a coalition of leaders in media,
education, community and
business organizations dedi-
cated to making the democratic
process accessible and assur-
ing that local and regional issues
are examined and addressed
by candidates running for
office.

Independent candidate Mike Mullen
[T&G STAFF PHOTOS/ASHLEY GREEN]

See POSITIONS, B3

Republican candidate Rick Green

POSITIONS

From Page B1

Democratic candidate
Lori Trahan of Westford,
Republican candidate Rick
Green of Pepperell and
independent candidate
Mike Mullen of Maynard
responded to questions on
economic development,
student debt, immigration
policies, the opioid epidemic,
international trade, public
transportation, the mounting
national debt, energy strate-
gies and transgender rights
laws.

The Third Congressional
District stretches from
Haverhill in the northeast
through Lawrence and Lowell
in the Merrimack Valley, to
Gardner and Fitchburg in the
west, and southward through
Concord and the Nashoba
Valley to Clinton, Hudson
and Marlboro.

The three candidates are
competing in the Nov. 6
general election to succeed
Rep. Niki Tsongas. In 2007,
Ms. Tsongas was the first
woman elected to Congress
from Massachusetts in 25
years, to the same seat held
three decades earlier by her

husband, Paul E. Tsongas.

Ms. Trahan, who grew
up in Lowell and went to
Georgetown University on a
volleyball scholarship, said
families in Lowell, Fitchburg
and other communities in the
district are “disproportion-
ately harmed” in the state by
the opioid epidemic, wage
stagnation and lack of public
transportation.

“Washington does need to
gobacktowork,” Ms. Trahan
said.

She said higher education
needs restructuring to make it
accessible to those who cannot
afford it, and a pathway is
needed for undocumented
immigrants living in the U.S.

“We’ve done it before. We
did find agreement before,”
Ms. Trahan said. “We need
to give a pathway to people
living here and paying taxes
and that includes DREAMers.
We made a promise to them
years ago.”

Mr. Mullen, who works
as an information technol-
ogy leader in the health care
industry, spoke about the
growing number of voters
who are unenrolled in politi-
cal parties in Massachusetts.

“Voters are looking for
an alternative to the two-
party system. ... I think
todpPowered by BoardOnTrack0 0

divisive,” he said.

Mr. Mullen said reduced
fees for public transporta-
tion are needed, the federal
government should not
make money from interest
on student loans and political
parties should not use immi-
gration to divide the country.

“We are a country of
immigrants ... it has made us
strong,” he said. “We need
to address immigration right
away and make a path for
those here contributing to
the communities. (We’ve) all
benefited from them being
here. They are our friends and
neighbors.”

Mr. Green, a co-founder
of the Massachusetts Fiscal
Alliance and co-founder and
CEO of an online auto parts
business that he started
with his brother 20 years
ago, becoming the largest
employer in Pepperell, said
governing is analogous to
running his successful busi-
ness. His business employs
more than 500 people.

Mr. Green said he knows
what it takes to get the eco-
nomic engine of the Third
Congressional District running.

“IThave doneit,” he said. “I
can bring economic devel-
opment to the region. People
here are capable of producing
if given the chance.”

Democratic candidate Lori Trahan
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FSU professor
will share secrets
of immigration
law

By Bonnie Russell
Telegram & Gazette Staff

he word immigration is well-
known to most Americans
and just hearing it these days
can cause some people’s blood
pressure torise and fists to clench,
but much of American immigration
history is less familiar, something
Fitchburg State University profes-
sor Benjamin Railton hopesto help
correct in alecture on Sept. 19.
Kicking off FSU’s Community
Read 0f 2018-19 — Celeste Ng’s
acclaimed novel “Everything I Never
Told You” — Mr. Railton will pres-
ent, “Everything They Never Told
You about Immigration Histories
and Stories,” at 3:30 p.m. in the
Amelia V. Gallucci-Cirio Library.
In Ng’s novel, a family’s secrets
are closely tied to themes of immi-
gration and ethnic identity. Much
of American immigration history
also hasits secrets, and in this talk,
Mr. Railton will
share some of
the histories and
stories that are
rarely told.
One example
isthehistory
of American
immigrationlaw,
whichis largely
misunderstood on multiple levels,

Railton

Powered by BoardOnTrack

Mr. Railton said, adding that he will
also address the parallel history of
anti-immigrant exclusion and vio-
lence, including Chinese Exclusion.

He explained in an email that this
later history “goes through cycles at
least every half century with much
of the same rhetoric and narratives
(ie. Ben Franklin’s anti- German
sentiments in the 1750s, anti-French
sentiments in the 1790s, and so
on), and that becomes more overt
throughout the 19th century and
into the early 20th (not just Chinese
Exclusion, but anti-Jewish and
‘anarchist’ violence in the late 19th
century, eugenics arguments in
early 20th century, etc.)”

He also plans to share “the stories

See COLLEGE, B3

of immigrant communi-

ties that have always been
part of American history and
endure through and after
those exclusions (ie. Chinese
Americans like Yung Wing,
Filipino Americans like
those who fight in the War
0f 1812, Japanese Americans
who fight in WWII, to name
just a few Asian American
communities).”

The Community Read
continues at 3:30 p.m. Oct.2in
the Falcon Hub in Hammond
Hall. Roundtable discussions
of themes in the book will be
facilitated by students in the
English Honors Society. Both
events are free and the public is
welcome.
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Music first,
labels optional

‘Alt-grassy’ all-female
band Della Mae to
perform Oct. 20 at
Fitchburg State

By Richard Duckett
Telegram & Gazette Staff

FITCHBURG — Della Mae
vocalist and guitarist Celia
Woodsmith doesn’t espe-
cially like labels. On the other
hand, “there is something to
be said for telling people what
they’re going to get,” she said.

So defining her terms,
Woodsmith said that with
Della Mae we’ve got a “con-
temporary alternative
Americana bluegrass band.”
Or, as some people say affec-
tionately, “alt-grassy.”

When the band comes to
Fitchburg State University
on Saturday as part of the
Fitchburg State CenterStage
arts and culture series, the
audience will be getting “our
usual high-energy perfor-
mance with a ton of original
music,” Woodmsith said.

Formed in Boston in 2009,
Della Mae is an all-female
string band, something that’s
also important to its defin-
able identity. “The core of
Della Mae is to promote female
musicians,” Woodsmith said.

The music can be described
using a number of terms, such
as inviting, defiant and capti-
vating. The original material
oftenhas a historic feel to it
with images of women mill
workers challenging the hier-
archy by becoming part of the
labor movement (as in the song
“Boston Town,” written by
Woodsmith). At the same time,
something like “Boston Town”
also sounds very current.
Meanwhile, all the songs are
underpinned by tight harmo-
nies and superb musicianship.

Della Mae consists of
Woodsmith, Kimber Ludiker
(fiddle, vocals), Jenni Lynn
Gardner (mandolin, vocals) and

Della Mae

When: 8 p.m. Oct. 20

Where: Fitchburg State
University, Weston Auditorium,
353 North St., Fitchburg

How much: $28; $25 Fitchburg
state alumni, seniors and staff;
$5 students. Tickets can be pur-
chased online at fitchburgstate.
edu/centerstage

Zoe Guigueno (bass, vocals).

“We all have different back-
grounds,” Woodsmith said.
But they’re united by bluegrass
music, “which is something
that we love to play together.”

These days, the band is
technically “based out of
Nashville, but only one of us
lives there,” Woodsmith said.
Woodsmith lives in Maine.

Ludiker and Gardner
are original mem-
bers, while Woodsmith
came aboard in 2011 and
Guiguenoin2015amida
few changes of personnel.

For Woodsmith, being a key
member of a bluegrass group
(she writes a lot of their com-
positions as well as being lead
vocalist) wasn’t how she might
have initially defined herself.

She grew up in Vermont and
later was playing blues and
rock ‘n’ roll in the Boston area.

“Idon’t think I picked
this type of music, I think it
picked me,” she said. She met
Ludiker at a Wednesday-night
jam session in Somerville.

“Kimber (Ludiker) picked
me out and asked me if I would
like to sing with Della Mae, and
now here I am with a pretty
successful career in bluegrass.
It’s not something I expected.”

Della Mae has released
three albums so far — “IBuilt
This Heart” in 2011, “This
World Oft Can Be” (a Grammy
nominee in 2014), and “Della
Mae” in 2015. Rolling Stone
named Della Mae one of “10
bands to watch for in 2015.”

In2016 the band took a

Della Mae will be performing Oct. 20 at Fitchburg State University. [COURTESY PHOTO/TERRA NOVA]

break from touring after
having been averaging 220
days on the road per year.
“We did take alittle time
off. We decided we wanted
some family time. We never
really quote-unquote ‘quit,’
which iskind of arumor I'd
like to dispel,” Woodsmith
said. “We took that time to
write and go with family and
have new adventures.” This
year, Courtney Hartman
(guitar, banjo, vocals) left the
band to pursue new direc-
tions, but the parting was
amicable, Woodsmith said.
Now Della Mae is planning
on anew album. “We have
alot of new material. We’ve
been writing alot together
ancl Tinkncmient ~Af At nccnn A «)le7s
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stutt,” Woodsmith said. The

band has also been “recording
songs people request from us.”

As for touring, “this
year we’ve pretty much
flat out,” including per-
formances in Russia.

“Ithink it’s a struggle for
every band sometimes. It can
depend on things as fickle
as the weather. Wehave a
a pretty amazing group of
fans that follow us and show
up. We’ve had alot of sup-
port,” Woodsmith said.

Out on the road, Della Mae
“decided to get back to the
roots of promoting women in
music.” Top female musicians
have been making special guest
appearances. “It’s been a lot of
fun to invite these women out
with us,” Woodsmith said.

Asked if the band would

ever invite male musicians

to work with them, she said,
“We have kind of thought
about that in the last year or
so. We have nothing against
men, of course. But the idea
of Della Mae is to see (female)
musicians who aren’t in the
limelight so much as men.”

Still, amale group such
as the Boston-area blue-
grass band Barnstar! could
be a collaborator on a proj-
ect, Woodsmith said.

“So we would collaborate
but not go out on the road with
a guy because of who we are.”

Seeing can be defining.

“It really is an honor of my
life to look out at the audience
and see alittle girl who might
think, ‘This is something /5 < ;-5
could be,’ ” Woodsmith said.
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